Characterization of complex regulatory circuits in

enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7

Deborah Hausmann Luzader

Scottsdale, Arizona

B.S., Arizona State University, 2012

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty

of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Cancer Biology

University of Virginia November, 2016

List of abbreviations

AE lesions: attaching and effacing lesions
CFU: Colony forming units
DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DPI: days post infection
EA: ethanolamine
EHEC: Enterohemorrhagic <i>E. coli</i>
EMSA: electrophoretic mobility shift assay
FAS: Fluorescein acting staining
GI: gastrointestinal
H: hours
HUS: hemolytic uremic syndrome
LB: Luria broth
LEE: locus of enterocyte effacement
Log: logarithmic
MBP: maltose binding protein
PE: phosphatidylethanolamine
T3SS: type III secretion system
Tir: translocated intimin receptor
WT: wild type

Abstract

Pathogens have complex networks of overlapping and integrated signaling pathways that provide highly adapted responses to different external stimuli. Pathogens utilize external stimuli to sense the host environment and regulate the expression of virulence traits according to location. For gastrointestinal pathogens, this equates to pathogens sensing the host gastrointestinal tract and colonizing. Previous studies have demonstrated that the signaling molecule ethanolamine (EA) plays an extensive role in the regulation of virulence traits in EHEC. We hypothesized that EA is involved in the regulation of virulence traits through multiple signaling cascades. We determined that the EA-utilization operon encoded regulatory protein EutR directly binds to the promoter regions of *ler*, the master regulator of the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE), to regulate transcription. We further explored signaling cascades regulating the LEE by investigating the function of previously uncharacterized open-reading frame, etrB. We determined that expression of EtrB is directly regulated by QseA, and that EtrB functions as a direct regulator of the LEE and influences the expression of other virulence traits, including non-LEE encoded effectors and fimbrial locus 11. Previous studies demonstrated that EA promotes the expression of fimbrial genes in EHEC. Data from our lab suggests that the fimbrial loci Erf1 and Erf2, while not important for mediating early attachment events, are necessary for the expression of virulence traits important for later stages of infection, including AE lesion formation and Shiga toxin expression. We determined that this phenotype of fimbriae influencing AE lesion formation is not conferred to all fimbrial loci as a deletion in fimbrial locus 3

has no effect on AE lesion formation to HeLa cells. Furthermore, we determined that expression of Erf1 or Erf2 as surface structures is not necessary to modulate LEE expression and AE lesion formation. Overall, this work has demonstrated how pathogens, such as EHEC, utilize widely conserved transcriptional regulators to coordinate virulence gene expression in response to the host environment. Many pathogens encode the EA-utilization operon, the ETT2, and fimbriae. Therefore, our studies may describe a general mechanism used by pathogens to coordinate the expression of virulence traits.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my mentor, Melissa Kendall, for training me and supporting me these last four years. I appreciate your encouragement and for challenging me to think critically. Thank you to the members of my thesis committee, Alison, Jim, Erik, and Ravi, for your input and advice on my thesis work. A big thank you to the current (Carol, Brooke, CJ, Beth) and former members (Laura and David) of the Kendall lab for your encouragement, support, and for the scientific and non-scientific discussions over the years. The limit [on our potential] does not exist! A shout out to the OG plastics Beth and CJ for listening to my pointless stories, inane chatter, and for reminding me that I can always say "I don't understand the question and I won't respond to it". You are some of the best workplace proximity associates I have ever had. What is dead may never die… over group message. We may not be the best people but we're not the worst. Graduate students are the worst.

I would like to thank all my friends in Charlottesville. I have made such great friends during my time here and I truly value our friendships. Shout out to Kristen, Peter, Kelly, Ryan, Emily, Peter, Alexandra, Stephanie, and Irene (her?)! Again to Beth, for listening to me JLAW about everything, whine about MB and the BFC, talk about HOTLE and just be CPQ. I also want to thank my friends outside of Charlottesville, Lydia, Britni, Brie, Vanessa, and Jordana. Your love and support over the years has helped me become who I am today. Lydia, thank you for being my best friend since high school, for supporting me through high school, college, and graduate school, and for always asking me "Why are you the way that you are?". A big thank you to my mom and dad. Your love and support has shown me that I can achieve anything. Thank you for always encouraging me to be the best I can be. For telling me that I'm smart even though I went to Arizona State. I also want to thank my in-laws, Tom, Donna, Susan, and Dwane, as well as all my brothers- and sisters-in-law for supporting David and I as we moved to the other side of the country. Also, shout out to my nieces and nephews who are the best and who know that's why you always leave a note. <3

Thank you to my husband David for supporting me all the years we have been together. For moving to Virginia with me, supporting me during graduate school, learning key sciences words and phrases so that you can follow along with my moping and complaining, for reminding me that there's always money in the banana stand, and for making most of my meals. I would have starved without you. But seriously, thank you for always encouraging me to pursue my dreams, for always believing in me, and for being willing to relocate all around the United States to help me pursue my dreams. I can't image a better person to spend the rest of my life with.

Lastly, thank you to Topanga for being the cutest dog I have ever seen and for loving me unconditionally.

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	v
Chapter One: Introduction to enterohemorrhagic Escherichia d	oli 0157:H7 1
Escherichia coli	2
Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7	3
Virulence factors	5
Signals	
Project rationale	
Chapter Two: EutR is a direct regulator of virulence	29
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Chapter Three: The ETT2-encoded regulator EtrB modulates v	irulence 50
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	60
Discussion	

Chapter Four: Fimbriae influence the expression of virulence traits	
Abstract	85
Introduction	86
Materials and Methods	88
Results	
Discussion	114
Chapter Five: Conclusions and Future Directions	150
Summary	151
Coordination of EHEC metabolism and virulence	152
Hierarchy and the spatio-temporal activation of regulators in EHEC	156
Function of regulators in other pathogenic <i>E. coli</i> species	161
Mechanisms of fimbrial regulation of EHEC virulence traits	165
Implications of this study to the field	170
Appendices	177
Table A2.1 Strains and plasmids used in Chapter 2	178
Table A2.2 Primers used in Chapter 2	179
Table A3.1 Strains and plasmids used in Chapter 3	181
Table A3.2 Primers used in Chapter 3	183
Table A4.1 Strains and plasmids used in Chapter 4	187
Table A4.2 Primers used in Chapter 4	191
Citations	204

Chapter One: Introduction to enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7

Part of this chapter has been adapted from "Commensal 'trail of breadcrumbs' provide pathogens with a map to the intestinal landscape" Deborah H. Luzader and Melissa M. Kendall. 2015. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 29, 68-73.

1

Escherichia coli

E. coli is a gram-negative, rod-shaped, facultative anaerobic bacterium that colonizes the gastrointestinal (GI) tract of mammals. It is a very diverse group that consists of both commensal and pathogenic *E. coli*. Commensal *E. coli* exist as part of the normal human flora and are in a mutually beneficial relationship; the human host provides *E. coli* with a continuous food source and colonization niche while *E. coli* functions to break down food products, producing useful nutrient vitamins and protecting the host from colonization by pathogens [1-3]. Commensal *E. coli* is one of the most abundant facultative anaerobes and colonizes the mucosal layer of the GI tract. However, some *E. coli* have acquired various virulence attributes that confer the ability to cause disease in humans. These *E. coli* strains can be categorized into pathotypes, which all contain similar virulence factors to cause similar diseases. The eight well-characterized *E. coli* pathotypes are uropathogenic, meningitisassociated, enteropathogenic, enterohemorrhagic, enterotoxigenic, enteroaggregative, enteroinvasive, and diffusely adherent *E. coli* [4]. The clinical symptoms manifest as urinary tract infections and sepsis/meningitis respectively for the first two pathotypes, and diarrhea for the last six pathotypes. The various pathotypes of *E. coli* tend to be clonal groups with shared serotypes that have similar O antigen (lipopolysacharride) and H antigen (flagellar) [5]. One similarity among all *E. coli* pathotypes is that they must colonize a specific niche to multiply and cause disease [4]. Niche specificity is achieved through differential expression of virulence traits at specific locations. By restricting the expression of virulence

factors to anatomically relevant sites, pathogenic *E. coli* gain a fitness advantage during colonization.

Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7

Enterohemorrhagic E. coli 0157:H7 (EHEC) is a major cause of severe foodborne disease and mortality worldwide. In the United States EHEC causes annual outbreaks resulting in 25-45% of infected people requiring hospitalization [6]. Cattle are the primary reservoir for EHEC and are asymptomatically colonized [7-9], which makes the identification of EHEC-infected cattle difficult. Most cattle are colonized by EHEC at low levels, but some cattle, named super-shedders, excrete much higher numbers of bacteria compared to other cattle [10]. Super-shedder cattle are estimated to consist of less than 10% of the total population of cattle, but release up to 99% of EHEC found in the environment [10]. EHEC survives in bovine feces for weeks leading to the contamination of food products that come in contact with feces from infected cattle [11]. The first outbreak in the United States was associated with the consumption of undercooked hamburgers at a fast-food chain restaurant [12]. Incidences of EHEC infection are currently often associated with the consumption of contaminated foods such as raw or undercooked meats, unpasteurized milk, fruits, and vegetables [7, 12].

EHEC infection is characterized by bloody diarrhea and hemorrhagic colitis. A major complication that arises in up to 20% of EHEC-infected patients is the development of hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) [13, 14]. HUS may present as renal failure, thrombocytopenia, and hemolytic uremia and has a fatality rate of 35%. Additional complications that develop in survivors from HUS include neurological disorders and mild chronic renal disease, which affect about 25% and 50% of survivors respectively [14]. Renal dialysis is required for 50% of patients who develop HUS [15], thereby increasing the hospital stay for patients and the financial burden associated with EHEC infections. These complications are caused by Shiga toxin release during EHEC infection. Shiga toxin is encoded on a lambdoid prophage [16] and is highly expressed during an EHEC SOS response [17], which is discussed in more detail in the following section. The use of antibiotics and antimotility agents to treat EHEC infection induces an SOS response in EHEC, leading to increased production and release of Shiga toxin [18, 19]. Thus, the use of antibiotic and antimotility agents is contraindicated in order to decrease the risk of patients developing HUS [18, 20]. Consequently, the combined EHEC economic costs exceed 400 million dollars annually [21]. No treatment options are currently available for EHEC infections besides supportive care [22].

The National Institutes of Health classifies EHEC as a Category B pathogen, the second highest priority agent. This classification is due to the morbidity and mortality associated with EHEC infection, and because of the ease of dissemination. The infectious dose for EHEC is very low with ingestion of 50-100 colony-forming units (CFUs) sufficient to cause disease [23, 24]. Together the low infectious dose, the severe clinical manifestations of disease, and the lack of treatment options make EHEC a significant public health concern.

Virulence factors

The locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) and Shiga toxin are two of the defining virulence traits of EHEC and are crucial for classification of the EHEC pathotype [4]. EHEC also possesses other, less well-defined virulence traits, such as flagella, fimbriae, and a second cryptic T3SS. Virulence traits are regulated by transcription factors.

Transcription Factors

E. coli gene expression is regulated by a network of overlapping and integrated signaling pathways. Transcription factors have an important role in this network by modulating gene expression in response to environmental and cellular stimuli. Transcription factors can be categorized into families of related proteins based on conserved motifs contained in the protein sequences [25-28].

The AraC/XylS family of transcription factors is one of the most common positive regulators [29, 30]. AraC/XylS regulators contain a helix-turn-helix DNA binding domain and typically activate transcription, except in rare cases were they act to repress transcription [31, 32]. These regulators usually respond to a ligand and directly bind target DNA to promote expression [33-35]. Some AraC/XylS regulators promote gene expression by antagonizing H-NS repression [36-38]. EutR of the EA utilization operon is an AraC/XylS-type regulator.

The LysR-type transcriptional regulator family of proteins is one of the most abundant types of bacterial DNA-binding proteins [39-41]. These regulators have a conserved DNA binding helix-turn-helix domain [42] and they can activate or repress transcription through direct or indirect interactions [30]. LysR regulators typically repress their own expression by binding to their promoter region [30]. LysR-type regulators are regarded as global transcriptional regulators that activate or repress target genes [42-45]. QseA is a LysR-type protein in EHEC that acts as a global regulator [46].

Transcriptional regulators in the NarL-family directly bind DNA to regulate transcription [47]. These regulators contain a helix-turn-helix motif that binds DNA to activate or repress expression [47]. Proteins in NarL-family can function independently or as part of a two-component system [48, 49]. The regulatory protein EtrB, previously known as YgeK, is a NarL-like protein.

A common feature of the AraC/XylS, LysR, and NarL families is the DNA binding domain. The helix-turn-helix portion of the transcription factor directly binds to DNA to modulate gene expression [50]. These transcription factors can promote gene expression by relieving existing repression (Figure 1.1A) [51, 52], binding upstream of the promoter to help recruit RNA polymerase (Figure 1.1B) [52-54], or by binding adjacent to the promoter and interacting with RNA polymerase (Figure 1.1C) [54, 55]. A transcription factor can activate gene expression through multiple mechanisms, such as by relieving existing repression of one gene and helping recruite RNA polymerase to another separate gene (Figure 1.1) [52, 54, 55]. Transcription factors can repress gene expression by inhibiting binding of RNA polymerase (Figure 1.1D) [56]. The mechanism of EutR and EtrB regulation of target genes has not been demonstrated. A previous study suggests that QseA inhibits its own transcription by inhibiting binding of RNA polymerase to -35 promoter element [46].

<u>LEE</u>

The main pathogenicity island in EHEC is the LEE [57]. Pathogenicity islands are horizontally acquired genomic islands that play a pivotal role in pathogen virulence [58]. The LEE is composed of five operons, *LEE1-LEE5* encoding most of the genes involved in attaching and effacing (AE) lesion formation (Figure 1.2). The first gene in *LEE1*, *ler*, encodes the LEE-encoded regulator that activates transcription of all five LEE operons [59, 60]. The LEE also encodes a type three secretion system (T3SS), secreted effectors, the adhesin intimin, and the translocated intimin receptor, Tir [61, 62]. The T3SS injects LEE- and non-LEEencoded effectors directly into the host cell to mediate colonization, AE lesion formation, and further alterations to host epithelial cells including tight junction disruption and mitochondrial damage [63-70]. EHEC infection is characterized by the formation of AE lesions on the intestinal epithelium. AE lesions are intimate, receptor-mediated bacterial attachment to epithelial cells causing effacement of the microvilli and host actin reorganization, resulting in the presentation of EHEC on an actin-rich pedestal-like structure [71, 72].

The translocation of effector proteins into host cells is mediated by the LEEencoded T3SS. The T3SS is composed of products from 20 genes that make up the multicomponent organelle, which form the basal body (protein rings spanning both the inner and outer bacterial membrane), a needle-like structure extending from the bacterial cell to the host cell, and the translocation pore on the host cell [73]. The first step in formation of the T3SS is *sec*-dependent export of the membrane-bound components [74]. These components form the basic structure of the basal body otherwise known as the needle base. Following formation of the needle base, cytosolic components are added. This machinery is then used to secrete components to from the needle structure and translocation pore. Exportation or secretion of proteins through the T3SS is thought to be dependent on cytoplasmic ATPases which energize the T3SS [75]. A unique feature of EHEC T3SS is the formation of a filamentous extension from the needle component to the translocation pore composed of EspA filament [76-79]. EspA also plays an important role in transient adhesion between EHEC and the host cell, allowing effector protein translocation and the formation of intimate Tir-mediate attachment [77, 78, 80].

Intimin is an outer membrane adhesion molecule responsible for adhering to the host epithelium. Recent evidence suggests that intimin binds the host-encoded receptors β_1 integrin [81] and nucleolin [82, 83]; however, the binding affinity for these non-cognate receptors is unknown. The primary binding component of intimin is the LEE-encoded Tir (translocated intimin receptor). Both intimin and Tir form multimers and bind leading to a signaling cascade that drives actin reorganization and AE lesion formation [84-86]. A non-LEE encoded effector, EspFu, has Nck-activity allowing it to recruit and bind neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) to activate actin polymerization in a Nck-independent manner [87]. The result of this signaling cascade is the accumulation of actin at the site of bacterial attachment, forming pedestal-like structures underneath adherent EHEC. EHEC encodes many effector proteins located outside the LEE, termed non-LEE-encoded effectors. A number of these effectors, including NleA, NleB, NleE and NleF, are important for EHEC survival and colonization [69, 88, 89]. NleA, also termed EspI, is a secreted protein [90] that colocalizes with the Golgi apparatus and affects protein trafficking and secretion [70, 91]. NleA is regulated by Ler and H-NS [90, 92, 93], and by a variety of other signals including quorum-sensing [94] and DNA-damage [95]. Many studies utilize NleA as a measurement of non-LEE-encoded effector protein expression because NleA has a known role in EHEC pathogenesis, and influences disease in the AE lesion forming *Citrobacter rodentium*, a commonly used mouse model for EHEC infection [70].

Expression of the LEE is regulated by a complex network of regulator proteins encoded both within the LEE and outside of the LEE (Figure 1.3). The first gene encoded in *LEE1* is *ler* (LEE-encoded regulator), which acts as a global regulator of LEE expression by promoting expression of *LEE2-5* [59, 96]. Ler also regulates the expression of genes encoded outside of the LEE, such as *nleA* and *lpf* [90, 96, 97]. Expression of the LEE is silenced by H-NS (histone-like nucleoidstructuring protein) repression, and Ler counteracts H-NS repression by displacing H-NS to activate expression of the LEE [59, 98, 99]. The LEE also encodes GrlA (global regulator of LEE activator) and GrlR (global regulator of LEE repressor) [100]. GrlA functions to activate expression of the LEE by increasing expression of *ler* and *grlRA*, while GrlR negatively regulates LEE expression by repressing GrlA activity post-translationally through direct interaction [101-103]. Regulation of GrlR is at the post-translation level through protease degradation, acting to increase *ler* expression by relieving repression of GrlA [104].

Many regulators encoded outside of the LEE regulate expression of the LEE through regulation of *ler*. Ler is positively regulated by IHF [105], QseA [106, 107], QseEF [108], EutR [109, 110], PchA and PchB [111], NsrR [112], QseC and KdpE/Cra [94, 113, 114], Hfq [115], RpoS/DsrA [116], ppGpp [117], RgdR [118], EtrB [119], and GrvA [120]. Expression of *ler* is negatively regulated by GadX [112], FusKR [121], SdiA [122, 123], EivF [124], EtrA [124], and Hha [125]. The LEE operons can also be regulated independent of Ler. GadE represses expression of LEE4/5 [112] and YhiEF represses expression of LEE2/4 [126]. The complex regulation of the LEE by many regulator proteins highlights the importance of this pathogenicity island in EHEC virulence.

<u>Shiga toxin</u>

Shiga toxin is a major virulence factor in EHEC causing renal damage and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) in patients as well as contributing to the development of hemorrhagic colitis [13, 127]. Shiga toxin was first identified in *Shigella dysenteriae* over 100 years ago by Kiyoshi Shiga and was originally called Verotoxin due to its cytotoxicity against Vero cells [128]. In 1983, Shiga toxin was reported in EHEC and provided a link between Shiga toxin and HUS development in EHEC-infected patients [129, 130]. Shiga toxin is an AB₅ toxin, consisting of a catalytic A subunit bound to a pentamer of B subunits [131, 132]. The B subunits are responsible for binding to target cells via the globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) receptor and the A subunit is responsible for toxin activity [131, 133-135]. Gb3 is highly expressed by epithelial cells, particularly kidney epithelial cells, which is why the kidneys are highly susceptible to intoxication [134, 135]. Gbs3 is also expressed in the brain and Shiga toxin can cause neurological complications such as cognitive impairments, seizures, and coma [136, 137]. Shiga toxin accesses the kidneys through systemic circulation after absorption by the epithelium, which is aided by the GI damage due to EHEC infection [138, 139]. After binding to Gb3, Shiga toxin is endocytosed and inhibits protein synthesis through the N-glycosidase activity of the catalytic subunit A by cleaving an adenosine residue from the 28S ribosomal RNA [140, 141]. Inhibition of protein synthesis causes apoptosis in target cells.

EHEC is associated with two main groups of Shiga toxin, Stx1 and Stx2. While Stx1 and Stx2 are similar in structure and enzymatic activity, they only share 55% homology by the amino acid level [142, 143]. Stx1 is almost identical to Shiga toxin produced by *Shigella*, and Stx2 is more commonly associated with increased disease severity in humans including increased incidence of hemorrhagic colitis and HUS [142, 144]. Different clinically isolated strains of EHEC have different combinations of Stx1 and Stx2. Previous studies suggest that EHEC strains encoding only Stx2 are more likely to cause severe disease than isolates containing only Stx1 or both Stx1 and Stx2 [145]. The EHEC strain EDL933 isolated in 1982 from undercooked fast food hamburgers, encodes both *stx1* and *stx2* [12, 146-148] and the EHEC strain 86-24, isolated in 1986 from a patient, encodes only *stx2* [149]. EHEC strain 86-24 is more virulent than EDL933 and this is hypothesized to be because of the presence of *stx2*. Strains that express *stx2* are more commonly associated with patient progression to HUS development and have increased incidences of bloody diarrhea [144, 150-152]. The genome of 86-24 has not been annotated, therefore the genome similarity between 86-24 and EDL933 is unknown. However, the sequences of 86-24 and EDL933 are highly similar and EDL933 is often used as a reference genome for studies using 86-24.

Shiga toxin is encoded on a chromosomally inserted lambda-bacteriophage [153, 154]. Production of Shiga toxin is activated by the phage lytic cycle, which is induced by the bacterial SOS response and released upon bacterial cell lysis [155, 156]. DNA damage triggers the SOS response, leading to production and activation of RecA which in turn activates expression of phage genes, including Shiga toxin [156]. The use of antibiotics to treat EHEC infection induces the phage lytic cycle by activation of the bacterial SOS response, leading to increased Shiga toxin production and increased risk of HUS development [13, 18, 157-160].

<u>Fimbriae</u>

Fimbriae are appendages that protrude from bacterial cells and help bacteria avoid displacement by the continuous flow of the luminal contents by adherence to epithelial cells [161]. Fimbriae mediate early EHEC attachment events before AE lesion formation [162]. The EHEC genome contains 16 fimbrial loci [163], suggesting fimbriae are an important virulence determinant in EHEC. However, very little is known about the contribution of fimbriae to EHEC colonization and disease, partly due to difficulties in understanding environmental conditions that promote EHEC fimbriae expression *in vitro* [162, 164, 165]. Recent data from the Kendall lab demonstrate that ethanolamine (EA), an abundant molecule in the GI tract [166], activates expression of 15 of the 16 EHEC fimbriae [166]. This provides a useful tool to assess the function of these fimbriae in EHEC colonization and pathogenesis in the lab.

Most EHEC fimbriae are assembled by the chaperone/usher mechanism, but EHEC also encodes type IV fimbriae and curli [163, 164]. Fimbriae assembled by chaperone/usher pathway at minimum encode a chaperone to assist with assembly, fimbrial subunits to form the major structure of the fimbriae, and an usher to facilitate assembly at the outer membrane. Many fimbrial operons also encode additional fimbrial subunits, transcriptional regulators, or additional chaperones.

The most highly studied EHEC fimbriae are long polar fimbriae 1 (Lpf1, locus 12) and Lpf2 (locus 13), which are highly similar to Lpf fimbriae in *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium [167]. Both Lpf1 and Lpf2 are not encoded in the commensal *E. coli* K12 strain [168, 169]. Expression of *lpf1* is upregulated in late exponential growth and the *lpf1* locus is repressed by H-NS [168, 170-173]. H-NS repression of *lpf1* is relieved by direct interaction of Ler with the *lpf1* promoter region [171, 172]. Lpf1 facilitates EHEC adhesion to epithelial cells, as an EHEC *lpf1* mutant strain has decreased adherence and an altered adherence pattern to epithelial cells [168, 174]. Lpf1 binds to fibronectin, laminin, and collagen IV in the extracellular matrix [175]. Expression of Lpf1 in a non-fimbriated *E. coli* K12 strain increases *E. coli* adherence to epithelial cells and results in the formation of short, peritrichous fimbrial structures on the surface of *E. coli* [168]. An *lpf1* mutant

exhibits decreased colonization as measured by reduced fecal shedding in lambs compared to WT EHEC [170].

Lpf2 is expressed during late exponential growth and is decreased during iron depletion [170]. The ferric-uptake-regulator (Fur) directly binds to the *lpf2* promoter region suggesting that Fur represses expression of *lpf2* in response to iron availability [176]. It is unknown what Lpf2 binds to on epithelial cells. When Lpf2 is expressed in a non-fimbriated *E. coli* strain, adherence to epithelial cells is decreased, however an *lpf2* deletion strain displayed decreased adherence to Caco-2 epithelial cells at early time points [174]. The natural AE-lesion forming, murine pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium* contains the Lpf2 locus. An *lpf2* deletion strain in *C. rodentium* has no defect in mouse colonization or AE lesion formation [177].

The contribution of Lpf1 and Lpf2 has been studied *in vivo* using double mutants through different infection models. The *lpf1/lpf2* double mutant displayed a colonization defect in crossbred lambs and infant rabbits [170, 178]. A colonization defect for the *lpf1/lpf2* double mutant was also observed during early colonization in germ-free pigs and in sheep infections [179].

The *E. coli* common pilus (Ecp, locus 15), previously referred at as Mat (meningitis-associated fimbriae), is encoded in both pathogenic and nonpathogenic *E. coli* strains [180]. The *ecp* locus encodes EcpR, a LuxR-like regulator that directly regulates expression of *ecp* [181]. Ecp is also regulated by integration host factor (IHF), which is essential for relieving H-NS repression of *ecp* [181]. Deletion of *ecp* from EHEC results in decreased adherence to epithelial cell lines [180, 182]. The hemorrhagic *E. coli* pilus (Hcp, locus 16) is a type IV pilus that forms bundles and binds to the extracellular matrix proteins laminin and fibronectin [183, 184]. Expression of *hcp* is induced in Minca minimal medium and expression of *hcp* contributes to EHEC adhesion as *hcp* mutants had decreased adherence to epithelial cells [183]. Hcp is likely expressed during infection in humans as the sera from patients who presented with HUS recognized the major pilin subunit HcpA [183].

Curli (locus 7) is an adhesin that is important for EHEC adherence and persistence to food products, such as leaves or spinach, and in the environment [185-189]. Expression of curli is promoted by numerous environmental signals including nutrient limitations, pH, and temperature, supporting a role for curli in environmental persistence [190-192]. Expression of curli is also influenced by the expression of other fimbriae, as a *lpf1/lpf2* double mutant causes an increase in curli expression resulting in increased epithelial cell adherence [178]. Curli forms thin, aggregative fimbriae on the surface of cells and binds the extracellular matrix proteins fibronectin and laminin, and other host proteins such as MHC Class 1 molecules and plasminogen [185, 193, 194]. Mutants in curli production alone do not influence EHEC adhesion [182], however other studies in *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* have demonstrated that curli plays a role in epithelial cell invasion and biofilm formation [195-197]. The relevance of these curli studies for EHEC pathogenesis is unclear as EHEC does not form biofilms.

EHEC fimbrial locus 8 encodes the F9 fimbriae, originally identified in an EHEC transposon mutagenesis screen for being defective in colonization of very young calves [198]. F9 fimbriae expression in EHEC decreases adherence to bovine epithelial cells, but expression of F9 fimbriae in *E. coli* K12 increases adherence [199]. In a previous study, colonization of weaned calves with the F9 fimbriae mutant strain resulted in reduced colonization as measured by bacterial shedding [199]. Interestingly, the F9 mutant was still able to colonize calves at the terminal rectum indicating that F9 fimbriae is not involved in tissue tropism in calves but may contribute to colonization at other sites.

The *E. coli* laminin-binding fimbriae (Elf, locus 5) is expressed on the surface of EHEC during epithelial cell adhesion and forms fine, flexible fibers [200]. Elf binds to the extracellular matrix protein laminin but not fibronectin or collagen IV and is maximally expressed in Minca minimal medium and in the presence of host cells [200]. A mutant in *elf* had decreased adherence to epithelial cells and bovine explants [200].

Of the remaining fimbrial loci, very little is known. The EHEC fimbrial locus 14 encodes type 1 fimbriae that appears to be non-functional in EHEC because of deletions within the promoter region [201, 202]. EHEC fimbrial locus 2 is increased in expression under acid stress conditions, and expression of *loc2* promotes EHEC adhesion during acid stress [203]. A study to identify conditions that promote fimbrial gene expression utilized promoter fusions of 15 EHEC fimbrial loci (locus 14, the type 1 fimbriae, was not included) and assessed expression under varying growth phases, media, temperatures, and aeration [164]. The study only determined the expression of one previously uncharacterized fimbriae, locus 9, which was expressed significantly higher in stationary phase [164]. It is important to note that this study determined that 11 of the 15 fimbrial fusions were not expressed under the study conditions, highlighting how little is known about the contribution of fimbriae to EHEC pathogenesis [164]. Three of the aforementioned fimbrial loci (*elf*, *lpf1*, and *lpf2*) contain premature stop codons in the *elf* usher, *lpf1* usher, and *lpf2* chaperone genes [164]. These three loci all produce function fimbriae [168, 174, 200] suggesting that components from other fimbrial loci, such as the usher and chaperone, can complement [204, 205].

Overall despite many studies, the role of EHEC fimbriae and their contribution to pathogenesis is largely unknown (summarized in Table 1.1). Additionally, many EHEC fimbriae have not been studied due to difficulties in promoting their expression *in vitro*. Additional studies are needed to elucidate the function of these fimbriae in regards to EHEC colonization and pathogenesis.

<u>E. coli T3SS-2</u>

EHEC encodes a second cryptic T3SS termed the *E. coli* T3SS-2 (ETT2), which shares homology to the *Salmonella* T3SS-1 [206, 207]. The ETT2 is present in a majority of *E. coli* strains but has undergone mutational attrition to make the ETT2-encoded T3SS nonfunctional in a majority of these strains [206]. In EHEC, the ETT2 contains many multiple frameshift mutations in secretion apparatus genes that are necessary to form a function secretion system, by analogy to the *Salmonella* T3SS-1 [206, 208]. However, despite being unable to encode a functional T3SS, some of the genes encoded in the ETT2 are predicted to be functional, such as the five predicted or characterized transcription factors. A previous genetic study demonstrated that two ETT2-encoded regulators, EtrA and EivF, repress LEE expression [209],

suggesting that cross talk can occur between the LEE and ETT2-encoded regulators. Despite this study, the regulation of the ETT2 and the function of the ETT2, including the function of two uncharacterized, putative ETT2-encoded transcription factors YqeI and Ygek (also called EtrB), are unknown.

Signals

The expression of EHEC virulence traits is tightly regulated and is controlled by multiple environmental stimuli. Signals that stimulate the expression of EHEC virulence traits include both bacterial- and host-produced molecules, such as bacterial-derived autoinducers and host-derived hormones involved in quorum sensing, and the bacterial- and host-produced compound ethanolamine (EA).

Quorum sensing

Quorum sensing is a mechanism bacteria utilize to communicate [210]. Bacteria produce hormone-like compounds called autoinducers that are then sensed resulting in differential expression of target genes [211]. EHEC produces the signaling molecule autoinducer-3, which is involved in EHEC quorum sensing [211, 212]. In addition, EHEC quorum sensing involves not only bacterially derived signals, but also host-derived signals, such as the host hormone epinephrine [213]. Cross talk with quorum sensing autoinducer-3 and epinephrine activates virulence gene expression, including the LEE, non-LEE encoded effectors, and many O-islands, through the LysR-like transcriptional regulatory QseA [46, 106, 214-216]. The sensing of these bacterial and host-derived cues plays a critical role in EHEC pathogenesis and is an example of how EHEC utilizes interkingdom signaling to sense and respond to the host environment.

<u>Ethanolamine</u>

EA (Figure 1.4A) is a component of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), an abundant lipid in eukaryotic and bacterial cell membranes [217]. As a component of PE and other modified lipid molecules, EA is an important signaling molecule and influences immunomodulation, cell division, nutritional intake, and energy balance [218-221]. The exfoliation of enterocytes as well as the turnover of bacterial cells releases an abundant and replenished supply of EA in the GI tract. EHEC and other members of the Enterobacteriaceae carry the ethanolamine utilization operon (*eut*), which contains 17 genes that encode for the transport and breakdown of EA [222, 223]. Although EA can serve as a carbon and/or nitrogen source for bacteria, the resident microbiota do not readily metabolize EA [224]. Thus, intestinal pathogens, including EHEC, utilize EA to sidestep nutritional competition and enhance growth during infection [221, 224-227].

Significantly, bacterial pathogens respond to EA as a signaling molecule to activate virulence gene expression [109, 110, 166, 228]. In EHEC, EA activates the expression of genes critical for colonization of the GI tract, including fimbrial adhesins and the LEE, as well as genes encoding Shiga toxin (Figure 1.4B) [109, 166, 228]. As mentioned above, EHEC encodes 16 distinct fimbrial loci [163, 229], and these fimbriae may be important for initial adherence to enterocytes, that precedes intimate, LEE-dependent adherence [230], but the contribution of many fimbrial loci to EHEC pathogenesis has been elusive due to the difficulties of expressing fimbrial genes in vitro [164]. Thus, the finding that the biologically relevant molecule EA promotes expression of EHEC fimbriae suggests that these fimbriae play a role in the ability of EHEC to establish infection. Additionally, EA activates expression of global regulators in EHEC [109], suggesting that EA plays a central role in integrating multiple cues to optimize timing of virulence gene expression.

Crosstalk between signaling pathways

Despite the abundance of research identifying transcription factors and how they regulate virulence traits, very little research has focused on the crosstalk between these regulatory proteins. In other words, there are very few studies investigating the integration of the complex network of the overlapping signaling pathways that modulate EHEC virulence traits.

One of the few known examples of regulatory crosstalk in EHEC is the interaction of SdiA, a transcription factor that responds to acyl-homoserine lactones produced by the commensal microbiota to repress expression of the LEE [122, 123, 231]. SdiA activates expression of *gad* acid-resistance genes, including the LEE-repressor *gad*X [123]. GadX is activated by nitric oxide [112] and acidic pH [232]. Crosstalk between SdiA and GadX represses LEE expression in response to these signals while activating the EHEC acid-response, which is hypothesized to aid in EHEC passage through the stomach.

As mentioned above, crosstalk between the host hormone epinephrine and bacterial derived, quorum sensing molecules is integrated in EHEC to regulate the expression of genes involved in virulence such as the LEE and the flagella regulon [233, 234]. This crosstalk is an example of an interkingdom signaling pathway that EHEC exploits to regulate the expression of virulence traits.

An example of a positive feedback mechanism to regulate EHEC virulence. is through EHEC sensing butyrate, a short chain fatty acid abundant in the colon [235]. In response to butyrate, the leucine-responsive regulatory (Lrp) protein initiates a signaling cascade that promotes expression of *pchA* [236], which encodes a direct activator (PchA) of the LEE [237, 238]. Recent work by Takao *et al.* revealed that butyrate-dependent activation of the LEE is even more complex and also includes the transcription factor LeuO [239]. Lrp directly promotes expression of *leuO*, which in turn also binds the *ler* promoter to activate expression of the LEE and microcolony formation. Interestingly, LeuO activation of the LEE genes required PchA and both PchA and Ler activated *leuO* expression. This positive feedback mechanism is hypothesized to function in prolonging expression of the LEE.

Overall, much of the literature concerning EHEC virulence describes how a transcription factor regulates virulence gene expression in response to a signal. Studies concerning how EHEC assimilates environmental information from multiple signaling cues to regulate traits important for pathogenesis are lacking.

Project rationale

EHEC responds to a wide variety of signals, including EA, to colonize the host and cause disease [46, 109, 110, 166, 215]. We hypothesize that signaling cascades involving EA and quorum sensing to regulate EHEC virulence are linked. We investigated the mechanism of EutR as a virulence regulator, the involvement of QseA-regulated proteins in EHEC virulence, and how fimbriae regulate virulence traits in EHEC. Understanding the intersection of complex signaling cascades to regulate virulence traits and how environmental cues contribute to virulence can provide important information in regards to bacterial pathogenesis. Furthering our understanding of signaling cascades involved in pathogenesis is critical for the development of novel therapeutics to treat EHEC infection because of the limited treatment options available. Many bacterial pathogens encode the EA-utilization operon and fimbriae. Therefore, our studies may describe a general mechanism used by pathogens to coordinate the expression of virulence traits.



Figure 1.1 Transcription factors activate or repress the expression of target genes. Transcription factors can activate gene expression by (A) relieving existing repression to allow RNA polymerase (RNAP) to bind to the promoter region, (B) binding upstream of the promoter to help recruit RNAP, or (C) binding adjacent to the -35 promoter region to interact with RNAP. (D) Transcription factors can inhibit RNAP binding to repress gene expression.



Figure 1.2 EHEC disease progression to attaching and effacing (AE) lesion

formation. (A) EHEC may form initial, transient contact with epithelial cells through fimbriae-mediated adhesion to unknown host targets and/or intimin adherence to nucleolin and β_1 integrin. (B) A type III secretion system (T3SS) translocates effector proteins including the T3SS-encoded Tir, the translocated intimin receptor into the host cytoplasm. (C) Intimin on the bacterial surface (shown in green triangles) and Tir (shown in light blue squares) bind to form a tight attachment of EHEC to the host cell. (D) Effector proteins cause host actin reorganization (shown in green rectangles) to display EHEC on an actin rich, pedestal-like structure.





representation of known regulators of the LEE. Positive regulation of the LEE is shown by green arrows. Negative regulation of the LEE is shown in red and black blunt arrows. Direct regulation of the LEE has only been demonstrated for some of the regulatory proteins listed.



Figure 1.4 Ethanolamine (EA) signaling in EHEC. (A) The structure of EA. (B) EHEC senses EA and activates the expression of genes located in the *EA utilization operon (eut)*, responsible for utilization of EA as a metabolite. In addition, EA activates the expression of multiple virulence traits including fimbrial adhesions, the LEE, Shiga toxin, and the regulatory protein QseA. The EA sensor, EutR, directly regulates the expression of the indicated genes.

Table 1.1 Previous studies on the contribution of fimbriae to EHEC

pathogenesis

Locus	Forms a	In vitro	In vivo	References
	fimbrial	adherence	adherence	
	structure			
loc1	-	NT	NT	
loc2	Yes	Increase	NT	[165, 240]
loc3	Yes	NT	NT	[165]
loc4	-	NT	NT	
loc5/elf	Yes	Increase	NT	[200]
loc6	-	NT	NT	
loc7/curli	Yes	Increase/no	NT	[185, 194]
		phenotype		
loc8	Yes	Increase/no	No phenotype	[164, 198,
		phenotype		199]
loc9	-	NT	NT	
loc10	-	NT	NT	
loc11	-	NT	NT	
loc12/lpf1	Yes	Increase	Increase*	[168, 170, 178,
				179]
loc13/lpf2	Yes	Increase/no	Increase*	[170, 178,
		phenotype		179]

loc14	-	NT	NT	
ecp/mat	Yes	Increase	NT	[180, 182]
hcp	Yes	Increase	NT	[183]

Increase = the fimbrial locus increases adherence

No phenotype = the fimbrial locus does not influence adherence under the

conditions tested

NT = Not tested

- = has not been tested or does not form a surface structure under the conditions

tested

* An *lpf1/2* double mutant has reduced colonization compared to WT EHEC in infant rabbits and lambs
Chapter Two: EutR is a direct regulator of virulence

Part of this chapter has been adapted from "EutR is a direct regulator of genes that contribute to metabolism and virulence in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*

0157:H7"

Deborah H. Luzader*, David E. Clark*1, Laura A. Gonyar², and Melissa M. Kendall. 2013. *Journal of Bacteriology* 195(21): 4947-4953 *Authors contributed equally to this work ¹D.E.C. and ²L.A.G. work is not shown.

Abstract

Ethanolamine (EA) metabolism is a trait associated with enteric pathogens, including enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 (EHEC). EHEC causes severe bloody diarrhea and hemolytic uremic syndrome. EHEC encodes the EA utilization (*eut*) operon that allows EHEC to metabolize EA and gain a competitive advantage when colonizing the gastrointestinal tract. The eut operon encodes the transcriptional regulator EutR. Genetic studies indicated that EutR expression is induced by EA and vitamin B_{12} and that EutR promotes expression of the *eut* operon; however, biochemical evidence for these interactions has been lacking. We performed primer extension assays, electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs), and measured transcript levels to elucidate a mechanism for EutR gene regulation. These studies demonstrated that genes in the *eut* operon are significantly increased only when EHEC is grown with both EA and B₁₂, and that expression of *eutS* requires the presence of EutR. EutR contributes to expression of the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) in an EA-dependent manner. We performed EMSAs to examine EutR activation of the LEE. The results demonstrated that EutR directly binds the regulatory region of the *ler* promoter. These results present the first mechanistic description of EutR gene regulation and reveal a novel role for EutR in EHEC pathogenesis.

Introduction

The ability of a pathogen to colonize a host and cause disease requires coordinated expression of genes that mediate nutrient acquisition, as well as genes involved in virulence [241]. Ethanolamine (EA) is abundant in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract due to the turnover of host enterocytes and commensal microbes, as well as through the host diet [217, 242, 243]. EA can serve as a source of carbon and/or nitrogen for enteric pathogens, and the ability to metabolize EA gives enteric pathogens a competitive advantage when colonizing the GI tract [224, 225]. Indeed, genes encoding EA metabolism are found in diverse bacterial pathogens, including enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 (EHEC), enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC), *Salmonella, Clostridium, Listeria*, and *Enterococcus* [163, 223, 242, 244].

Recent studies demonstrated that EA is present in the mammalian intestine at concentrations that support growth of EHEC and *Salmonella* and that EA utilization by these pathogens confers a growth advantage over indigenous microbes [224, 225]. In EHEC and *Salmonella*, the genes that encode EA metabolism are located within the EA utilization (*eut*) operon. The *eut* operon includes 17 genes that allow transport and breakdown of EA, as well as production of a carboxysomelike structure that contains toxic breakdown products of EA metabolism [222, 245-251]. The *eut* operon also encodes the transcriptional regulator EutR, which promotes expression of the *eut* operon in response to EA and vitamin B₁₂ [222, 252].

EHEC is a food-borne pathogen that causes bloody diarrhea, hemorrhagic colitis, and hemolytic uremic syndrome, which may be fatal [253]. In the colon, EHEC forms attaching and effacing (AE) lesions, which are a hallmark of EHEC

disease. The AE lesion is characterized by the destruction of microvilli and the rearrangement of the cytoskeleton to form a pedestal-like structure that cups the bacterium, thereby allowing intimate attachment of EHEC to host enterocytes [62, 254, 255]. Most of the genes involved in AE lesion formation are encoded within a chromosomal pathogenicity island called the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) [57]. The LEE contains five major operons that encode a type III secretion system (T3SS) and effector proteins that are translocated into the host epithelial cell through the bacterial T3SS [62, 67, 254-259]. Ler (LEE-encoded regulator) is encoded within *LEE1* and is the master regulator of this pathogenicity island [59, 60, 98, 260].

The goal of this study was to examine the mechanism of EutR-dependent gene regulation. Here, we establish a direct role for EutR in promoting expression of genes that are critical to EHEC pathogenesis. Furthermore, we begin to elucidate the mechanism of EutR as a transcription factor for virulence genes.

Materials and Methods

Strains, plasmids, growth conditions, and recombinant DNA techniques

All strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table A2.1. Standard methods were used to perform plasmid purification, PCR, ligation, restriction digests, transformations, and gel electrophoresis. The nonpolar *eutR* deletion strain MK37 (*ΔeutR*) was constructed using λ -red mutagenesis. Plasmid pMK53 was constructed by amplifying the *eutR* gene from EHEC strain 86-24 using AccuTaq polymerase (Sigma) with primers EutRexp_F1 and EutRexp_R1 and cloning the

resulting PCR product into the NcoI/Sbf1 cloning sites of vector pMAL-c5X. The oligonucleotide primers are listed in Table A2.2

RNA extraction and qRT-PCR

Cultures of 86-24 and MK37 were grown in LB medium at 37°C overnight and then diluted 1:100 in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and grown at 37°C. Where indicated, EA (Sigma) was added at a final concentration of 5 mM, and vitamin B₁₂ (cyanocobalamin; Sigma) was added at a final concentration of 150 nM. RNA from three biological replicate cultures of each strain was extracted using the RiboPure Bacteria RNA isolation kit (Ambion). The primers used in the quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) assays are listed in Table A2.2. qRT-PCR was performed in a one-step reaction using an ABI 7500 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems).

Data were collected using the ABI Sequence Detection 1.2 software (Applied Biosystems). All data were normalized to levels of *rpoA* and analyzed using the comparative cycle threshold (C_T) method [261]. The expression levels of the target genes under the various conditions were compared using the relative-quantification method [261]. Real-time data are expressed as the changes in expression levels compared to the wild- type (WT) levels. Statistical significance was determined by Student's t-test.

Reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR)

SuperScipt II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) and random primers were

used to create cDNA from RNA samples. The cDNA was used for PCR with genespecific primers (Table A2.2). Genomic DNA was used as a positive control, and a reaction without reverse transcriptase was used as a negative control.

Purification of EutR

In order to purify the maltose-binding protein (MBP)-tagged EutR protein, *Escherichia coli* strain BL-21 (DE3) containing pMK53 was grown at 37°C in LB with glucose (0.2% final concentration) and ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) to an optical density at 600 nm (O.D.₆₀₀)of 0.5, at which point IPTG was added to a final concentration of 0.3 mM and allowed to induce overnight at 18°C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4,000 X *g* for 20 min and then resuspended in 25 ml column buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 200 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) and lysed by homogenization. The lysed cells were centrifuged, and the lysate was loaded onto a gravity column (Qiagen) with amylose resin. The column was washed with column buffer and then eluted with column buffer containing 10 mM maltose. Fractions containing purified proteins were confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Western analysis.

Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs)

To determine the direct binding of EutR to target promoters, electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs) were performed using the purified EutR-MBP and PCR-amplified DNA probes (Table A2.2), as previously described [46]. The DNA probes were then end labeled with (γ -³²P) ATP (Perkin-Elmer) using T4 polynucleotide kinase (NEB) following standard procedures [262]. End-labeled fragments were run on a 6% polyacrylamide gel, excised, and purified using the Qiagen PCR purification kit.

EMSAs were performed by adding increasing amounts of purified EutR protein to end-labeled probe (10 ng) in binding buffer (500 µg ml⁻¹ BSA (NEB), 50 ng poly(dI-dC), 60 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA, 3 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 300 mM KCl, and 25 mM MgCl₂), 1 mM EA, and 150 nM B₁₂ and incubated for 20 min at 37°C. Stop Solution (USB) or 1% Ficoll solution was added to the reaction mixtures immediately before loading the samples on the gel. The reaction mixtures were electrophoresed for approximately 6 h at 150 V on a 6% polyacrylamide gel, dried, and imaged with a PhosphorImager (Molecular Dynamics).

Primer Extension

Primer extension analysis was performed as previously described [46]. Briefly, *ler* and *eutS* specific reverse primers (Table A2.2) were end-labeled as described above. A total of 40 µg of RNA, isolated from strain 86-24, was used to generate cDNA using the Primer Extension System— AMV Reverse Transcriptase kit (Promega) for the *eutS* primer extension samples. For *ler* primer extension samples, 40 µg total of RNA, isolated from strain 86-24 with the plasmid pVS23, was used to generate cDNA. The resultant cDNA was precipitated, electrophoresed on a 6% polyacrylamide-urea gel next to a sequencing reaction (Affymetrix). Amplified genomic DNA from strain 86-24 was used to generate the sequencing ladder using primers listed in Table A2.2 for the *ler* and *eutS* promoters.

Results

The presence of EA and B_{12} is necessary for expression of the eut operon

Genetic studies in *Salmonella* revealed that EutR, encoded in the *eut* operon (Figure 2.1A), promotes expression of genes necessary for EA metabolism in the presence of EA and B_{12} [252]. We confirmed the necessity of EA and B_{12} for induction of the *eut* operon by performing qRT-PCR and RT-PCR analyses using RNA extracted from WT EHEC grown in presence and absence of EA and B₁₂. Expression of *eutS*, a putative carboxysome structural protein and the first gene in the *eut* operon, was increased in the presence of EA and B₁₂ and was unchanged in the presence of EA only compared to expression in the absence of EA and B_{12} . Expression of *eutS* in the presence of B₁₂ was decreased in comparison to expression in the absence of EA and B_{12} (Figures 2.1B and 2.2). These data indicate that EA and B₁₂ are required to induce expression of the *eut* operon. RNA from different technical replicates was used for qRT-PCR and RT-PCR analyses. Differences in eutS expression in the presence of B₁₂ are due to human error and should be repeated to confirm that there is no change in *eutS* expression in the presence of B₁₂ compared to the absence of EA and B₁₂.

EutR is necessary for induction of the eut operon

We examined the ability of EA and B_{12} to induce *eutS* expression in the absence of EutR. Expression of *eutS* was significantly decreased in the $\Delta eutR$ strain in the presence and absence of EA and/or B_{12} compared to WT grown in the absence of EA and B_{12} (Figures 2.1B and 2.2). These data corroborate studies from Roof and

Roth indicating that EutR is required to promote expression of genes necessary for EA metabolism [252].

eutS is transcribed from a typical σ^{70} promoter

To further characterize *eutS* expression and map the putative promoter region, we performed primer extension analyses. Primer extension analysis was performed using cDNA synthesized from RNA grown in the presence and absence of EA and B_{12} . The primer extension results demonstrate that expression of *eutS* was increased in the presence of EA and B_{12} compared to the absence of EA and B_{12} (Figure 2.3). The results reveal one transcriptional start site in the *eutS* promoter (Figure 2.3), which we mapped to approximately 45 base pairs upstream of the translation start site. The -10 sequence, TTTGTT, had three mismatches from the σ^{70} consensus sequence, TATAAT, and the -35 sequence, TTTAAA, had two mismatches from the consensus sequence, TTGACA (Figure 2.3). The -10 and -35 promoter sequences are separated by 13 nucleotides (Figure 2.3). The EutR consensus binding sequence is shown in bold (Figure 2.3) [110]. There is no match to alternative sigma factor consensus sequences such as σ^{32} , σ^{54} , and σ^{28} . Site directed mutagenesis of the putative *eutS* promoter should be performed to verify the σ^{70} consensus sequences.

EutR regulates transcription of the LEE through direct interaction

Previous studies demonstrated that EutR affects expression of the LEE pathogenicity island, as well as EHEC's ability to form AE lesions on epithelial cells

[109]. Here, we performed EMSAs to address whether these effects were due to direct regulation of *LEE1/ler* by EutR. We generated a probe harboring the entire regulatory region of *ler*. These data indicated that EutR was able to bind and shift the radiolabeled probe comprising the *ler* promoter regions and that EutR did not bind to the negative-control *amp* promoter (Figure 2.4), indicating a direct interaction between EutR and its target genes.

To further characterize *ler* expression in the presence of EA and B₁₂, we performed primer extension analyses using cDNA synthesized from RNA grown in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂. The primer extension results demonstrate transcription of *ler* from the EHEC proximal promoter (Figure 3.5), which was downstream of the EutR binding sequence. We observed multiple bands consistent with previous studies [59, 106]. This banding pattern is likely an artifact and could be alleviated by using a different reverse primer for primer extension or by using 5' RACE to map the transcription start site.

EA does not regulate EPEC virulence

To determine whether EA plays a role in modulating virulence gene expression in EPEC, we performed qRT-PCR and measured expression of *eutR* and *ler* in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂. Between EHEC and EPEC, *ler* is 99% identical with 0 mismatches in the *ler* coding sequence, 8 gaps and 1 mismatch in the 500 basepairs upstream of the *ler* translation start site. The EHEC EutR consensus binding sequence is found in the *ler* promoter in EPEC. Between EHEC and EPEC, *eutR* is 98% identical with 10 mismatches in the *eutR* coding sequence, 5 of which are located in the DNA binding motif. However, at the protein level there are only 3 amino acids differences between EPEC and EHEC EutR, and none of the changes are located in the DNA binding motif. There is only 1 basepair change and no gaps in the 500 basepairs upstream of *eutR* compared between EPEC and EHEC. Transcription of *ler* and *eutR* was unchanged when EPEC was grown to early or mid log (Figure 2.6). Additional data from the lab indicate that EPEC is unable to utilize EA as a carbon or nitrogen source (data not shown). These findings indicate that EA does not function as a virulence cue in EPEC.

Discussion

EA is a breakdown product of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), a major component of both mammalian and bacterial cell membrane lipids [263, 264]. PE enhances the ability of both EHEC and EPEC to bind to epithelial cells [265, 266], and the ability to metabolize EA has been associated with virulence in several pathogens, including *Salmonella*, *Listeria*, and *Enterococcus* species [226, 251, 267-269]. Bertin *et al.* recently showed that EHEC gains a growth advantage in the mammalian GI tract by metabolizing EA as a nitrogen source [224]. The ability of EHEC to metabolize EA may contribute to EHEC's low infectious dose; as little as 50 to 100 CFU is sufficient to allow EHEC to colonize the colon and cause disease [24]. Interestingly, EPEC, which colonizes the small intestine, has a much higher infectious dose. The genome sequence of EPEC indicates a large phage insertion between the *eutB* and *eutC* genes, which encode the ammonia lyase [270]. We determined that EPEC does not upregulate expression of *eutR* or *ler* in the presence of EA and B_{12} (Figure 2.6). These data suggest that there may be different selective pressures in the environments of the large and small intestine. Previous studies showed that EA-dependent virulence gene regulation did not depend on EA metabolism [109].

The eut-encoded transcriptional regulator EutR is responsible for EAdependent virulence gene regulation in EHEC [109]. This study aimed to investigate the molecular mechanisms by which EutR activates expression of the *eut* genes that are involved in EA metabolism, as well as expression of *LEE1-ler*, which is important for AE lesion formation. EutR was first identified and described by Roof and Roth [252] through the generation of transposon mutations in the *eut* operon. In their study, Roof and Roth determined that EA and B_{12} increased expression of EutR and that this increased expression acted as part of a feedback loop required for transcription of the entire eut operon. Typically, AraC/XylS-type transcriptional regulators are positive transcriptional activators that respond to a ligand and directly contact target DNA sequences to promote gene expression [29]. The EMSAs confirm that EutR directly contacts the *ler* promoter (Figure 2.4). Additional studies are necessary to fully elucidate the mechanism underlying EutR as a transcription factor. Because EutR is an activator of transcription and binds upstream of the promoter regions in *eutS* and *ler* (Figures 2.3 and 2.5), EutR may function by recruiting RNA polymerase to promote transcription [271], as opposed to relieving H-NS repression to increase expression of the *LEE* [272]. This hypothesis could be tested by performing *in vitro* transcription experiments with EutR in the presence and absence of EA and B_{12} to determine if EutR is actively promoting transcription

[273]. *In vitro* transcription experiments can also be performed with EutR and the repressor H-NS to determine if EutR counteracts H-NS repression to promote transcription. Additional experiments could look at the interplay of EutR with RNA polymerase in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂ by performing a bacterial two-hybrid assay [274]. These experiments would determine how EutR activates target gene transcription and if EA and B₁₂ influence EutR interaction with RNA polymerase.

Our data provide new mechanistic information regarding EutR activation of the *eut* operon. We demonstrated that both EA and B_{12} are required to promote transcription of *eutS* (Figures 2.1 and 2.2). In addition to promoting expression of the *eut* operon, EutR is the major regulator involved in EA-dependent regulation of *ler* [109]. Expression of *ler* is significantly decreased in the $\Delta eutR$ strain of EHEC compared to wild-type EHEC, and the $\Delta eutR$ strain also displays diminished ability to form AE lesions on epithelial cells [109]. We address the nature of this regulation in this study. The EMSA data indicate that EutR binds directly to the *ler* (*LEE1*) promoter (Figure 2.4), suggesting a novel function for EutR as a direct regulator of genes critical for EHEC pathogenesis. Additional studies are needed to determine the binding kinetics of EutR to *ler* and *eutS*, which will provide information in regards to preferential binding of EutR to target DNA sequences.

Altogether, these data present the initial steps in understanding the mechanisms by which EA contributes to EHEC pathogenesis through the transcriptional regulator EutR. EutR responds to EA and B₁₂ to promote expression of the *eut* operon. This may allow EHEC to compete with the indigenous microbiota

for nutrients and aid in EHEC colonization of the host. Additionally, EutR directly activates expression of *ler*, ultimately enabling EHEC to intimately attach to host epithelial cells and establish infection. The findings presented in this study may shed light on how other pathogens sense environmental cues in the GI tract to coordinate virulence gene expression and also highlight the notion that signaling networks involved in regulation of fundamental processes (i.e., metabolism) are often intricately linked to bacterial virulence [241, 275]. Additional studies are needed to fully elucidate the mechanism and global role of EutR gene regulation, the role of EA metabolism versus EA regulation of virulence genes, and the role of EA signaling *in vivo*. Future studies could examine a more global role for EutR by performing ChIP-seq to identify global DNA binding regions for EutR. Previous studies indicate that EHEC can utilize EA to grow in bovine intestinal contents; however, it is unclear how EA metabolism contributes to growth in a nutrient rich environment [224]. To further explore the interplay between EA metabolism and the regulation of virulence traits, we could perform competition experiments using an *eutR* deletion strain that cannot sense EA, and an *eutB* deletion strain that cannot metabolize EA. A recent study in *Salmonella* Typhimurium demonstrated that Salmonella utilizes EA to coordinate metabolism and virulence [228]. EA metabolism is important for Salmonella colonization of the GI tract and EutR signaling is important during systemic infection [228]. Key differences between Salmonella and EHEC are that EHEC is not an intracellular pathogen, does not disseminate, and cannot utilize EA as a carbon source, which Salmonella can. Our competition studies will determine the influence of EA metabolism and signaling to

EHEC colonization and virulence. Identifying the role of EutR *in vivo* is challenging due to the lack of an animal model to recapitulate all clinical manifestations of EHEC disease [146, 276]. Despite the limitations of EHEC infection models, the surrogate pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium* could be used to study the role of EutR during infection. These experiments would determine the role of EutR signaling *in vivo*.



Figure 2.1 Expression of *eutS*, the first gene in the EA utilization operon (*eut*). (A) Schematic representation of the *eut* operon. (B) qRT-PCR of *eutS* from WT 86-24 anaerobically grown in DMEM in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂, as indicated. n=3; error bars represent the geometric mean ±SD. Statistical significance was determined by a Student's *t* test and is shown relative to WT 86-24 grown in the absence of EA and B₁₂.*, P≤ 0.05; **, P≤ 0.005; ns = not significant.

	WT								∆eutR							
gDNA			-		-											
RT	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-
EA	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
B ₁₂	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-

Figure 2.2 Expression of *eutS*. RT-PCR of *eutS* from WT 86-24 anaerobically grown in DMEM in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂, as indicated. Genomic DNA (gDNA) was used as a positive control and a reaction without RT was used as a negative control.





Figure 2.3 *eutS* **promoter region.** Primer extension assay of *eutS*. Lanes 1-4 show the *eutS* sequencing ladder. Lanes 5 and 6 show *eutS* cDNA made from RNA grown in the absence and presence of EA, respectively. The arrow represents the transcription start site of *eutS*. The promoter sequence of *eutS* is shown with the transcription start site and the predicted -10 and -35 regions. The bolded region is the EutR binding consensus sequence.



Figure 2.4 EutR directly binds to the *ler* promoter region to activate LEE

expression (A) EMSA of the *ler* promoter and *amp* negative-control promoter region with EutR::MBP. (B) Darker exposure of the EMSA from (A). (C) Even darker exposure of the *amp* promoter region from (A).



ler promoter region *AA*GG**T**G**GTT**G**TT**GA**T**GAAATAGATGTGTCCTAATTTGATAGATAAACGTTATCTC *ACATAATTTATATCA*<u>TTTGAT</u>TAATTGTTGGTCCTTCCTGA<u>TAAGGT</u>CGCTAATA<u>G</u> -35
-10
+1





Figure 2.6 Expression of *eutR* **and** *ler* **in WT EPEC E2348/69.** qRT-PCR of *eutR* and *ler* from WT 86-24 in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂, as indicated, to (A) early log and (B) mid log. n=3; error bars represent the geometric mean ±SD. Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24 grown in the absence of EA and ns = not significant.

Chapter Three: The ETT2-encoded regulator EtrB modulates virulence

Part of this chapter has been adapted from "The ETT2-encoded regulator EtrB modulates enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* virulence gene expression"

Deborah H. Luzader, Graham G. Willsey¹, Matthew J. Wargo², and Melissa M. Kendall. 2016. *Infection and Immunity* 84(9): 2555-2565 ¹G.G.W. and ²M.J.W. analyzed the microarray data

Abstract

Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 (EHEC) is a foodborne pathogen that causes bloody diarrhea and hemolytic uremic syndrome throughout the world. A defining feature of EHEC pathogenesis is the formation of attaching and effacing (AE) lesions on colonic epithelial cells. Most of the genes that code for AE lesion formation, including a type three secretion system (T3SS) and effectors, are carried within a chromosomal pathogenicity island called the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE). In this study, we report that a putative regulator, which is encoded in the cryptic *E. coli* type three secretion system 2 (ETT2) locus and herein renamed EtrB, plays an important role in EHEC pathogenesis. The *etrB* gene is expressed as a monocistronic transcript, and EtrB autoregulates expression. We provide evidence that EtrB directly interacts with the *ler* regulatory region to activate LEE expression and promote AE lesion formation. Additionally, we mapped the EtrB regulatory circuit in EHEC to determine a global role for EtrB. EtrB is regulated by the transcription factor QseA, suggesting that these proteins comprise a regulatory circuit important for EHEC colonization of the GI tract.

Introduction

Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 (EHEC) is a foodborne pathogen that causes severe bloody diarrhea, which may be associated with complications, including hemolytic uremic syndrome [253]. A defining feature of EHEC infection is the formation of attaching and effacing (AE) lesions on colonic enterocytes. AE lesions are characterized by intimate attachment of EHEC to epithelial cells, rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton and effacement of the microvilli [62, 254, 255]. Most of the genes that mediate AE lesion formation are carried with the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) pathogenicity island [57]. The LEE is comprised of five major operons, named *LEE1-LEE5* [59, 61, 277], which encode a type three secretion system (T3SS) (*E. coli* type three secretion system-1 (ETT1)) [254], an adhesin (intimin) [255] and its receptor (Tir) [62], and secreted effectors [67, 256-259]. The LEE also encodes regulatory proteins, including the LEE1-encoded regulator Ler that activates expression of all of the LEE genes [59] as well as GrlA and GrlR, which positively and negatively influence LEE expression, respectively [100, 101, 215]. Additionally, the LEE-encoded T3SS translocates effector proteins encoded outside of the LEE that are also important for virulence [68, 70, 87, 100, 278-281].

In addition to the LEE-encoded T3SS, EHEC carries another locus that encodes a nonfunctional T3SS, named *E. coli* T3SS-2 (ETT2) [163, 229], and which shares homology to the *Salmonella* T3SS-1 [206]. The ETT2 pathogenicity island encodes five predicted or characterized transcription factors. A study by Zhang *et al.,* showed that two of these, EtrA and EivF, repress LEE expression and adherence to epithelial cells, whereas YgeH displayed no regulatory phenotype [124]. The other ETT2-encoded putative transcription factors YqeI and YgeK, herein renamed EtrB, have not been characterized.

EHEC controls expression of virulence traits through complex regulatory circuits that are responsive to metabolites, host hormones, and bacterial signaling molecules, in addition to other environmental cues [109, 113, 114, 121, 236, 282-286]. For example, expression of the transcription factor QseA is induced through bacterial cell signaling as well as by ethanolamine, an abundant metabolite in the intestine [109, 214]. QseA is a LysR-type regulator that activates LEE expression by directly binding the *ler* promoter as well as promoting *grlA* transcription [46, 106, 214, 215]. Additionally, QseA controls expression of genes encoded in several Oislands, which are regions of the genome not carried in *E. coli* K-12 strains [163, 229]. Importantly, QseA positively regulates *etrB* expression [46]. Because ETT2encoded proteins have been shown to influence virulence and because genetic data indicate that *etrB* is part of the QseA regulatory cascade, we hypothesized that EtrB plays a role in modulating EHEC virulence gene expression. Our findings indicate that EtrB activates LEE expression, not only through direct regulation, but also by repressing expression of *eivF* and *etrA*. Moreover, we mapped the EtrB regulon and report that EtrB also modulates expression of genes encoding distinct functions, including the non-LEE encoded effector NleA, a fimbrial adhesin, an sRNA, and maltose and tryptophan metabolism.

Materials and Methods

Strains, plasmids, growth conditions, and recombinant DNA techniques

Strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table A3.1. Standard methods were used to perform plasmid purification, PCR, ligation, restriction digests, transformations, and gel electrophoresis. Luria-Burtani (LB) broth (Invitrogen) or Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Invitrogen) was used to grow bacteria. For experiments with the *gseA* deletion strain (VS145), bacteria were grown overnight in LB broth and then diluted 1:100 in low-glucose DMEM and grown at 37°C, aerobically to late-exponential growth phase (O.D.₆₀₀ of 1.0). For all other experiments bacteria were grown overnight in LB broth, diluted 1:100 in low-glucose DMEM and grown for 6 h statically at 37°C under a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Streptomycin was added to overnight cultures of EHEC at a final concentration of 50 µg/ml. Overnight cultures of strains carrying pGEN, pDL01 (*etrB* in pGEN), or pDL03 (etrB promoter region in pGEN-luxCDABE) contained ampicillin to a final concentration of 100 µg/mL. The nonpolar EHEC 86-24 *etrB* mutant (DL01) was constructed using λ -red mutagenesis [287]. The mutant was complemented with *etrB* under the endogenous promoter cloned into pGEN-MCS [288] (Addgene MTA) using the restriction enzymes HindIII and NcoI (NEB). When complement data are shown, the WT and $\Delta etrB$ strains contain empty vector controls. Strains and plasmids were confirmed by DNA sequencing. Primers used to generate the *etrB* deletion and complement strains are listed in Table A3.2.

Measurement of etrB expression

The plasmid pGEN-luxCDABE [288] was used to create the *etrB* expression plasmid named pDL03. For this, approximately 332 base pairs of the etrB promoter region was inserted upstream of *luxCDABE* using the restriction enzymes PmeI and SnaBI (NEB). Luminescence was measured using a VICTOR Wallac luminometer (Perkin-Elmer). Luminescence was corrected for O.D.₆₀₀ for each condition. Statistical significance was determined by a Student's t-test.

RNA extraction and qRT-PCR

RNA purification and quantification of RNA transcription was performed as described previously [228]. RNA was extracted from three biological replicate cultures of each strain/condition using the RiboPure Bacteria RNA isolation kit (Ambion). The amplification efficiency and template specificity of each of the primer pairs (Table A3.2) were validated and reaction mixtures were prepared as previously described [233]. Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed using a one-step reaction with an ABI 7500-FAST sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems). Data were collected using the ABI Sequence Detection 1.2 software (Applied Biosystems). All data were normalized to levels of *rpoA* and analyzed using the comparative cycle threshold (C_T) method [261]. Target gene expression levels were compared by the relative-quantification method [261]. Statistical significant was determined by a Student's t-test.

Reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR)

SuperScipt II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) and random primers were used to create cDNA from RNA samples. The cDNA was used for PCR with genespecific primers (Table A3.2). Genomic DNA was used as a positive control, and a reaction without reverse transcriptase was used as a negative control.

Fluorescent actin staining (FAS) assay

FAS assays were performed as described previously [289]. Briefly, overnight bacterial cultures were grown in LB at 37°C and then diluted 1:100 to infect HeLa cells. Infected HeLa cells were grown on coverslips for 6 h at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Subsequently, the coverslips were washed, fixed with formaldehyde, then the membranes were permeabilized with 0.2% Triton-X and stained with fluorescein isothiocyanate-labeled phalloidin to visualize actin. Bacteria and HeLa cell nuclei were stained with propidium iodide. AE lesions formed by each strain were enumerated for at least 400 HeLa cells in each experiment. Two independent experiments with three biological replicates of each condition were performed. Statistical significant was determined by a Student's t-test.

Secreted protein and whole-cell lysate immunoblotting

Secreted proteins were collected as previously described [254]. Secreted proteins from culture supernatants were separated from bacterial cells using centrifugation and filtration. SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting were performed as previously described [262]. Whole-cell lysates were prepared by separating bacterial cells from supernatants, re-suspending in 1X PBS, and boiling. Samples were subjected to immunoblotting with rabbit polyclonal antiserum to EspA and visualized with enhanced chemiluminescence (BioRad). RpoA (Neoclone) was visualized as a loading control for whole-cell lysates. Coomassie blue staining was used to visualize bovine serum albumin (BSA) loading controls. Expression of EspA was quantified from three replicate samples using ImageJ and normalized to BSA. Expression levels are shown relative to WT. Three independent experiments were performed.

Purification of EtrB and QseA

The EtrB protein was fused with the maltose-binding protein (MBP) using the pMAL-C5x vector (NEB) with the restriction enzymes NcoI and SbfI (NEB) to create pDL02. E. coli strain BL21 (DE3) containing pDL02 was grown at 37°C in LB with glucose (0.2% final concentration) and ampicillin (100 µg/mL) to an O.D.₆₀₀ of 0.5. IPTG was added to a final concentration of 0.3 M and protein expression was induced overnight at 16°C. Cells were then pelleted by centrifugation at 4,000 g for 10 min and resuspended in column buffer (20 mM Tris-HCL, 200 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA). The cells were lysed with an emulsiflex. The lysed cells were centrifuged at 4°C and the supernatant was loaded onto a gravity column (Qiagen) with amylose resin. The column buffer containing 10 mM maltose. Fractions containing purified EtrB were confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Western analysis. The His-tagged QseA protein from plasmid pMK08 was purified as previously described [46]. Briefly, the *E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3) containing pMK08 was grown to an O.D.₆₀₀ of 0.5 and then induced with 0.4 M IPTG for 3 h. Cells were lysed as described above and purification was performed using gravity columns (Qiagen) with nickel beads. The column was washed with nickel wash buffer (50 mM NaPO₄, 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole) and protein was eluted using nickel wash buffer containing 250 mM imidazole.

Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs)

EMSAs were performed using the purified EtrB-MBP, QseA-His, and PCRamplified DNA probes (Table A3.2), as previously described [110]. DNA probes were end-labeled using T4 polynucleotide kinase (NEB) with (³²P) ATP (Perkin-Elmer) [262]. End-labeled probes were purified using the Invitrogen NucAway Spin Columns. EMSAs were performed by adding increasing amounts of purified QseA or EtrB protein to end-labeled probe in binding solution (500 µg/mL BSA, 50 ng poly(dI-dC), 60 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA, 3 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 300 mM KCl, and 25 mM MgCl₂) and incubated at room temperature for 25 minutes. A 1% Ficoll solution was added to the reaction mixtures immediately before loading the samples on the gel. The reactions were electrophoresed on a 6% polyacrylamide gel for approximately 6 h at 150 V, dried, and imaged with a PhosphorImager (Molecular Dynamics). Bands were quantified using ImageQuant software as indicated.

Primer Extension

Primer extension analysis was performed as previously described [46]. Briefly, primer etrB_PE_R (Table A3.2) was end-labeled as described above. A total of 40 µg of RNA, isolated from strain 86-24, was used to generate cDNA using the Primer Extension System— AMV Reverse Transcriptase kit (Promega). The resultant cDNA was precipitated, electrophoresed on a 6% polyacrylamide-urea gel next to a sequencing reaction (Affymetrix). Amplified genomic DNA from strain 86-24 was used to generate the sequencing ladder using primers etrB_prom_F1 and etrB_PE_R for the *etrB* promoter.

Microarray

Affymetrix 2.0 *E. coli* gene arrays were used to compare gene expression of strain 86-24 to that of DL01 ($\Delta etrB$) as previously described [109]. The RNA processing, labeling, hybridization, and slide-scanning procedures were performed as described in the Affymetrix Gene Expression technical manual. Data analyses from the array were performed as previously described [290]. The Affymetrix GeneChip Command Console Software (AGCC) was used to obtain the output from scanning a single replicate of the Affymetrix GeneChip *E. coli* Genome 2.0 array for each of the biological conditions, following the manufacturer's instructions. Data were normalized using Robust Multiarray analyses (RMA), and the resulting data were compared to determine genes whose expression was increased or decreased in response to the presence of *etrB*.

Results

Identification and characterization of etrB.

The gene *etrB* (*ygeK*, MG1655 genome; *Z4176*, EDL933 genome; *ECs712*, Sakai genome [163, 229]) is carried in the ETT2 pathogenicity island (Figure 3.1A) and is predicted to encode a 16 kDa protein that shares homology to NarL-type transcription factors, including the *Salmonella* regulatory protein SsrB [206]. The *etrB* open reading frame (ORF) is present in several *E. coli* strains; however, bioinformatics analyses indicate that etrB is a pseudogene in nonpathogenic E. coli K-12 strains [206]. In pathogenic EHEC strains, the potential functionality of EtrB is less clear. The Sakai and EDL933 annotated genome sequences predict different ORFs, with etrB encoding a 663 bp gene in Sakai or a 447 bp gene in EDL933 [163, 229]. We study EHEC pathogenesis using the strain 86-24, which was isolated from a patient suffering hemorrhagic colitis [149] and has been used in several EHEC animal studies [291-298]. The ETT2 genetic locus is located between the *araE* and *glyU* backbone (conserved) genes in EHEC. To begin to characterize *etrB* in strain 86-24, we performed RT-PCR to determine whether *etrB* was expressed as part of a transcript with the adjacent up- or downstream genes (depicted in Figure 3.1B). For this, we used cDNA synthesized from RNA that was purified from WT EHEC grown statically for 6 h in DMEM. No PCR products were obtained in reactions that included primers specific for the flanking genes (Figure 3.1B and C); however, a PCR product was visible when primers specific for *etrB* were used in the reaction (Figure 3.1C). These findings indicate that *etrB* is expressed in EHEC strain 86-24, but that it is not co-transcribed with the immediate up- or downstream genes.

To further characterize *etrB* expression and map the promoter region, we performed primer extension analyses. For this, we designed a primer approximately 50 base pairs downstream from the etrB translational start codon. Then, primer extension analysis was performed using cDNA synthesized from RNA. The primer extension results revealed one transcriptional start site in the *etrB* promoter (Figure 3.2), which we mapped to approximately 44 base pairs upstream of the translational start site. These data are consistent with the annotation of the EDL933 genome. These data suggest a -10 sequence, TGTAAC, and the - 35 sequence, CTGAAG, which contain two and three mismatches from the σ^{70} consensus sequences (TATAAT and TTGACA), respectively, and which are separated by 15 nucleotides (Figure 3.2A). There is no match to alternative sigma factor consensus sequences such as σ^{32} , σ^{54} , and σ^{28} . Site directed mutagenesis of the putative *etrB* promoter should be performed to verify the σ^{70} consensus sequences.

To begin to characterize EtrB expression, we examined whether EtrB autoregulates transcription. For this, we generated a deletion of *etrB*. The deletion of etrB did not impact EHEC growth rate in our experimental conditions, as the wild type (WT) and $\Delta etrB$ strains reached similar O.D.s after 6 h of static growth in DMEM (WT O.D.₆₀₀ = 0.841 +/- 0.008; $\Delta etrB$ O.D.₆₀₀ = 0.842 +/- 0.004). Then, we transformed the WT and the $\Delta etrB$ strains with a plasmid containing the etrB promoter fused to the *luxCDABE* gene cluster that encodes bacterial luciferase [299]. Expression of *etrB::lux* was significantly decreased in the Δ etrB strain compared to WT (Figure 3.2B), indicating that EtrB positively autoregulates expression. Proteins belonging to the NarL-family bind DNA to regulate transcription [47]. Therefore, we performed EMSAs to investigate whether EtrB binds its own promoter to regulate transcription. For this, we constructed a plasmid that expresses a fusion protein in which the C terminus of MBP was fused to the N terminus of EtrB. EMSAs indicated that EtrB directly binds its promoter to regulate expression (Figure 3.3A). To confirm specificity of binding, we performed EMSAs with purified MBP alone as well as competition EMSAs. Purified MBP did not bind the *etrB* promoter (Figure 3.3A). Moreover, EtrB binding was outcompeted by the addition of unlabeled *etrB* probe, whereas no competition was observed when increasing amounts of cold *kan* probe was added (Figure 3.3B). Altogether, these findings indicate that *etrB* is expressed and encodes a functional protein that controls its own expression. Accordingly, we renamed *ygeK etrB* (ETT2 transcriptional regulator B) following the nomenclature of Zhang *et al.* [124].

QseA activates etrB expression

We originally identified *etrB* in a microarray study as being activated by QseA [46]. Here, we confirmed that QseA influences *etrB* transcription and tested whether this was through direct interaction (Figure 3.4A). First, we performed qRT-PCR analyses using RNA extracted from WT, the Δ qseA, or the qseA (qseA+) complemented strain. Transcription of etrB was significantly decreased in Δ qseA strain compared to WT, and complementation of the Δ qseA strain restored *etrB* expression to WT levels (Figure 3.4B). To determine whether QseA influenced *etrB* expression directly, we performed EMSAs. We observed a shift with the addition of purified QseA to radiolabeled *etrB* promoter DNA; however, no shift was observed using the negative control *kan* DNA (Figure 3.4C). Quantification of radiolabeled DNA confirmed that the amount of shifted *etrB* DNA correlated with increasing amounts of QseA added to the reaction (Figure 3.4D). Collectively, these data indicate that *etrB* is a direct target of QseA regulation.

Expression of *qseA* is increased in the presence of EA, in an EutR-dependent manner [109]. Because of the interaction between EutR and *qseA*, we hypothesized that EutR may contribute to *etrB* expression. To test this hypothesis, we performed qRT-PCR. The data reveal that *etrB* expression is similar in the presence or absence of EA (Figure 3.5). Levels of *etrB* were unchanged in the $\Delta eutR$ strain compared to WT and were unchanged in the $\Delta eutR$ strain in the presence of EA (Figure 3.5), indicating that EutR has no effect on *etrB* expression.

EtrB activates LEE transcription

To determine whether EtrB plays a role in directing virulence gene expression in EHEC, we performed qRT-PCR and measured expression of one gene in each LEE operon (Figure 3.6A), as well as expression of the *stx2a* gene, which encodes Shiga toxin. Transcription of *ler*, encoded in *LEE1*, as well as transcription of *grlA* and *LEE2-LEE5* was significantly decreased in the *ΔetrB* strain compared to WT (Figure 3.6B); however, no differences in *stx2a* expression were measured (Figure 3.6C). Additionally, trans complementation with *etrB* on a low-copy plasmid nearly restored LEE mRNA and protein to WT levels (Figure 3.6D-F). Levels of *escC* were higher in the *etrB* complement strain compared to the $\Delta etrB$ strain but not restored to WT levels (Figure 3.6D).

To functionally test the impact of EtrB on LEE expression, we assessed AE lesion formation. For this, we performed a FAS assay [289] and determined the number of pedestals formed on epithelial cells by WT EHEC, the $\Delta etrB$ strain, or the *etrB* complemented strain. In agreement with the LEE expression data, we measured significantly fewer pedestals when HeLa cells were infected with the $\Delta etrB$ strain compared to cells infected with WT EHEC, and the *etrB* plasmid was able to complement the $\Delta etrB$ strain (Figure 3.7A and B). This suggests that the increase in *escC* mRNA levels and the increase in EspA protein levels *etrB* complement strain compared to the $\Delta etrB$ strain are sufficient to restore to WT levels.

To determine whether EtrB directly regulates LEE expression, we performed EMSAs. For these experiments, we generated a probe containing the entire *ler* regulatory region. EtrB shifted the radiolabeled ler DNA, but not the negative-control amp promoter (Figure 3.8A). To ensure specificity of binding, we performed EMSAs using MBP alone as well as competition EMSAs as described for the *etrB* promoter. In these assays, no shift was observed with MBP alone (Figure 3.8A). Additionally, the unlabeled *ler* probe competed for EtrB binding at a ratio of 1:1 (labeled probe to unlabeled probe) (Figure 3.8B); however, the negative-control *kan* probe exhibited no competition for binding (Figure 3.8B). These findings indicate a specific and direct interaction between EtrB and the *ler/LEE1* regulatory region.
To further verify previous data demonstrating that EA does not influence etrB expression (Figure 3.5), we assessed how EA affects EtrB regulation of the LEE. We evaluated LEE expression by measuring EspA levels through Western blot analysis and determined that expression of EspA was significantly lower in the Δ etrB strain compared to WT in the presence or absence of EA (Figure 3.9). Overall, these data indicate that the EtrB regulatory circuit is independent of the EA regulatory circuit.

EtrB transcriptome analyses

To investigate the global role of EtrB in EHEC gene regulation, we performed transcriptome analyses using the Affymetrix *E. coli* 2.0 gene microarrays. These data revealed that EtrB functions to both positively and negatively influence gene expression in EHEC. For example, 46 genes probe sets were decreased and 70 probes sets were increased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain compared to WT (using a \geq 2-fold change in expression as the cut off for differentially regulated probes). Genes regulated by EtrB included virulence factors, such as the LEE genes and non-LEE encoded effectors, adhesins and ETT2-encoded genes, genes important for metabolism, and the non-coding RNA, RyeA/SraC.

We confirmed a subset of transcripts that were differentially regulated in the array. NleA is an effector encoded outside of the LEE, but which is secreted through the LEE- encoded T3SS. In EHEC, NleA has diverse functions and has been shown to disrupt tight junctions of epithelial cells, inhibit protein secretion, and modulate the host immune response [70, 300, 301]. Moreover, an *nleA* deletion strain is

attenuated during murine infection, highlighting its importance to EHEC pathogenesis [70]. EtrB positively influences *nleA* expression, as *nleA* transcription was decreased in the Δ *etrB* strain compared to WT (Figure 3.10A). NleA expression and secretion is at least partly dependent on Ler [90], thus, the decrease of NleA in the Δ *etrB* strain may be an indirect result of EtrB-dependent regulation of LEE expression.

Besides activating expression of virulence factors, EtrB positively influences transcription of genes involved in metabolism and post-transcriptional gene expression. For example, genes involved in tryptophan and maltose utilization were decreased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain (Figure 3.10B and C). Additionally, transcript levels of the sRNA RyeA/SraC were decreased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain compared to WT (Figure 3.10D). RyeA/SraC is present as a 270 bp RNA during exponential growth, and is processed to a shorter 150 bp RNA during stationary phase [302-304]. These findings suggest that RyeA/SraC plays a role during stress response; however, the biological role of this sRNA is not known.

EHEC encodes 16 fimbrial loci, which mediate attachment to epithelial cells. The fimbrial locus 11 (*loc11*) belongs to the chaperone-usher family of adhesins. These types of fimbriae typically are composed of a chaperone, an usher, and a major fimbrial subunit, and may also include additional minor subunits [305]. The microarray data indicated that EtrB represses expression of *loc11*. This locus contains seven ORFs, all of which have been shown to be expressed and cotranscribed [166]; therefore, we confirmed the microarray data by measuring expression of the first gene in this operon, *Z4498*, which is predicted to encode the major fimbrial subunit. Expression of Z4498 was significantly increased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain compared to WT EHEC (Figure 3.11A), and complementation restored expression to WT levels (Figure 3.11B). Collectively, these data suggest that EtrB is important for coordinating expression of fimbriae- and LEE-mediated adherence.

The ETT2 pathogenicity island carries 35 ORFs that are predicted to encode effectors, components of a T3SS and transcription factors, as well as pseudogenes [163, 206, 229]. The microarray data indicated that EtrB represses expression of ORFs encoded in the ETT2 pathogenicity island. For example, the expression of the ORFs *ygel* and *yqeK* were significantly increased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain compared to WT (Figure 3.11C). Additionally, expression of the ETT2-encoded regulators *eivF* and *etrA* were increased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain (Figure 3.11C).

Discussion

The ETT2 locus is present in the majority of *E. coli* strains; however, many of the ETT2 gene clusters carry mutations and deletions, suggesting that the ETT2 T3SS is not functional [206]. Despite this fact, deletions of ETT2-encoded regulatory or structural proteins impact virulence in EHEC as well as in meningitis-causing *E. coli* strains [209, 306, 307]. However, no biochemical evidence of how ETT2-encoded genes affect pathogenesis has been reported. EtrB belongs to the NarL-family of transcription factors, which can function independently or function as part of a two-component system (TCS) [48, 49]. The *etrB* gene is not encoded adjacent to a putative histidine kinase, which is typical for a cognate TCS [308]. A previous study predicted that EtrB might function as an orphan response regulator and

demonstrated that purified EtrB could be phosphorylated *in vitro* [309]; however, the physiological relevance of this was not further examined. Our studies indicate that EtrB is able to bind target DNA in the absence of phosphorylation (Figures 3.3 and 3.8), suggesting that EtrB acts as an independent transcription factor.

We mapped the EtrB regulon, and our data revealed that EtrB plays a broad role in EHEC gene expression, affecting expression of genes important for virulence, metabolism, and post-transcriptional gene expression (Figures 3.6, 3.10, 3.11, and summarized in Figure 3.12). Specifically, EtrB activates LEE expression through direct interaction with the *LEE1* regulatory region (Figure 3.8). This is distinct from the regulatory influence of EtrA and EivF, which repress LEE expression [124]. Interestingly, *etrA* and *eivF* expression was increased in the $\Delta etrB$ strain (Figure 3.11), suggesting that EtrB functions to promote AE lesion formation not only by direct interaction with the *LEE1* regulatory region but also by repressing expression of negative regulators of the LEE.

Finally, we provide biochemical evidence showing that *etrB* is a direct regulatory target of QseA. Therefore, we propose that QseA and EtrB function in a coherent feed-forward loop (FFL) [310]. This FFL has important implications for the regulatory dynamics of LEE expression. For example, the coordination of multiple regulators might act to amplify environmental cues and promote AE lesion formation. Additionally, a previous study demonstrated that QseA negatively regulates its own transcription [216]. In this model, as QseA levels decrease due to autoregulation, EtrB could still act to promote LEE expression, thereby prolonging expression to ensure efficient colonization of the GI tract. Overall, this study has identified EtrB as an important regulator of gene expression in EHEC and provides a mechanistic understanding as to how ETT2-encoded regulators influence bacterial pathogenesis.



Figure 3.1 *etrB* **expression.** (A) Schematic representation of the ETT2 genetic locus located between the *araE* and *glyU* backbone genes in EHEC. (B) Inset of *etrB* and adjacent genes. Lines with numbers indicate amplified regions and correspond to PCR reactions shown in (C). (C) RT-PCR of *etrB* and adjacent genes. Genomic DNA (gDNA) was used as a positive control and a reaction without RT was used as a negative control.









Figure 3.3 *etrB* **directly autoregulates expression.** (A) EMSA of the *etrB* promoter and *amp* negative-control promoter region with MBP or EtrB::MBP. (B) Competition assays with EtrB. The assay was performed with increasing amounts of the unlabeled *etrB* probe or the unlabeled *kan* probe as a negative-control.



Figure 3.4 QseA activates *etrB* **expression.** (A) Schematic of model being tested. (B) qRT-PCR of etrB expression in WT 86-24, the Δ qseA strain, and qseA complemented strain (qseA+). n=3; error bars represent the geometric mean ±SD. **, P≤ 0.005; ***, P≤ 0.0005. (C) EMSA of the *etrB* promoter and the *kan* negative-control promoter regions with QseA protein. (D) Quantification of shifted *etrB* or *kan* DNA depicted in (C).



Figure 3.5 *etrB* **expression is not influenced by EA or EutR.** qRT-PCR of *etrB* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta eutR$ strain in the presence and absence of EA.



Figure 3.6 EtrB activates expression of the LEE. (A) Schematic of the LEE pathogenicity island. (B) qRT-PCR of *ler, grlA, escC, escV, eae,* and *espA* in WT 86-24

and the $\Delta etrB$ strains. (C) Expression of stx2a by qRT-PCR in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta etrB$ strains. (D) Expression of escC by qRT-PCR in WT 86-24 transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta etrB$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, and the $\Delta etrB$ strain complemented with etrB. (E) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA secreted protein in WT 86-24 transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta etrB$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, and the $\Delta etrB$ strain complemented with etrB. (E) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA secreted protein in WT 86-24 transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta etrB$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, and the $\Delta etrB$ strain complemented with etrB. BSA, bovine serum albumin is shown as a loading control. (F) Quantification of EspA expression from three independent assays from EHEC strains as described in (E). *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.005; ***, P ≤ 0.0005; ns = not significant.





Figure 3.7 EtrB activates AE lesion formation (A) FAS assay with WT 86-24 transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta etrB$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, and the $\Delta etrB$ strain complemented with *etrB*. HeLa nuclei and bacteria were stained red with propidium iodide, and HeLa cell actin cytoskeleton was stained green with FITC-phalloidin. AE lesions are observed as punctate green structures associated with bacterial cells and are indicated by arrowheads. Scale bar = 1 mM. (B) Number of AE lesions per HeLa cell. Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24 unless otherwise indicated. *, $P \le 0.05$; **, $P \le 0.005$; ***, $P \le 0.005$; ** 0.0005; ns = not significant.



Figure 3.8 EtrB directly binds to the *ler* promoter region to activate LEE

expression (A) EMSA of the *ler* promoter and *amp* negative-control promoter region with MBP or EtrB::MBP. (B) Competition assays with EtrB. The assay was performed with increasing amounts of the unlabeled *ler* probe or the unlabeled *kan* probe as a negative-control.



Figure 3.9 EA does not affect EtrB regulation of EspA. Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA secreted protein in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta etrB$ strain in the presence and absence of EA. RpoA is shown as a loading control.



Figure 3.10 EtrB positive targets of regulation. (A-D) qRT-PCR of *nleA, tnaA, malK,* and *ryeA* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta etrB$ strain. n=3; error bars represent the geometric mean ±SD. Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24. *, P \leq 0.05; **, P \leq 0.005.





mean ±SD. Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24 unless otherwise

indicated. *, P< 0.05; **, P< 0.005; ns = not significant.



Figure 3.12 Model of the EtrB regulatory circuit. Lines with arrows indicate positive regulation; lines with bars indicate negative regulation. Solid lines represent direct interactions that have been biochemically defined; hatched lines represent interactions that occur indirectly or that have not been shown to bind biochemically to the target.

Chapter Four: Fimbriae influence the expression of virulence traits

Part of this chapter has been adapted from "A role for enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 fimbriae in colonization" (*in preparation*)

Deborah H. Luzader, Laura A. Gonyar¹, and Melissa M. Kendall. 2016.

¹L.A.G. assisted with operon mapping of the *erf1* locus and animal infections

Abstract

Fimbriae are proteinaceous surface structures that mediate bacterial attachment to a surface. Thus, fimbriae play an essential role in pathogen colonization by adhering a bacterium to the host tissue. The foodborne pathogen enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 (EHEC) encodes 16 fimbrial loci that may play a role in the establishment of EHEC infection. The metabolite ethanolamine (EA) induces the expression of 15 fimbriae in EHEC. We provide evidence that Erf1 and Erf2 have redundant functions in mediating early attachment events *in vitro*, but Erf1 and Erf2 each play a critical role in colonization of the murine gastrointestinal (GI) tract. We demonstrate that Erf1 and Erf2 fimbriae, but not fimbrial locus 3, increases the formation of attaching and effacing (AE) lesions, an important virulence trait in EHEC. This study then sought to characterize the mechanism by which two EA-regulated fimbriae, Erf1 and Erf2, influence AE lesion formation through regulation of EHEC virulence gene expression. Interestingly, the expression of single components of the *erf1* and *erf2* fimbrial loci were sufficient to regulate the expression of virulence traits, suggesting that formation of Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial surface structures is not necessary to regulate AE lesion formation. These findings reveal a crucial role for fimbriae in bacterial pathogenesis by demonstrating that fimbriae function as more than just adhesins by influencing virulence gene expression and suggest a novel mechanism for fimbrial regulation of virulence traits.

Introduction

Pathogens must attach to host cells to establish infection in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. This process is necessary for bacterial pathogens to colonize the host by preventing bacterial displacement due to physical stresses [311]. Fimbriae are surface-exposed structures that play an essential role in pathogenesis by anchoring bacteria to host tissue [312, 313]. This is an important process for pathogens as fimbriae-mediated adhesion precedes the activation of further virulence traits such as type three secretions systems (T3SS), effector proteins, and toxins [314]. The precise coordination of these virulence traits is necessary for pathogens to cause disease. However, it is unknown whether fimbriae have additional roles in pathogenesis and if fimbriae directly contribute to the expression of other virulence factors.

Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 (EHEC) is a foodborne pathogen that causes severe hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) [253]. EHEC has a very low infectious dose, with ingestion of less than 100 colony-forming units sufficient to cause disease [24, 315]. The low infectious dose of EHEC combined with patient treatment being limited to supportive care, emphasize the need to study EHEC to understand mechanisms of virulence. EHEC encodes 16 fimbrial loci, suggesting fimbriae are an important virulence determinant in EHEC [163, 229]. However, the involvement of fimbriae in EHEC pathogenesis is not well understood, due to a lack of understanding of environmental cues that promote EHEC fimbriae expression *in vitro* [162, 164, 165, 230].

A well-defined trait of EHEC virulence is the formation of attaching and

effacing (AE) lesions [62, 254, 255]. AE lesions involve effacement of the microvilli and intimate attachment of EHEC to the host epithelium by a receptor-mediated process. EHEC injects effector proteins to manipulate the host cytoskeleton and form an actin-rich pedestal-like structure under the bacterium. The formation of AE lesions requires the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) [4]. The LEE encodes a T3SS [254], secreted effectors [67, 256-259], the adhesin intimin (*eae*) [255], and the translocated intimin receptor (*tir*) [62].

EHEC also produces Shiga toxin, which is responsible for the deadly complications associated with EHEC [127]. Shiga toxin is absorbed systemically and binds to the receptor Gb3 on kidney epithelial cells where it inhibits protein synthesis [140, 145, 253, 316]. This leads to the development of HUS [127].

Ethanolamine (EA), an abundant metabolite in the GI tract, is a signal that EHEC utilizes to sense the host environment and regulate the expression of virulence traits [109, 110, 166]. EA is present in the GI tract from the diet and from the breakdown of the membrane component phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) derived from host and bacterial cells [219, 224, 317]. AE lesion formation, Shiga toxin production, and fimbriae are increased when EHEC is grown in the presence of EA [109, 110, 166]. Genes encoded in fimbrial locus 9 (*Z3276-Z3279*; *yeh*) and fimbrial locus 2 (*Z0146-Z0142*; *yad*), herein respectively renamed EA-regulated fimbriae (*erf1* and *erf2*) were significantly increased when EHEC was grown in the presence of EA [166]. Interestingly, preliminary studies suggest that Erf1 and Erf2 affect LEE expression in EHEC; however, the mechanism underlying this regulation in EHEC is unknown. The goal of this study was to determine the function of Erf1 and Erf2 in EHEC pathogenesis and the mechanism underlying Erf1 and Erf2 regulation of EHEC virulence traits.

We provide evidence that although Erf1 and Erf2 do not mediate adhesion *in vitro*, both fimbriae influence EHEC colonization of the GI tract. Our findings indicate that the formation of Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial surface structures is not required to mediate virulence gene expression and suggest a novel mechanism for fimbriae in the regulation of virulence traits.

Materials and Methods

Strains and Plasmids

All strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table A4.1. Luria-Bertani (LB) and Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Invitrogen) were used to grow bacteria. Bacteria were grown overnight in Luria-Bertani Broth and then diluted 1:100 in low-glucose DMEM supplemented with 10 mM EA and 150 nM vitamin B12 (Sigma) unless otherwise indicated and grown for 6 h statically at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Streptomycin was added to overnight cultures of EHEC at a final concentration of 50 µg/ml. Recombinant DNA and molecular biology techniques were performed as described previously [109]. Construction of nonpolar EHEC 86-24 *erf1* (LG01), *erf2* (LG02), *Z3279*, *Z3278*, *Z3276*, *Z3277-Z3276*, *Z3278-Z3277* mutants was achieved using λ -red mutagenesis [287]. The mutants were complemented with the entire *erf1* (*ZZ3276-Z3279*) or *erf2* (*Z0146-Z0152*) fimbrial locus, including endogenous promoters, cloned into pGEN-MCS (Addgene MTA) [288]. The mutants were also complemented with different genes from the *erf1* (*ZZ3276-Z3279*) or *erf2* (*Z0146-Z0152*) fimbrial locus in pBAD24 or pBAD33 [318]. Primers used are listed in Table A4.2. As controls, the *erf1* and *erf2* mutants were also transformed with empty vectors.

Operon analysis by RT-PCR

WT EHEC was grown as described above. RNA was extracted with the RiboPure kit (Ambion) and was reverse transcribed using SuperScript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). Random primers were used to create cDNA from RNA samples and cDNA amplified by PCR with different primer sets listed in Table A4.2. Genomic DNA was used as a positive control, and a reaction without reverse transcriptase was used as a negative control. PCR and gel electrophoresis were performed using standard methods.

Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR

Primer validation and qRT-PCR were performed as described previously [109] using primers listed in Table A4.2. Briefly, RNA was extracted from three biological replicates, and qRT- PCR was performed using a one-step reaction with an ABI 7500-FAST sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems). Data were collected using the ABI Sequence Detection 1.2 software (Applied Biosystems). All data were normalized to levels of *rpoA* and analyzed using the comparative cycle threshold (C_T) method [261]. Target gene expression levels were compared by the relative-quantification method and data are shown as changes in expression levels compared to the WT levels [261]. Statistical significance was determined by a

Adhesion assay

Adhesion assays were performed as previously described [254]. Briefly, EHEC strains were grown as described above. Caco-2 cells were washed twice with 1X phosphate-buffer saline (PBS) before infection and placed in low-glucose DMEM supplemented with 10 mM EA and 150 nM vitamin B₁₂. EHEC strains were diluted to approximately 1.0 X 10⁹ CFU/ml to infect the Caco-2 cells. Caco-2 cells were incubated with the bacteria for 3 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂. After infection, cells were washed, the HeLa cells were lysed, and bacterial cells plated to determine CFU/ml. The results of six replicates were averaged, and statistical significance was determined by a Student's t-test.

Fluorescent actin staining (FAS) assay

FAS assays were performed as previously described [289] and essentially as described above, with the following modifications. Briefly, bacterial cultures were grown overnight anaerobically in LB at 37°C and were diluted 1:100 to infect HeLa or Caco-2 cells. Infected HeLa or Caco-2 cells were grown on coverslips for 6 h at 37°C with 5% CO₂ with the cells being washed after 3 hours of infection. Subsequently, the coverslips were washed, fixed with formaldehyde, permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X, and treated with fluorescein isothiocyanate-labeled phalloidin to visualize actin accumulation. Propidium iodide was added to stain the bacteria and epithelial cell nuclei. AE lesions formed by each strain were enumerated for at least 150 HeLa or Caco-2 cells in each experiment. Statistical significance was determined by a Student's t-test.

Western Blot Analysis

Secreted proteins were harvested as previously described [254]. Bacteria were grown as described above and supernatants were isolated and concentrated using Ambicon 10K concentrators. Whole-cell lysates were collected and cells were gently lysed by boiling. All samples were subjected to 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane. The membranes were probed with an anti-EspA, anti-Stx2a (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), anti-His (Cell Signaling Technologies) or anti-RpoA (Neoclone). RpoA was visualized as a loading control for whole-cell lysates. Coomassie blue staining was used to visualize bovine serum albumin (BSA) loading controls. Relative expression of EspA was quantified from three replicate samples using ImageJ and normalized to the loading control (BSA or RpoA for secreted proteins or WCL, respectively). Expression levels are shown relative to WT. At least three independent experiments were performed.

Primer Extension

Primer extension analysis was performed as previously described [46]. Briefly, primer yehD_cDNA_R1 (Table A4.2) was end-labeled using (γ -³²P)-ATP. A total of 40 µg of RNA, isolated as described above from strain 86-24, was used to create cDNA with the Primer Extension System— AMV Reverse Transcriptase kit (Promega). The resultant cDNA was precipitated, run on a 6% polyacrylamide-urea gel and visualized by autoradiography. The primer extension reaction as run adjacent to a sequencing reaction (Affymetrix). Amplified genomic DNA from 86-24 was used to generate the sequencing ladder using primers yehD_prom_F1 and yehD_cDNA_R1for the *erf1* promoter.

Purification of EutR

To purify the maltose-binding protein (MBP)-tagged EutR protein [110], *Escherichia coli* strain BL-21 (DE3) containing pMK53 was grown at 37°C in LB with glucose (0.2% final concentration) and ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) to an optical density at 600 nm (O.D.₆₀₀) of 0.5, at which point IPTG was added to a final concentration of 0.3 mM and allowed to induce overnight at 18°C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4,000 X *g* for 20 min and then resuspended in 25 ml column buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 200 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) and lysed by homogenization. The lysed cells were centrifuged, and the lysate was loaded onto a gravity column (Qiagen) with amylose resin. The column was washed with column buffer and then eluted with column buffer containing 10 mM maltose. Fractions containing purified proteins were confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Western analysis, and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay.

Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs)

EMSAs were performed using the purified EutR-MBP and PCR-amplified DNA probes (Table A4.2) as previously described [110]. DNA probes were end-labeled using T4 polynucleotide kinase (NEB) with (³²P) ATP (Perkin-Elmer) [262]. End-

labeled probes were purified using the Invitrogen NucAway Spin Columns. EMSAs were performed by adding increasing amounts of purified EutR protein to endlabeled probe in binding solution (500 µg/mL BSA, 50 ng poly(dI-dC), 60 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA, 3 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 300 mM KCl, and 25 mM MgCl₂) and incubated at room temperature for 25 minutes. A 1% Ficoll solution was added to the reaction mixtures immediately before loading the samples on the gel. The reactions were electrophoresed on a 6% polyacrylamide gel for approximately 6 h at 150 V, dried, and imaged with a PhosphorImager (Molecular Dynamics). Bands were quantified using ImageQuant software as indicated.

Animal Experiments

All experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Virginal School of Medicine. 5-6 week old, male, CD-1 mice were given streptomycin- treated water (5g/L) 24 hours prior to infection [319]. Mice were inoculated with 2 x 10⁸ CFU of each indicated strain (total dose 4 x 10⁸ CFU) [320]. Fecal pellets were collected daily and CFUs were enumerated by plating homogenates on MacConkey agar. A $\Delta lacZ$ EHEC strain was used as a surrogate for WT to allow for differentiation between strains grown on MacConkey agar. The *lacZ* deletion does not affect the ability of EHEC to colonize the GI tract [121]. The ratio of recovered WT to mutant bacteria was normalized using the ratio in the inoculum to determine the competitive index. A one-sample t-test was used to determine statistical significance from the expected value of 1. Comparisons to determine significance between competitive index values was assessed by an unpaired t-test. Colonization of the intestinal compartments was performed as previously described [321]. For enumeration of bacteria in intestinal compartments, a 3 cm section of the colon as measured from the cecum was excised. The colon was open and rinsed thoroughly with 1X PBS. The mucus layer was removed by gently scraping with a spatula. The mucus layer was diluted in 200 μ L, and serial dilutions were plated on MacConkey agar. After removing the mucus layer, the epithelium was weighed, homogenized, and bacterial counts were determined as described above.

Results

Characterization of erf1 and erf2

Before determining the mechanism underlying fimbrial regulation of virulence traits, we further characterized the expression of the *erf1* and *erf2* fimbrial loci. The *erf1* locus (*yeh*; *Z3276-Z3279*, EDL933 genome; *ECs2914-ECs2917*, Sakai genome) encodes a putative chaperone-usher fimbriae. In a previous study, expression of the major subunit (*yehD*, *Z3279*) was the most highly induced fimbrial gene in the presence of EA compared to the absence [166]. We decided to characterize *erf1* because of the high induction of *erf1* in the presence of EA. In addition, preliminary data from the lab suggested that *erf1* is involved in EHEC pathogenesis by regulating expression of the *LEE* (Gonyar, unpublished). To begin to characterize *erf1*, we performed RT-PCR to verify that all genes encoded in the locus were expressed and to determine if the upstream gene, *yehE* (*Z3280*, EDL933 genome; *ECs2918*, Sakai genome), an open-reading frame of unknown function, is

expressed as part of the locus. Annotations of the *erf1* fimbrial locus sometimes include *yehE* [164] and other times do not include *yehE* [165]. For RT-PCR, we used cDNA synthesized from RNA that was purified from WT EHEC grown statically for 6 h in DMEM in the presence of EA. No PCR product was obtained in reaction that included primers specific for the flanking gene *yehE* (Figure 4.1A and B); however, PCR products were visible when primers specific for the *erf1* locus were used in the reaction (Figure 4.1A and B), indicating that *erf1* is expressed as one transcript. These findings demonstrate that all components of the *erf1* locus are expressed and suggests that *erf1* could produce a functional fimbriae.

To characterize *erf1* expression and map the promoter region, we performed primer extension analyses. For this, we designed a primer approximately 50 base pairs downstream from the major subunit (*yehD*, *Z3279*) translational start codon. Primer extension analysis was performed using cDNA synthesized from RNA grown as previously described. The primer extension analyses revealed two transcriptional start sites in the *erf1* promoter designated P1 and P2 for the distal and proximal transcription start sites, respectively (Figure 4.2). The P1 distal transcription start site mapped to approximately 39 base pairs upstream of the translation start site. For P2, the -10 sequence, TTTGTT, had three mismatches from the σ^{70} consensus sequences TATAAT, and the -35 sequence, TTTACA, had one mismatch from the consensus TTGACA, with a 27-base-pair spacer (Figure 4.2). The proximal P2 transcription start site is located 30 base pairs upstream of the translation start site. and the -35 sequence, GAGAAA, had three mismatches from the consensus sequence, with a 17-base-pair spacer (Figure 4.2).

A previous study of EHEC fimbriae demonstrated that the *erf2* (yad; 20146-Z0152, EDL933 genome; ECs0139-ECs0145, Sakai genome) major subunit (yadN, *Z0146*) was the most highly expressed fimbrial gene in the presence of EA of the 16 fimbrial loci [166]. Unpublished data from the Kendall lab suggested that *erf2* is involved in EHEC pathogenesis (Gonyar, unpublished). Because of the high induction of *erf2* and the influence of *erf2* on EHEC pathogenesis, we characterized the chaperone-usher fimbrial locus *erf2*. Previous data from the Kendall lab demonstrated that all the components of the erf2 locus are expressed in three transcriptional units (Gonyar, unpublished). Expression of the *erf2* major subunit (yadN, Z0146) in the presence of EA is EutR-dependent [166]. We performed EMSAs to investigate whether EutR is directly regulating *erf2* expression. EutR did not shift the radiolabeled *erf2* DNA or the negative-control *amp* promoter, but did shift the positive control ler promoter (Figure 4.3A and B). These findings indicate that although *erf2* expression is EutR-dependent, EutR does not directly regulate the expression of *erf2*.

Role of Erf1 and Erf2 in colonization of the murine GI tract

To determine if Erf1 and Erf2 impact host colonization *in vivo*, we performed murine infection experiments. We used a murine colonization model of EHEC infection to measure the relative fitness the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains compared to WT. We performed *in vivo* competition assays by infecting mice with WT $\Delta lacZ$ and the

96

 $\Delta erf1$ or $\Delta erf2$ mutant strain at a ratio of 1:1 and measured colonization by bacterial shedding in the feces. When infected with WT and the $\Delta erf1$ strain, significantly more WT than $\Delta erf1$ were being shed in the feces from day 5 post infection to the day of euthanasia (Figure 4.4A). At the day of euthanasia, the competitive indices of WT and $\Delta erf1$ compared in the feces and the colon or in the feces and the cecum were not significantly different (Figures 4.5 and 4.6A). This data validates our use of fecal shedding as a measure of EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract and indicate that Erf1 contributes to EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract.

We sought to further characterize the contribution of Erf1 to EHEC colonization by assessing EHEC colonization in the lumen, mucus, and epithelial layer of the colon. We hypothesized that Erf1 influences adhesion of EHEC to the murine epithelium, and that we would observe more severe differences in colonization between WT and the $\Delta erf1$ strain in the colonic epithelium as compared to the lumen. To assess colonization of the colonic compartments, we performed competition experiments with WT and $\Delta erf1$ to determined the bacterial burden and competitive indices in the colonic mucus layer and the colonic epithelium at 9 days post infection. This time point was chosen to evaluate colonic compartment colonization when the mutant was recovered at significantly lower levels than WT. In both the colonic mucus and epithelium, significantly less $\Delta erf1$ than WT was recovered (Figure 4.6A). There was no difference in the competitive indices between the colonic mucus and epithelium, the whole cecum and feces, the colonic mucus and the feces, or the epithelium and the feces (Figure 4.6A), indicating that the ratio of WT to $\Delta erf1$ was consistently observed in the lumen, mucus, and tissue

of the colon and cecum. Thus, the higher proportion of WT compared to the $\Delta erf1$ strain was consistently observed in the lumen, mucus layer, and tissue of the colon at 9 days post infection. These data suggest that our initial hypothesis regarding the influence of Erf1 on adhesion is incorrect, as expression of Erf1 increases colonization over the $\Delta erf1$ strain at all environments of the GI tract, including the mucus and epithelial layer.

When mice were infected with WT and the $\Delta erf2$ strain, there was a trend towards an increase in colonization by WT compared to $\Delta erf2$ at 9 days post infection (Figure 4.4B). The lack of significance is likely due to one mouse that was highly colonized with the $\Delta erf2$ strain compared to WT and has a CI value of 20.9 at 9 days post infection. It is difficult to determine if this mouse is an outlier in comparison to the group, as we did not assume an even standard deviation. If we assume normal or Gaussian distribution of our values, we can calculate significant outliers using Grubb's test, also known as the extreme studentized deviante method. Analyzing the data assuming a Gaussian distribution or a lognormal distribution we determine that the CI value of 20.9 at 9 days post infection is significantly different from the other 9 data points (p value < 0.01; Z=2.5832, N=10). To support our hypothesis that the colonization of this one mouse was an outlier, we will have to repeat the $\Delta erf2/WT$ competition infections in more mice to obtain a larger sample size.

We observed that at days 1 and 3 post infection, $\Delta erf2$ was shed at significantly higher levels than WT (Figure 4.4B) in our competition infections. At days 5, 7 and 9 post infection, WT and $\Delta erf2$ was shed at similar levels (Figure 4.4B).

This initial increase in Δerf^2 compared to WT could indicate that Erf2 hinders early colonization of the murine GI tract because the Δerf^2 strain is colonizing the GI tract more effectively than WT. Alternatively, the Δerf^2 strain could have altered expression of other fimbrial loci that may aid in initial colonization of the murine GI tract. The increased shedding of Δerf^2 at early time-points could be due to a decreased adherence of Δerf^2 , causing Δerf^2 to be shed more easily. At the day of euthanasia, there was a slight difference in fecal shedding compared to colon colonization at 12 days post infection that appeared to be due to colonization differences in one mouse (Figure 4.5C). However, the competitive indices of WT and Δerf^2 in the feces and the colon at 14 days post infection, or in the feces and the cecum at 9 days post infection were similar (Figures 4.5D and 4.6D), indicating that the difference observed in colon colonization compared to fecal shedding in one mouse at 12 days post infection was likely due to human error (Figure 4.5C).

To further understand the contribution of Erf2 to EHEC colonization, we determined the competitive indices in the colonic mucus and colonic epithelium at 9 days post infection. WT colonized the cecum and feces at significantly higher levels than $\Delta erf2$ (Figure 4.6B) and there was no statistically significant difference in CI values from the colonic mucus (p = 0.0665) and the colonic epithelium (p = 0.0719). There was no difference in relative numbers of WT and $\Delta erf2$ between the mucus and colonic epithelium, the mucus and feces, the colonic epithelium and feces, or the cecum and feces (Figure 4.6B). This indicates that Erf2 does not influence EHEC localization within the colon and suggests that Erf2 contributes to overall colonization of EHEC at early and later stages of infection. It is interesting to note

that the CI values in the mucus, colonic epithelium, and feces appear to be distributed in two clusters. While all conditions in replicate experiments were held the same, one experiment contained mostly high CI values of around 0.7-1.5 CI and the other experiment contained lower CI values of 0.45-0.7. A larger sample size is needed to determine the influence of Erf2 on EHEC colonization at later stages of infection.

Erf1 and Erf2 do not influence early adherence events, but mediate AE lesion formation

We investigated whether Erf1 and Erf2 influence EHEC adhesion to epithelial cells. Data from the Kendall lab demonstrated that Erf1 and Erf2 did not influence EHEC adhesion to HeLa cells, a cervical epithelial cell line commonly used to assess EHEC pathogenesis (Gonyar, unpublished); however, the relevance of EHEC adhesion to HeLa cells for human pathogenesis is unclear. We investigated if Erf1 and Erf2 play a role in EHEC adhesion to Caco-2 cells, a colonic epithelial cell line that undergoes enterocyte differentiation [322]. We did not observe any difference in adhesion to Caco-2 cells in the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains compared to WT (Figure 4.7)

Previous data determined that Erf1 and Erf2 influence AE lesion formation, as the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains formed significantly fewer AE lesions on HeLa cells compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). This previous work also demonstrated that an *erf1* and *erf2* complement plasmid, which contains the fimbrial locus under the control of the endogenous promoter, restores gene expression to WT levels in the
$\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains (Gonyar, unpublished). We further investigated the functionality of the erf1 and erf2 complements to restore EHEC AE lesion formation by performing a fluorescein actin staining (FAS) assay by infecting HeLa cells with WT, the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ mutant strains, and the erf1 and erf2 complement strains. In agreement with previous data, we observed that $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ formed significantly fewer AE lesions on HeLa cells than WT (Figure 4.8A and B). The erf1complement strain showed no difference in AE lesions on HeLa cells as compared to WT and formed significantly more AE lesions when compared to the $\Delta erf1$ strain (Figure 4.8A and B). Similarly, the erf2 complement strain showed no difference in AE lesion formation on HeLa cells as compared to WT and formed significantly more AE lesions as compared to the $\Delta erf2$ mutant strain (Figure 4.8A and B).

To further determine the influence of Erf1 and Erf2 on AE lesion formation, we performed FAS assays with Caco-2 cells, a cell line that is more directly relevant to human epithelial cells. Similar to AE lesion formation on HeLa cells, we observed that the Δ *erf1* and Δ *erf2* strains formed significantly fewer AE lesions on Caco-2 cells than WT (Figure 4.9A and B). These data suggest that while Erf1 and Erf2 do not influence fimbriae-mediated adherence, both fimbrial loci promote AE lesion formation.

Erf1 and Erf2 do not influence in vitro growth

Because previous data from the Kendall lab observed that *erf1* and *erf2* regulate global gene expression in EHEC, we investigated if *erf1* and *erf2* influence EHEC growth (Gonyar, unpublished). Although no genes associated with

metabolism came up in a microarray comparing WT 86-24, $\Delta erf1$, and $\Delta erf2$, we wanted to eliminate growth differences as a possible explanation for differences in AE lesion formation. We grew WT 86-24, $\Delta erf1$, and $\Delta erf2$ in a rich medium and measured growth over time by optical density (O.D.). We did not observe any growth difference from WT in the $\Delta erf1$ or $\Delta erf2$ strains when EHEC was grown aerobically (Figure 4.10A) or anaerobically (Figure 4.10B). These data indicate that any differences observed between WT and the $\Delta erf1$ or $\Delta erf2$ strain are not due to growth defects of the mutant strains.

Erf1 and Erf2 influence LEE expression and Shiga toxin expression

Previous data from the Kendall lab demonstrate that both Erf1 and Erf2 influence virulence gene expression (Gonyar, unpublished). In the $\Delta erf1$ strain, expression of *ler (LEE1), grlA, escC (LEE2), escV (LEE3), eae (LEE5),* and *espA (LEE4)* were significantly decreased compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). Expression of *escC (LEE2)* and *espA (LEE4)* was significantly decreased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). In addition, expression of *stx2a* was significantly decreased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain (Gonyar, unpublished). These data indicate that Erf1 and Erf2 influence EHEC virulence through the regulation of virulence gene expression and suggest that Erf1 and Erf2 act through distinct signaling pathways.

To assess if expression of the *erf1* fimbrial locus must be induced to modulate gene expression of the LEE, we assessed expression of the LEE in WT and the *erf1* mutant strain in the absence of EA. Expression of *ler (LEE1), grlA, escC (LEE2), escV*

(LEE3), eae (LEE5), and espA (LEE4) were unchanged in the Δ erf1 strain compared to WT when EHEC was grown in the absence of the signaling molecule EA (Figure 4.11A). Western blot analysis of the LEE4 encoded secreted protein EspA showed that protein levels were unchanged in the Δ erf1 strain (Figure 4.11B). Overall this suggests that regulation of the LEE by Erf1 requires robust expression of the fimbrial locus, which is induced in the presence of EA [166].

Fimbrial locus in Citrobacter rodentium does not influence LEE expression

The natural-murine AE-lesion forming, pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium* is a commonly used surrogate for EHEC infection. *C. rodentium* does contain a fimbrial locus (*ROD_22311-ROD_22341*, ICC168 genome) that was identified as similar to the *erf1* fimbrial locus based on gene organization in the locus and fimbrial class, as both EHEC *erf1* and the *C. rodentium* fimbrial locus are chaperone-usher γ₄ fimbriae. However, regulation of the LEE by *C. rodentium*-encoded fimbrial locus is not conserved (Figure 4.12A and B). This is likely due to a high degree of sequence dissimilarity [323]. At the protein level the major subunit, chaperone, usher, and minor subunit of EHEC and *C. rodentium* were 68%, 77%, 79%, and 50% identical; however, at the sequence level the fimbrial loci from EHEC and *C. rodentium* could not be aligned using BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool).

loc3 does NOT influence virulence gene expression

Next, we wanted to assess if fimbrial regulation of EHEC virulence traits is conserved among other EHEC fimbriae. We decided to investigate fimbrial locus 3 (*sfm*; *Z0686-Z0693*, EDL933 genome; *ECs0592-ECs0597*, Sakai genome), which encodes a putative chaperone-usher fimbriae. Expression of the major subunit (*sfmA*, *Z0686*) was significantly increased during growth with EA compared to growth without EA [166]. Because there is no data concerning the role of *loc3* in EHEC, we characterized *loc3* by RT-PCR to confirm that all the genes necessary to form a functional fimbriae are expressed. RT-PCR demonstrated that *loc3* is expressed as four transcripts: *Z0686-Z0688* (major subunit and chaperone), *Z0689* (usher), *Z0690-Z0691* (tip adhesin and minor subunit), and *Z0693* (regulator) (Figure 4.13A and B). These data demonstrate that all components of *loc3* are expressed and suggests that Loc3 forms a functional fimbriae structure.

Next, we wanted to explore the influence of *loc3* on expression of the *LEE* because of the previously determine role of *erf1* and *erf2* on LEE expression. We performed qRT-PCR on representative genes encoded in the LEE and saw no difference in expression when comparing WT to the $\Delta loc3$ strain (Figure 4.14A). This lack of LEE regulation was further confirmed by Western blot analysis of EspA, a LEE-encoded protein (Figure 4.14B). We also assessed if Loc3 has a role in Shiga toxin expression by measuring transcription. Transcription of *stx2a* was unchanged in the $\Delta loc3$ strain compared to WT (Figure 4.14C), further indicating that Loc3 does not regulate the expression of virulence genes. These data demonstrate that not all EHEC fimbriae can modulate virulence gene expression in EHEC.

Global role of Erf1 and Erf2 in EHEC gene regulation

To further determine the role of Erf1 and Erf2 in EHEC gene regulation, Laura Gonyar performed a microarray with WT EHEC and the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ mutant strains. Our collaborators analyzed the microarray data and we verified expression of select genes by qRT-PCR. We chose to validate the expression of transcriptional regulators because we hypothesized that these transcriptional regulators may be involved in modulating virulence gene expression in response to Erf1 and Erf2 expression. Expression of *pvrl*, a regulatory subunit of aspartate carbamovltransferase, was significantly increased in the $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT (Figure 4.15A). The Ecp fimbrial locus regulator, *ecpR*, was significantly decreased in expression in $\Delta erf1$, as was the major Ecp fimbrial subunit, vaqZ(Figure 4.15A). Expression of *chaB*, predicted regulatory of cation transport, and *nadR*, a transcriptional repressor and kinase, were significantly increased in the *∆erf2* strain compared to WT (Figure 4.15B). The regulator *ecpR* of the Ecp fimbrial locus, was significantly decreased in expression in $\Delta erf2$ as compared to WT (Figure 4.15B). Expression of *fliA*, sigma factor σ^{28} , which controls expression of genes involved in cell motility, is significantly increased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain compared to WT (Figure 4.15B). These data demonstrate that Erf1 and Erf2 influence the expression of genes encoded outside of the *LEE* and further suggest that Erf1 and Erf2 act through distinct signaling pathways because they exhibit different patterns of global gene expression.

105

Investigation of potential regulatory intermediates to Erf1 and Erf2 regulation of the LEE

One potential mechanism for Erf1 and/or Erf2 regulation of the LEE is through a signaling intermediate or intermediates, which would modulate LEE expression in response to Erf1 and/or Erf2. We hypothesized that the fimbriae may be signaling through a two-component system, a mechanism that has been demonstrated to regulate gene expression in other pathogens [324, 325]. Twocomponent systems are composed of a histidine kinase that is located in the inner membrane and a response regulator that resides in the cytoplasm [326]. The histidine kinase is regulated by an environmental stimulus and then activates the response regulator to promote or inhibit gene expression. Two-component systems are typically autoregulated, such that when the response regulator is activated, it promotes expression of its own gene and its partner histidine kinase [327]. To test the hypothesis that Erf1 and/or Erf2 is modulating gene expression through a twocomponent system, we assessed the expression of various components of different two-component systems, under the assumption that activation of any twocomponent system would lead to differential expression of the genes encoding that system. We measured expression of *baeR*, the response regulator of BaeRS which is involved in response to envelope stress and is auto-regulated, *cpxP*, the negative regulator of CpxRAP a system involved in envelope stress, and *uhpA* and *uhpB*, the response regulator and histidine kinase of UhpABC which is involved in the regulation of hexose phosphate uptake [328, 329]. Expression of *baeR* was unchanged in both the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains compared to WT (Figure 4.16A and

B). In $\Delta erf1$, expression of cpxP was unchanged, but expression of uhpA and uhpB were significantly decreased compared to WT (Figure 4.16A). In $\Delta erf2$, expression of uhpA and uhpB were unchanged, but expression of cpxP was significantly increased (Figure 4.16B). Expression of casA, a component of the Cas complex, which is upregulated by BaeR, was unchanged in the $\Delta erf2$ strain compared to WT (Figure 4.16B) [330]. In addition, protein levels of RpoS, a sigma factor σ^{38} that regulates genes in response to stress, were unchanged in the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains (Figure 4.16C and D). Overall this data suggest that Erf1 regulation of the LEE does not involve BaeRS, CpxRAP, and RpoS pathways; however based on expression data, UhpABC could be a regulatory intermediate for Erf1-mediated LEE regulation. In regards to Erf2 regulation of the LEE, it is likely not occurring through UhpABC, BaeRS, CpxRAP or RpoS.

Because of the decrease in expression of *uhpA* and *uhpB* in the *Aerf1* strain, we investigated the potential function of UhpABC in regulation of the LEE. We performed qRT-PCR of the LEE-encoded genes *ler* and *espA* in WT and *AuhpABC* strains and observed that expression was unchanged (Figure 4.17A). Protein levels of the secreted protein EspA were unchanged between WT and *AuhpABC* (Figure 4.17B). Expression of Shiga toxin, *stx2a*, was unchanged in *AuhpABC* compared to WT (Figure 4.17C). This indicates that UhpABC does not regulate the expression of virulence genes and is not the regulatory intermediate linking Erf1 expression to LEE regulation.

Not all components of Erf2 are necessary to regulate virulence gene expression

Previous studies have demonstrated that fimbriae and flagella can function as mechanosensors to induce virulence traits in pathogens [324, 331, 332]. To determine if the Erf2 fimbrial structure is necessary to regulate the expression of virulence traits, we complemented the $\Delta erf2$ strain with the usher alone (*htrE*) or the chaperone and major subunit (*yadN* and *ecpD*), both of which will be unable to form Erf2 fimbrial surface structures. We evaluated EspA protein levels and determined that expression of secreted and cellular levels of EspA were significantly decreased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain, but was complemented by expression of pBAD24:*ChpSub* (pBAD24::*Chaperone Major Subunit, yadN* and *ecpD*) and pBAD24:Usher (pBAD24::Usher, htrE) (Figure 4.18A and B). As we can make similar conclusions from secreted and cellular levels of EspA, we use cellular levels of EspA in future experiments. This indicates that the entire Erf2 fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate expression of the LEE and suggests that there may be two pathways to mediating LEE expression, one through the usher alone and another through the chaperone and major subunit.

We next wanted to test whether the usher (*htrE*) or the chaperone and major subunit (*yadN* and *ecpD*) impacted Shiga toxin expression. As previously described, expression of Stx2a was increased in $\Delta erf2$ in comparison to WT (Figure 4.18C). Complementation of $\Delta erf2$ with pBAD24:*ChpSub* (pBAD24::*Chaperone Major Subunit, yadN* and *ecpD*) did not change Stx2a levels as compared to $\Delta erf2$ (Figure 4.18C). However, complementation of $\Delta erf2$ with pBAD24:*Usher* (pBAD24::*Usher*, *htrE*) reduced Stx2a to WT levels (Figure 4.18C). These results suggest that the entire Erf2 fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate Shiga toxin expression.

The entire Erf1 fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate expression of the LEE

Previous data from the Kendall lab demonstrated that expression of the LEE could be complemented in $\Delta erf1$ by expression of *erf1* on a low-copy number plasmid, under the control of its endogenous promoter (Gonyar, unpublished; Figure 4.6). To determine if the entire Erf1 fimbrial locus is necessary to regulate the expression of virulence traits, we complemented the $\Delta erf1$ strain with the usher (*yehB*), the chaperone alone (*yehC*), or the chaperone and major subunit (*yadN* and *ecpD*). We also included an inducible *erf1* complement plasmid, which contains the entire *erf1* locus under the control of an inducible promoter. Expression of secreted EspA was decreased in $\Delta erf1$ compared to WT, but was complemented back to WT levels by expression of pBAD24:ChpSub (pBAD24::Chaperone Major Subunit, yehDC), pBAD24:Usher (pBAD24::Usher, yehB), and pBAD24::erf1 (entire erf1 locus, yehDCB) and Z3276) (Figure 4.19A). Similarly, intracellular levels of EspA were decreased in $\Delta erf1$ compared to WT, but was complemented back to WT levels by expression of pBAD24:*Chp* (pBAD24::*Chaperone*, *yehC*), pBAD24:*Usher* (pBAD24::*Usher*, *yehB*), and pBAD24::erf1 (entire erf1 locus, yehDCB and Z3276) (Figure 4.19B). Further analysis of these complement strains by qRT-PCR demonstrated that partial complementation is observed in with the pBAD24:ChpSub (pBAD24::Chaperone *Major Subunit, yehDC*) and pBAD24:*Usher* (pBAD24::*Usher, yehB*) complement strains (Figure 4.19C and D). Expression of *ler* was significantly decreased in the

 $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT and was increased in expression by complementation with pBAD24:*ChpSub* (pBAD24:*Chaperone Major Subunit, yehDC*), pBAD24:*Usher* (pBAD24::Usher, yehB), and pBAD24::erf1 (entire erf1 locus, yehDCB and Z3276) as compared to $\Delta erf1$ (Figure 4.19C). However, expression of *ler* was still significantly decreased in all the pBAD24 *\Deltaerf1* complement strains as compared to WT, with pBAD24::erf1 still two fold decreased in ler expression compared to WT (Figure 4.19C). Similar expression was observed with *espA* and the complement vectors. Expression of *espA* was significantly decreased in the $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT and was increased in expression by complementation with pBAD24:*ChpSub* (pBAD24::Chaperone Major Subunit, yehDC), pBAD24:Usher (pBAD24::Usher, yehB), and pBAD24::*erf1* (entire *erf1* locus, *yehDCB* and *Z3276*) as compared to *Δerf1* (Figure 4.19D). In the pBAD24:*ChpSub* (pBAD24::*Chaperone Major Subunit, vehDC*) and pBAD24:Usher (pBAD24::Usher, yehB) complements, expression of espA was still significantly decreased compared to WT, but was restored to WT levels in the pBAD24::*erf1* complement (Figure 4.19D). These data suggest that regulation of the LEE is not occurring through the 5' UTR region of *erf1*, a mechanism of gene regulation seen in *Salmonella Typhimurium* [333]. We can conclude this based on the complement data observed with the pBAD24::erf1 (entire erf1 locus, vehDCB and Z3276) vector which contains the entire *erf1* locus under the control of an inducible promoter, and because the $\Delta erf1$ strain still contains the 5' UTR and 48 base pairs of the first gene in the locus, *yehD* (major subunit, Z3279). Additionally, these data suggest that expression of the entire Erf1 locus is not necessary to fully regulate LEE

expression as expression of just the Erf1 usher and expression of the Erf1 chaperone and major subunit restored LEE expression in the $\Delta erf1$ strain.

Next, we wanted to determine if transport of the Erf1 usher and chaperone to the periplasm were necessary to regulate LEE expression. We deleted the putative signal sequence of the Erf1 usher and chaperone to investigate if the accumulation of fimbrial proteins in the periplasm or outer membrane is involved in regulation of the LEE. Typically fimbrial proteins contain N-terminal signal sequences that allow transport of proteins from the cytoplasm to the periplasm through the Sec secretory pathway [334, 335]. These signal sequences are typically around 20 amino acids and contain an N-terminal region that is positively charged, a middle region of hydrophobic residues, and then a more polar region containing the cleavage site [336-340]. Based on these typical components of a signal sequence, we estimated the cleavage site of the Erf1 chaperone and Erf1 usher to be around 22 amino acids or 66 base pairs downstream the ATG start codon. We constructed complement vectors for the chaperone and usher alone without the putative signal sequence and measured EspA levels. Expression of EspA was increased back to WT levels in the pBAD24:*ChpNoSS* (pBAD24:*Chaperone no signal sequence, vehC* missing the first 66 base pairs) and pBAD24:UshNoSS (pBAD24::Usher no signal sequence, yehB missing the first 66 base pairs) (Figure 4.19E). These data demonstrate that the first 66 base pairs of both the Erf1 chaperone and Erf1 usher are not required to regulate LEE expression, suggesting that trafficking of the chaperone and usher to the periplasm may not be necessary to regulate LEE expression.

To determine if transcription of the Erf1 chaperone or usher is sufficient to regulate expression of the LEE, we constructed complement vectors in pBAD33, a low copy number plasmid that contains an inducible promoter and is lacking a ribosomal binding site [318]. As mentioned in the introduction, the 5' UTR of an mRNA controls fimbrial expression in *S.* Typhimurium [333], therefore we hypothesized that non-coding RNAs encoded within the Erf1 or the mRNA could be modulating expression of the LEE [341]. Genes cloned into the pBAD33 vector should be transcribed but not translated. To verify the lack of translation from the pBAD33 vector, we created a pBADmychis::usher vector containing a His tagged Erf1 usher (*yehB*) and we created a pBAD33::*usher*-mychis vector containing the same usher-mychis sequence from pBADmychis::usher. We observed translation of the Erf1 usher from the pBADmychis vector as measured by detectable his-tagged usher protein by Western blot (Figure 4.20A). We did not observe any translation from the pBAD33 vector, as measured by the lack of usher protein (Figure 4.20A). This indicates that no translation from the pBAD33 vector is occurring and validates our use of the pBAD33 vector to investigate the influence of RNA on gene expression. Next we determined how transcription of the Erf1 chaperone and usher influences LEE expression. We observed that EspA as complemented back to WT levels by expression of pBAD33:*Chp* (pBAD33:*Chaperone, yehC*) and pBAD33:*Usher* (pBAD33::*Usher, yehB*) in the $\Delta erf1$ strain (Figure 4.20B and C). However, the reproducibility of this pBAD33 complement data is unclear. When we introduced a pBAD33 vector with a random DNA sequence (*eutB*, Z3277) in $\Delta erf1$, we observed complementation of EspA back to WT levels in about 50% of the experiments

(Figure 4.20D and E). Because of the inconsistency of the inducible vectors, we decided to look at single fimbrial gene deletions in the Erf1 locus. Utilizing deletion strains will remove the possibility of inconsistencies in our data being due to vector copy number or due to induced expression.

To determine what components of the Erf1 locus are necessary to regulate LEE expression, we created single deletions of the major subunit (Δ major, yehD, Z3279) and minor subunit (Δ minor, Z3276). We observed no difference in EspA expression in the Δ major and Δ minor strains compared to WT (Figure 4.21A-C) indicating that expression of the entire Erf1 fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate the LEE. Next, we created a chaperone deletion strain (Δ chp, yehC, Z3278), which should be unable to form an Erf1 fimbrial structure. We observed that EspA expression was unchanged in Δ chp as compared to WT and expressed significantly more EspA than the Δ erf1 strain (Figure 4.21D and E). Similarly, we created a Δ usher strain and determined that EspA expression was unchanged in the Δ usher strain compared to WT (Figure 4.21F and G).

Next, we investigated if the deletion of two of the four genes in the *erf1* locus influences EspA expression. We created double deletion strains of the usher and minor subunit ($\Delta ush\Delta minor$, *yehB* and *Z3276*, *Z3276*-*Z3277*) and of the chaperone and usher ($\Delta chp\Delta ush$, *yehCB*, *Z3277*-*Z3278*) both of which should be unable to form Erf1 fimbrial surface structures. We measured expression of the major subunit (*yehD*, *Z3279*) and the chaperone (*yehC*, *Z3278*) by qRT-PCR in WT and the $\Delta ush\Delta minor$ deletion strain and determined that expression of *yehD* and *yehC* was unchanged in $\Delta ush\Delta minor$ compared to WT (Figure 4.22A), indicating that any differences observed in the $\Delta ush\Delta minor$ strain are not due to differential expression of *yehD* and *yehC*. Expression of EspA in $\Delta ush\Delta minor$ was 1.5 fold increased over EspA expression in WT (Figure 4.22B and D). EspA expression in $\Delta chp\Delta ush$ was 2 fold increased when compared to WT (Figure 4.22C and D). These data further demonstrate that expression of an Erf1 surface structure is not necessary to regulate the LEE and suggest that deletion of the Erf1 usher causes increased production of the LEE-encoded protein EspA.

We observed that expression of just the Erf1 major and minor subunit, in the $\Delta chp\Delta ush$ deletion strain, is sufficient to regulate LEE expression. We wanted to determine if the converse is also sufficient, so if expression of just the chaperone and usher regulate LEE expression. We created the $\Delta major\Delta minor$ deletion strain (*yehD* and *Z3276*, *Z3279* and *Z3276*) and determined that EspA expression was unchanged in $\Delta major\Delta minor$ compared to WT (Figure 4.22E and F). Overall these data indicate that formation of an Erf1 fimbrial structure is not necessary to regulate the LEE and suggest that multiple, redundant mechanisms may exist within the Erf1 locus to regulate expression of the LEE.

Discussion

Contribution of Erf1 and Erf2 to EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract

In our murine model of EHEC infection, we observed a consistent decrease in shedding of the $\Delta erf1$ strain in comparison to WT EHEC (Figure 4.4), indicating that the $\Delta erf1$ strain is less fit than WT. Competitive indices in the colon and the cecum were comparable to fecal shedding, indicating that CFUs enumerated from fecal

shedding reflects EHEC organ colonization (Figures 4.5 and 4.6). Additionally, competitive indices in the colonic mucus layer and the colonic epithelium were comparable (Figure 4.6), indicating that Erf1 influences overall EHEC colonization. Less adherent bacteria can be cleared from the GI tract by the flow of the luminal contents, which would lead to a decrease in colonization and thus bacterial shedding in the feces over time.

We did not observe any growth differences between WT EHEC, $\Delta erf1$, and $\Delta erf2$ strains under several *in vitro* conditions (Figure 4.10), suggesting that differences in colonization of $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ compared to WT EHEC are not due to growth differences in the murine GI tract. One possibility for the decreased fitness of $\Delta erf1$ compared to WT could be differential expression of other fimbriae or virulence genes in the $\Delta erf1$ strain that make it less fit to colonize the murine GI tract. Nine fimbrial loci are decreased in the $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). Decreased expression of these fimbrial loci in the $\Delta erf1$ strain could influence EHEC adhesion and thus EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract. These fimbriae could target surface molecules expressed in the murine GI tract that are absent from HeLa or Caco-2 cells, as we see no fimbriae-mediated attachment defect in the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains *in vitro* to HeLa or Caco-2 cells (Figure 4.9; Gonyar, unpublished). We could create fimbrial locus deletion strains in these Erf1regulated fimbriae and assess EHEC adhesion. These experiments would determine if any Erf1-regulated fimbriae contribute to fimbrial-mediated adhesion in EHEC.

AE lesion formation has not been demonstrated in murine models of EHEC infection [342], and differences observed in AE lesion formation in $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$

115

compared to WT EHEC may not contribute to colonization differences observed in this study. However, differential regulation of LEE-encoded T3SS, secreted effectors, intimin, or other fimbrial adhesions could influence EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract independent of AE lesion formation. Studies of EHEC infected mice determined that expression of the *LEE5*-encoded adhesin *eae*, otherwise known as intimin, is crucial for EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract [320]. EHEC intimin binds β 1 integrins or nucleolin on the surface of murine enterocytes [81-83, 320]. To test if intimin binding to murine enterocytes is decreased in the $\Delta erf1$ strain, we could perform competition experiments. First we could assess if Δeae is shed at lower levels than WT in a competition experiment. If Δeae displays a colonization defect, we could perform a competition experiment with Δeae and $\Delta eae\Delta erf1$ to determine if Erf1 modulation of intimin (*eae*) is affecting EHEC colonization. We expect to observe no difference in the CI values in a Δeae and $\Delta eae \Delta erf1$ competition experiment, indicating that Erf1 influences EHEC murine colonization through regulation of intimin. Additional future studies could perform competition experiments as described above using a GFP-expression WT EHEC strain and a RFPexpressing $\Delta erf1$ strain. We could then examine adherence patterns by fluorescent microscopy. Alternatively, we could perform single infections of WT and the $\Delta erf1$ strain to determine if colonization differences are still observed. If there is decreased colonization of the $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT, samples of the colon can be taken to examine adherence patterns by transmission electron microscopy. Overall these experiments would determine how Erf1 affects EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract. Regardless of the mechanism, expression of Erf1 is crucial for

EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract, a phenotype that has not been demonstrated for any other characterized EHEC fimbriae.

The $\Delta erf2$ strain displayed increased initial colonization of the murine GI tract compared to WT and then a trend towards a decrease in colonization at 9 days post infection (Figure 4.4). Competitive indices in the colon and the cecum were comparable to fecal shedding, indicating that CFUs enumerated from fecal shedding reflects EHEC organ colonization (Figures 4.5 and 4.6). These data overall indicate that Erf2 expression influences EHEC colonization. The expression of two fimbrial loci were significantly decreased and two fimbrial loci were 2 fold increased, with high variability, in the $\Delta erf2$ strain compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). Differences in colonization could be due to differential expression of other fimbriae or virulence traits in the $\Delta erf2$ strain that aid in the initial colonization of the murine GI tract as described above for $\Delta erf1$.

Influence of Erf1 and Erf2 on EHEC virulence

EHEC contains 16 fimbrial loci, however very little is known about their role and function in EHEC virulence. Fimbriae are thought to mediate bacterial attachment to epithelial cells, other bacterial cells, or to both [313, 343]. Because of the redundant function of some fimbriae, it is difficult to assess their role in colonization and bacterial pathogenesis. The fimbrial loci *erf1*, *erf2*, and *loc3* express all the necessary components to form functional fimbriae through the chaperoneusher pathway (Figures 4.1 and 4.13; Gonyar, unpublished); however, we did not observe any adherence defect in the *erf1* and *erf2* mutant strains (Figure 4.7;

Gonyar, unpublished). This suggests that there are EHEC-encoded fimbriae that perform redundant adherence functions. Another possibility is that the receptors Erf1 and Erf2 adhere to on epithelial cells are not present in our system. Previous studies of Caco-2 cells demonstrated that Caco-2 monolayers do not express all the components of an apical membrane [344-346] and gene expression in Caco-2 cells can be highly variable in response to small differences in culture media [347]. Additionally, surface receptors have variable expression on Caco-2 cells influencing EHEC accessibility to Caco-2 surface receptors [348]. To overcome this obstacle we could assess EHEC adhesion to HT-29 cells, another epithelial cell line that was derived from colonic enterocytes in a patient with colorectal carcinoma, and T-84 cells, an epithelial cell line that was derived from a metastatic site in the lung in a patient with colorectal carcinoma. Similar to Caco-2 cells, T-84 cells exhibit tight junctions and desmosomes when confluent. T-84 cells also express many receptors on the cell surface [349]. However, T-84 and HT-29 cells are both immortalized, highly-passaged cell lines and we may see no difference in EHEC adhesion due to Erf1 and Erf2 target ligands not being expressed. Another method we could use to assess the contribution of Erf1 and Erf2 to EHEC adhesion is to perform assays with primary intestinal epithelial cells [350]. These primary epithelial cells could be derived from the colon of humans or mice to create enteroids or 'mini-guts' that contain crypt, villi, and lumen-like domains [351]. Human-derived enteroids could be used to assess how Erf1 and Erf2 influence EHEC adhesion to primary epithelial cells. In addition, murine-derived enteroids could be used to determine how Erf1 and Erf2 influence EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract. Together, these studies will investigate if Erf1 and Erf2 influence fimbrial-mediated adhesion to epithelial cells.

Despite the lack of an adherence phenotype in the cell lines tested, both Erf1 and Erf2, but not Loc3, activate AE lesion formation through regulation of the LEE by distinct signaling pathways (Figures 4.8, 4.9, 4.14; Gonyar, unpublished). Our data suggest that this defect in AE lesion formation in the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains is not due to a decrease in initial EHEC adherence that then leads to a defect in AE lesion formation, as we saw no difference in adhesion in any cell lines tested (Figure 7; Gonyar, unpublished). Additionally, expression of LEE-encoded genes necessary for the formation of AE lesions are decreased in the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains, suggesting that Erf1 and Erf2 modulate expression of the LEE to influence EHEC AE lesion formation (Figures 4.8, 4.9, 4.18, 4.19, 4.20, 4.21; Gonyar, unpublished).

Mechanism(s) by which Erf1 and Erf2 modulate virulence gene expression

We hypothesize that Erf1 action of the LEE is through the master regulator Ler, as we see a decrease in expression of all 5 LEE operons in the $\Delta erf1$ strain compared to WT (Gonyar, unpublished). Erf1-mediated regulation of the LEE required EA, indicating that increased expression of erf1 is necessary [166]. There are a few examples in the literature regarding fimbrial regulation of gene expression. In *Salmonella* Typhimurium, the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of a fimbrial locus controls the expression of an alternative fimbrial locus [333]. Both the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ mutants contain the 5' UTR and contain between 20-30 base pairs of the first gene in the locus, therefore the 5' UTR is present and transcribed. Additionally, the *Δerf1* strain can be complemented to back to WT with an inducible vector containing the *erf1* locus but not the *erf1* 5' UTR (Figure 4.19). Overall, this suggests that Erf1 and Erf2 do not regulate virulence gene expression through their 5' UTR. Some fimbrial loci encode regulatory proteins that can act on genes located outside of the fimbrial locus, such as PapX from uropathogenic *E. coli* and MrpJ from *Proteus mirabilis* [352, 353]. No regulators are encoded in *erf1* and *erf2* leading us to hypothesize that Erf1 and Erf2 indirectly regulate gene expression and require one or more signaling intermediates.

Erf1 and Erf2 may modulate gene expression by ligand binding. EHEC, as well as other pathogens such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Bacillus subtilis*, use mechanical stress generated from host cell contact to regulate gene expression [324, 331, 332, 354]. In many of these examples, pathogens use contact-dependent mechanisms to regulate gene expression through a two-component system or a cytosolic regulatory protein [324, 325, 355, 356]. Regulation of the LEE does not require the formation of an Erf1 fimbrial structure, as single and double mutants that would be unable to form an Erf1 surface structure do not decrease expression of the LEE (Figure 4.21). Multiple, redundant mechanisms may exist within the Erf1 locus to regulate expression of the LEE because deletion of the major and minor subunit as well as deletion of the chaperone and usher does not decrease LEE expression (Figure 4.21). To better understand what components of Erf1 regulate the LEE, future studies could examine LEE expression in triple deletion strains where the erf1 promoter is expressing only one gene from Erf1. For example, create a $\Delta major \Delta ush \Delta minor$ deletion strain that only expresses the Erf1 chaperone. These

experiments would determine if single components of Erf1 regulate LEE expression and would allow more targeted approaches to assess the contribution of single Erf1 components to LEE regulation.

Based on the data presented, it is unclear if the regulatory activity of Erf1 is through transcription, translation, or translocation of the Erf1 components. As mentioned above, previous studies observed that fimbrial mRNA regulates gene expression [333, 341]. Additionally, in some pathogens cytoplasmic chaperones interact with regulatory proteins to activate gene expression [357-359]. To test if transcription of *erf1*, or if transcription of certain genes encoded in *erf1*, is sufficient to regulate LEE expression site-directed mutagenesis could be performed to create a premature stop codon in the *erf1* gene of interest. Deletion of the putative signal sequence in the *erf1* gene of interest on the chromosome can be done to assess if regulation of the LEE requires just translation of *erf1* or if translocation to the periplasm or outer membrane is required.

Erf2 increased expression of genes only in *LEE2* and *LEE4*, which encode many of the T3SS structural genes [360]. Regulation of only *LEE2* and *LEE4* could be a mechanism for EHEC to increase adherence to the epithelium in a T3SS-dependent manner. Complement data suggests that expression of the entire Erf2 fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate expression of *LEE4*, and that there are two potential regulatory pathways in Erf2 to regulate LEE expression: through expression of the major subunit and chaperone, or through expression of the usher alone (Figure 4.18). Additional studies are needed to verify which components of Erf2 are sufficient to regulate *LEE2* and *LEE4* expression and to determine how *erf2* expression regulates *LEE2* and *LEE4*. To investigate this, we could create single Erf2 component strains and perform site-directed mutagenesis as outlined for Erf1 in the two preceding paragraphs. Overall, these experiments would determine how Erf2 regulates expression of the LEE.

In addition to regulation of the LEE, Erf2 decreases Shiga toxin expression, which may aid in LEE-mediated EHEC adherence (Fig 4.18; Gonyar, unpublished). Expression of the Erf2 usher alone is sufficient to decrease Shiga toxin expression (Fig. 4.18). Further studies are needed to examine the role of CpxRAP in Erf2 regulation of virulence traits expression of *cpxP*, a repressor of CpxRA [361, 362], was two fold increased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain (Fig. 4.16B). CpxRA is involved in the regulation of fimbriae in *E. coli* species by both promoting and inhibiting fimbriae expression and assembly [363-366]. Additionally, CpxR regulates expression of the master regulation of virulence genes in *Shigella* [367], further suggesting that CpxRA may be involved in repressing Shiga toxin expression in WT EHEC in response to Erf2. Additional experiments could assess the expression of *cpxP*, *cxpA*, and *cpxR*, in WT EHEC, the $\Delta erf2$ strain, and the $\Delta erf2$ pBAD24:Usher (pBAD24::Usher, htrE) to determine if repression of cpxRA is occurring in the $\Delta erf2$ strain. Expression of Shiga toxin in a $\Delta erf2\Delta cpxRAP$ strain could be investigated to determine if the increase in Shiga toxin expression in the $\Delta erf2$ strain is due to decreased levels CpxRA. These experiments would assess if the TCS CpxRA is a involved in Erf2 regulation of Shiga toxin production.

The involvement of CpxRA in regulation of the LEE is unclear. Two papers published in 2016 report conflicting data in regards to the involvement of CpxRA in

122

EHEC. One study reports that CpxRA indirectly represses expression of the LEE in response to environmental stimuli [368], while the other reports that CpxRA indirectly activates expression of the LEE [369]. CpxP represses activity of CpxRA [361, 362], suggesting that CpxRA levels are decreased in the $\Delta erf2$ strain. Erf2 regulation of the LEE may involve signaling through CpxRA if CpxRA activates expression of the LEE [369]. To determine the involvement of the CpxRA TCS, we would first need to investigate if Cpx influences LEE expression by creating a $\Delta cpxRA$ strain. If CpxRA activates expression of the LEE is involved in the same signaling pathway by creating a $\Delta erf2\Delta cpxRA$ to assess if there are additive affects on LEE expression.

Altogether, these data further describe the mechanism by which fimbriae regulation the expression of virulence traits in EHEC. Signaling pathways involving fimbriae could represent a way for EHEC to determine its spatial orientation in the GI tract and may be a strategy for EHEC to increase the expression of virulence traits when EHEC is in close proximity or in contact with the host epithelium. Further studies are needed to determine the mechanism by which fimbriae influence gene expression.



Figure 4.1 *erf1* **expression.** (A) Schematic representation of the *erf1* (*Z3276-Z3279*, *yeh*) genetic locus and the adjacent gene *yehE* (*Z3280*) in EHEC. The gene *yehE* (*Z3280*) encodes an unknown ORF, *Z3279* encodes the Erf1 major subunit, *Z3278* encodes the Erf1 chaperone, *Z3277* encodes the Erf1 usher, *Z3276* encodes therErf1 minor subunit. (B) RT-PCR of the *erf1* genetic locus and the adjacent gene *Z3280* (*yehE*). Genomic DNA (gDNA) was used as a positive control and a reaction without RT was used as a negative control. Laura Gonyar assisted with these experiments.



Figure 4.2 *erf1* **promoter.** Primer extension assay of *erf1*. Lanes 1-4 show the *erf1* sequencing ladder. The arrows represent the proximal (P2) and distal (P1) transcription start sites of *erf1*. The promoter sequences of *erf1* are shown with the predicted transcription start sites and -10 and -35 regions.



Figure 4.3 EutR does not bind to the *erf2* **promoter** (A) EMSA of the *ler, erf2* and *amp* promoter region with EutR::MBP. Binding to *amp* is shown as a negative control (B) Darker exposure of the EMSA from (A).



Figure 4.4 Erf1 and Erf2 influence EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract. (A) Colonization fitness of Erf1 assessed by calculating the competitive indices (CI) of WT and Δ *erf1* shed in the feces at the indicated days post infection (dpi). A onesample t-test was used to determine significance comparing to an expected value of 1. A total of 12 mice were infected in three independent experiments. Lines represent the median. (B) Colonization fitness of Erf2, measured as described for (A). **, P≤ 0.005; ***, P≤ 0.0005. Laura Gonyar assisted with these experiments.



Figure 4.5 Bacterial burden comparison between fecal shedding and colon colonization. Competitive indices (CI) were compared on the day of euthanasia between the colon and the feces. CI of $\Delta erf1/WT$ at (A) 12 days post infection (dpi) and (B) 14 dpi. CI of $\Delta erf2I/WT$ at (C) 12 dpi and (D) 14 dpi. Colon and feces CI values were compared using an unpaired t-test and an even standard deviation was not assumed. Lines represent the median. *, P≤ 0.05. ns= not significant. Laura Gonyar assisted with these experiments.



Figure 4.6 Colonization of colonic intestinal compartments. (A) CI of $\Delta erf1/WT$ at 9 dpi in the total cecum, colon mucus, colonic epithelium, and feces. (B) CI of $\Delta erf2/WT$ at 9 dpi in the total cecum, colon mucus, colonic epithelium, and feces. the total cecum and feces. A one-sample t test was used to determine significance comparing to an expected value of 1, and significance is displayed as: *, P ≤ 0.005; ***, P ≤ 0.0005. CI values of the cecum, mucus, epithelium, and feces CI were compared using an unpaired t-test and an even standard deviation was not assumed. When CI values in each compartment were compared, all comparisons were not significant for $\Delta erf1/WT$ and $\Delta erf2/WT$ experiments.



Figure 4.7 Erf1 and Erf2 do not influence EHEC adhesion to Caco-2 cells.

Quantification of total adherence of WT 86-24, $\Delta erf1$, and $\Delta erf2$ to Caco-2 cells after 3 hours of infection. N=4; error bars represent the geometric mean ±SD. ns = not significant.



Figure 4.8 Erf1 and Erf2 activate AE lesion formation to HeLa cells. (A) FAS assay with WT 86-24 transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain complemented with erf1, and the $\Delta erf2$ strain complemented with erf2. HeLa nuclei and bacteria were stained red with propidium iodide, and HeLa cell actin cytoskeleton was stained green with FITC-phalloidin. AE lesions are observed as punctate green structures associated with bacterial cells and are indicated by arrowheads. (B) Number of AE lesions per HeLa cell. Statistical significance relative to WT 86-24 as: *, P ≤ 0.05; ***, P ≤ 0.0005; ns = not significant. Statistical significance relative to $\Delta erf2$ as: +++, P ≤ 0.0005.



Figure 4.9 Erf1 and Erf2 activate AE lesion formation to Caco-2 cells. (A) FAS assay with WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf1* and Δ *erf2* strains. Caco-2 nuclei and bacteria were stained red with propidium iodide, and Caco-2 cell actin cytoskeleton was stained green with FITC-phalloidin. AE lesions are observed as punctate green structures associated with bacterial cells and are indicated by arrowheads. (B) Number of AE lesions per Caco-2 cell. Statistical significance relative to WT 86-24 as: ***, P≤ 0.0005.



Figure 4.10 Erf1 and Erf2 do not affect EHEC growth. WT 86-24, $\Delta erf1$, and $\Delta erf2$ were grown (A) aerobically and (B) anaerobically in DMEM with 10 mM EA. Bacterial growth was measured by $O.D_{.600}$ reading and results are displayed on a logarithmic scale.



Figure 4.11 Erf1 does not influence virulence gene expression in the absence of EA. (A) qRT-PCR of *ler*, *grlA*, *escC*, *escV*, *eae*, and *espA* in WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf1* strains in the absence of EA. (B) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA protein in WT and the Δ *erf1* strain. RpoA is shown as a loading control. ns = not significant.



Figure 4.12 Erf1 does not regulate the LEE in *C. rodentium*. (A) qRT-PCR of *ler, escC, escV, tir,* and *espA* in WT *C. rodentium* (DBS100) and the Δ *erf1* strains. (B) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA protein in WT *C. rodentium* and the Δ *erf1* strain. RpoA is shown as a loading control. ns = not significant.



Figure 4.13 *loc3* **expression.** (A) Schematic representation of *loc3* (*Z0686-Z0693*, *sfm*) genetic locus in EHEC. (B) RT-PCR of *loc3*. Genomic DNA (gDNA) was used as a positive control and a reaction without RT was used as a negative control.


Figure 4.14 Loc3 does not influence virulence gene expression. (A) qRT-PCR of *ler, grlA, escC, escV, eae,* and *espA* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta loc3$ strains. (B) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA protein in WT and the $\Delta loc3$ strain. RpoA is shown as a loading control. (C) qRT-PCR of *stx2a* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta loc3$ strains. ns = not significant.



Figure 4.15 Expression of select genes from the Δ *erf1* and Δ *erf2* microarrays.

(A) qRT-PCR of *pyrI*, *ecpR*, and *yagZ* in WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf1* strains. (B) qRT-PCR of *chaB*, *nadR*, *ecpR*, and *fliA* (σ^{28}) in WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf2* strains. *, P \leq 0.05; **, P \leq 0.005.



Figure 4.16 Expression of potential regulatory intermediates for Erf1 and Erf2 regulation of the LEE. (A) qRT-PCR of *baeR*, *cpxP*, *uhpA*, and *uhpB* in WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf1* strains. (B) qRT-PCR of *casA*, *baeR*, *cpxP*, *uhpA*, and *uhpB* in WT 86-24 and the Δ *erf2* strains. (C) Representative Western blot of RpoS (σ ³⁸) in WT and the Δ *erf1* strain. RpoA is shown as a loading control. (D) Quantification of RpoS expression from (C). *, P≤ 0.05; ns = not significant.



Figure 4.17 UhpABC does not influence virulence gene expression. (A) qRT-PCR of *ler* and *espA* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta uhpABC$ strains. (B) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA protein in WT and the $\Delta uhpABC$ strain. RpoA is shown as a loading control. (C) qRT-PCR of *stx2a* in WT 86-24 and the $\Delta uhpABC$ strains. ns = not significant.

Α	EspA secreted protein					
	WT pBAD24	∆ <i>erf2</i> pBAD24	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷ChpSub	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷Usher		
		-			EspA	
		Research	Second Second		BSA	
В	EspA Wo WT pBAD24	CL ∆ <i>erf</i> 2 ⊧ pBAD24	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷ChpSub	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷Usher		
		. Ander	-		EspA	
	-				RpoA	
С	Stx2a W WT pBAD24	CL ∆ <i>erf</i> 2 · pBAD24	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷ChpSub	∆erf2 pBAD24 ∷Usher		
	A yrsh	Engeneration of the	availation a	- 11970	Stx2a	
	And and a				RpoA	

Figure 4.18 The entire Erf2 fimbrial locus is NOT necessary to virulence expression. (A) Representative Western blot of the secreted EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the chaperone and major subunit (*ChpSub, yadN* and *ecpD, Z0151-Z0152*), and the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the usher (*Usher, htrE, Z0150*). BSA is shown as a loading control. (B) Representative Western blot of WCL EspA protein. RpoA is shown as a loading control. (C) Representative Western blot of WCL Stx2a protein. RpoA is shown as a loading control.



Figure 4.19 The entire Erf1 fimbrial locus is NOT necessary for expression of the LEE. (A) Representative Western blot of the secreted EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the chaperone and major subunit (*ChpSub*, *yehDC*, *Z3278-Z3279*), and the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the usher (*Usher*, *yehB*, *Z3277*). BSA is shown as a loading control. (B) Representative Western blot of WCL EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with an empty vector control, the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the chaperone (*Chp*, *yehC*, *Z3278*), and the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with the usher (*Usher*, *yehB*, *Z3277*). RpoA is shown as a loading control. (C) qRT-PCR of *ler* and (D) *espA* in WT 86-24 transformed with an empty

vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the chaperone and major subunit (*ChpSub, yehDC, Z3278-Z3279*), and the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the usher (*Usher, yehB, Z3277*). (E) Representative Western blot of EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the putative signal sequence (*ChpNoSS, yehC, Z3278*), and the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the usher without the putative signal sequence (*Usher, yehB, Z3277*). Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24 as: **, P≤ 0.005; ***, P≤ 0.005; ns = not significant. Statistical significance shown relative to $\Delta erf1$ as: ^, P≤ 0.005; ^^, P≤ 0.005; ^^^, P≤ 0.005.



Figure 4.20 Transcription of certain genes from *erf1* MAY be sufficient to regulate expression of the LEE. (A) Western blot of the Usher::mychis (*yehB*, *Z3277*) from the pBADmychis vector and the pBAD33 vector. (B) Representative Western blot of EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the usher (*Usher*, *yehB*, *Z3277*). RpoA is shown as a loading control. (C) Quantification of EspA expression from (B). (D and E) Two representative Western blots of EspA protein in WT transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with an empty vector control, the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the chaperone (*Chp*, *yehC*, *Z3278*), the $\Delta erf1$ strain transformed with the usher (*Usher*,

yehB, *Z*3706), and the Δ *erf1* strain transformed with a random DNA sequence (*eutB*, *Z*3277). Statistical significance shown relative to WT 86-24 as: **, P≤ 0.005; ns = not significant. Statistical significance shown relative to Δ *erf1* as: ^, P≤ 0.05; ^^, P≤ 0.005.



Figure 4.21 The entire Erf1 fimbrial locus is NOT necessary to expression of the LEE. (A) Representative Western blot of the LEE-encoded EspA protein in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the major subunit deletion strain ($\Delta major$, yehD, Z3279). (B) Western blot of EspA in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the minor subunit deletion strain ($\Delta minor$, Z3276). (C) Quantification of EspA protein levels from (A) and (B). (D) Western blot of EspA in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the chaperone deletion strain (Δchp , Z3278). (E) Quantification of EspA protein levels from (D). For all Western blots, RpoA is shown as a loading control. (F) Western blot of EspA in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the usher deletion strain ($\Delta usher$, Z3277). (G) Quantification of EspA protein levels from (F).



Figure 4.22 Expression of the Erf1 major and minor subunit or of the chaperone and usher is sufficient to regulate expression of the LEE. (A) qRT-PCR of *yehD* (major subunit) and *yehC* (chaperone) in WT and the $\Delta ush\Delta minor$ (usher and minor subunit, *yehB* and *Z3276*). (B) and (C) Western blot of EspA in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the usher and minor subunit deletion strain ($\Delta ush\Delta minor$, *yehB* and *Z3276*, *Z3276-Z3278*) or the usher and minor subunit deletion strain ($\Delta chp\Delta ush$, *yehCB*, *Z3277-Z3278*), respectively. (D) Quantification of EspA protein levels from (B) and (C). (E) Western blot of EspA in WT 86-24, the $\Delta erf1$ strain, and the major subunit and minor subunit deletion strain ($\Delta major\Delta minor$, *yehD* and *Z3276*, *Z3276* and *Z3279*). (F) (D) Quantification of EspA protein levels from (E). RpoA is shown as a loading control.

Deletion	Gene	Deletion	Remaining of	Remaining	5' UTR
strain	being	size	the deletion	of the	present?
name	deleted		gene	deletion	
			upstream	gene	
				downstream	
∆erf1	yehDCB	4777 bp of	54 bp of yehD	15 bp of	Yes
	Z3276	erf1		Z3276	
∆major	yehD	482 of <i>yehD</i>	48 bp of yehD	13 of yehD	Yes
∆minor	Z3276	973 bp of	47 bp of <i>Z3276</i>	15 bp of	Yes
		Z3276		Z3276	
∆chp	yehC	672 of <i>yehC</i>	28 bp of yehC	23 bp of yehC	Yes
∆usher	yehB	2140 bp of	185 bp of yehB	156 bp of	Yes
		yehB		yehB	
∆major	yehD,	478 bp of	52 bp of yehD	13 bp of yehD	Yes
∆minor	Z3276	yehD	47 bp of <i>Z327</i> 6	15 bp of	
		973 bp of		Z3276	
		Z3276			
∆chp	yehCB	3220 bp of	None. (missing	9 bp of <i>yehB</i>	Yes
∆ush		yehCB	10 bp of the		
			39 bp		
			intergenic		

Table 4.1 Size of deletions in the Erf1 fimbrial mutants chart

			region of		
			yehDC)		
∆ush	yehB,	3474 bp of	41 bp of <i>yehB</i>	11 bp of	Yes
∆minor	Z3276	yehB/Z3276		Z3276	

Chapter Five: Conclusions and Future Directions

Summary

EA regulates the expression of virulence traits including the LEE, Shiga toxin, and fimbriae [109, 166]; however, biochemical evidence for these interactions has been lacking. We demonstrated that the EA-dependent regulatory protein EutR, directly binds to the *ler* promoter to activate transcription of the LEE. Furthermore, we determined that EA does not regulate the expression of virulence traits in enteropathogenic *E. coli*. Additionally, we characterized the function of EtrB, a protein regulated by QseA that is not involved in EA signaling, as a regulator of virulence gene expression. EtrB activates the expression of 46 genes including the LEE, through direct regulation of *ler* and non-LEE encoded effectors. EtrB also functions to repress the expression of 70 genes including fimbrial genes and genes located in the ETT2. These findings indicate that EtrB plays a more global role in EHEC gene regulation including factors that are important for EHEC host adaptation and pathogenesis.

EA induces the expression of 15 of the 16 encoded fimbrial loci [166]. Two EHEC fimbrial loci, Erf1 and Erf2, influence AE lesion formation and Shiga toxin production (Gonyar, unpublished); however, the mechanism underlying fimbrial regulation of virulence traits in EHEC was lacking. We demonstrated that Erf1 and Erf2 contribute to colonization of the murine GI tract; however, we did not observe any adherence defect in the *erf1* and *erf2* mutant strains. We hypothesize that the decreased fitness of the $\Delta erf1$ and $\Delta erf2$ strains is not caused by a lack of Erf1- or Erf2-mediated fimbrial adherence but is due to differential regulation of LEEencoded T3SS, secreted effectors, intimin, or other fimbrial adhesions that influence EHEC colonization of the murine GI tract. We also demonstrated that regulation of the LEE and of Shiga toxin does not require formation of an Erf1 or Erf2 fimbrial structure on the surface. These data indicate that components of the *erf1* and *erf2* fimbrial loci are sufficient to regulate virulence gene expression. Furthermore, these data redefine the function of fimbrial loci as more than just adhesins and suggest a novel mechanism for fimbrial regulation of virulence traits. Overall these findings in EHEC expand our understanding of signaling molecules that contribute to the regulation of virulence traits in EHEC (Figure 5.1).

Coordination of EHEC metabolism and virulence

Nutrient utilization and signaling are important cellular processes for pathogens to establish infection and cause disease [370]. Our work described the first mechanistic studies of EutR gene regulation and determined a novel role for EutR in EHEC pathogenesis [110]. The regulation of virulence traits through EA is independent of EA metabolism [109]. However, it is unclear how EA coordinates both metabolism and virulence regulation to enhance EHEC pathogenesis. It is likely that EHEC exploits EA as a signal to coordinate metabolism and virulence, thereby enhancing EHEC colonization and pathogenesis, similar to the GI pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium [228]. Additionally, EHEC utilizes other host-derived metabolites such as D-serine, fucose, biotin, and glucose [114, 121, 286, 371-373] to aid in metabolic competition and virulence gene expression. We hypothesize that EA metabolism may be important for EHEC nutrient competition with the commensal microbiota in the lumen while EA regulation of virulence is important for EHEC colonization of the epithelium. To test this, we could use an infant rabbit model to study EHEC infection [145, 374]. We would assess colonic colonization and AE lesion formation in competition experiments between WT/ $\Delta eutR$, WT/ $\Delta eutB$, $\Delta eutB/\Delta eutR$ (the $\Delta eutR$ strain cannot sense EA and the $\Delta eutB$ stain cannot catabolize EA). If EA metabolism is important for EHEC competition with the microbiota, we expect that WT would outcompete $\Delta eutR$ and $\Delta eutB$ in both the WT/ $\Delta eutR$ and WT/ $\Delta eutB$ competitions. We would further expect that the $\Delta eutR$ strain would be reduced in AE lesion formation and association with the epithelium in comparison to the $\Delta eutB$ strain in the $\Delta eutB/\Delta eutR$ competition, indicating that EA regulation of virulence, not metabolism, is important for EHEC colonization at the epithelium. To differentiate between $\Delta eutB$ and $\Delta eutR$ strains in the GI tract in a competition experiment, we could create a constitutively GFP-expressing $\Delta eutB$ strain and a constitutively RFP-expressing $\Delta eutR$ strain.

We demonstrated that EutR directly binds to target DNA sequences to regulate expression. However, the binding kinetics of EutR are currently unknown. Studying the binding affinity of EutR to target promoters involved in EA metabolism and EHEC virulence may further reveal how EA metabolism and virulence in EHEC are coordinated [375-377]. The concentration of EA in the human GI tract is currently unknown. A study of the bovine intestinal contents measured the concentration of free EA at 2 mM [224]. Determining the concentration of free EA present in the different colonic compartments of the human GI tract (lumen, mucus, epithelium), with the *in vitro* binding kinetics assay, would provide information as to how EA signaling modulates gene expression through EutR-dependent and independent mechanisms. Differential binding of EutR to genes involved in metabolism or virulence may coordinate virulence and metabolic gene expression in EHEC. Together, these studies would further our understanding of the link between nutrient metabolism and virulence regulation.

Our work identified the role of the transcriptional factor EtrB in the regulation of EHEC virulence traits, including AE lesion formation, fimbriae, and metabolism. The effect of EtrB regulation on metabolism and the role this plays in EHEC pathogenesis is currently unclear. EtrB is encoded within the ETT2 pathogenicity island. The ETT2 is present in a majority of *E. coli* strains and in all strains except for enteroaggregative *E. coli* 042, the ETT2-encoded T3SS is incomplete due to frameshift mutations in structural genes [206]. The ETT2 is located on the same chromosomal position, the intergenic region of *yaeG-glyU*, in all strains suggesting that ETT2 was acquired in an ancestral *E. coli* strain and has become degenerate [206]. The presence of ETT2 in commensal strains suggests that it was likely involved in host colonization in a symbiotic relationship or in survival in the external environment [378-380]. We determined that EtrB modulates the expression genes involved in threonine, serine, and tryptophan metabolism and transport, maltose transport, and allantoin utilization [119]; however, all of these products are utilized by commensal *E. coli* [381-386]. Therefore, we hypothesize that EtrB regulation of metabolism is a shared trait of EtrB in *E. coli* species [387k390]. We could test this hypothesis by determining the impact of EtrB on metabolism in other *E. coli* strains such as MG1655, a commensal *E. coli* strain that contains a non-functional ETT2-encoded T3SS, and O42, a strain of the pathogen

enteroaggregative *E. coli* strain that contains an ETT2-encoded T3SS that is predicted to be functional [206].

The effect of EtrB on metabolism could be due to indirect targeting of another pathway by EtrB. This could be tested by performing CHiP-seq to assess global binding targets of EtrB. If EtrB is directly regulating metabolism, we could mutate the binding sites of EtrB in the promoter regions to assess how EtrBregulation of that metabolic pathway affects EHEC growth. If EtrB regulation of metabolism is unimportant for EHEC pathogenesis as we predicted, then we expect that mutation of the EtrB binding sites involved in metabolism will have no effect on EHEC fitness in the GI tract.

Overall, these studies will further our understanding of the link between metabolism and virulence regulation in pathogens. Coordination of metabolism and virulence in response to the nutrient environment is critical for pathogen niche recognition. Furthering our understanding of host-pathogen interactions could lead to novel therapeutic strategies that would selectively target specific pathogens to affect both growth and virulence. One strategy is to target pathways involved in the expression of virulence traits [391, 392]. For example, we could develop a small molecule to selectively inhibit EutR preventing the activation of virulence gene expression. A similar molecule could be developed in regards to EtrB; however, we would need to verify that EtrB is not an important regulator of metabolism in commensal *E. coli*.

155

Hierarchy and the spatio-temporal activation of regulators in EHEC

The expression of virulence traits is energetically expensive and should only occur at a suitable niche within the host. Pathogens have evolved complex pathways to coordinate virulence gene expression at precise locations [393]. Our work describes multiple mechanisms that EHEC utilizes to regulate virulence traits, focusing on regulation of the LEE and thus AE lesion formation (Figure 5.1). However, very little is known about the hierarchy of virulence gene regulation in EHEC. Previous studies have begun to characterize the transcriptional regulatory networks in *E. coli* by identifying the hierarchy underlying transcriptional regulation [376, 394, 395]. In *E. coli*, it is common for a group of genes to be involved in a complex regulatory cascade involving multiple transcription factors [396]. However, these studies have not investigated the hierarchy of transcription factors regulating virulence gene expression in EHEC.

To begin to assess the interplay between EutR, QseA, EtrB, and the Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial loci in regards to regulation of the LEE, we could determine the global binding targets of EutR, QseA, and EtrB by CHiP-seq [397, 398]. This will define if there is a hierarchy of EutR, QseA, and EtrB in the regulatory cascade(s) of EHEC by providing an unbiased method of assessing if these transcription factors act upstream of other transcriptional regulators. We predict that when EHEC is grown anaerobically, we will observe EutR binding the *qseA* promoter region, QseA binding the *etrB* and *qseA* promoter region, and EtrB binding the *etrB* promoter region leading to a clearly defined signaling pathway and hierarchy of regulation. Another possibility is that these regulatory proteins act antagonistically to each other by inhibiting binding to the target LEE promoter. For example, EutR binding to the *ler* promoter region could inhibit binding of EtrB. QseA binds both the proximal and distal *ler* promoters immediately upstream of the -35 promoter elements [46]. EutR binds upstream of the -35 proximal *ler* promoter region [119]. The QseA and EutR binding sites in the proximal *ler* promoter are separated by 34 basepairs and do not appear to overlap, suggesting that both EutR and QseA could potentially bind the *ler* promoter region. An increased understanding of how EutR, QseA, and EtrB promote gene expression would help determine if these regulatory proteins can act synergistically. We could perform *in vitro* transcription assays using purified EutR, QseA, and EtrB to determine if the presence of multiple regulator proteins increases transcription of *ler*.

It is also possible that these regulators are expressed under different conditions, in different spatial locations within the GI tract, and/or at different times during infection and do not form a signaling cascade. To investigate the spatial activation of various transcription factors, we can utilize animal models of EHEC infection [399, 400]. For assessment of *erf1* and *erf2* expression, we can use our previously described model for EHEC-murine infection. For EutR, QseA, and EtrB, we can use the previously described infant rabbit model of infection. The spatial activation of regulators can be determined by assessing reporter expression in cross-sections of the colon. We could create an EHEC expression strain that contains the promoter region of *eutR* fused to CFP, the promoter region of *qseA* fused to YFP, and the promoter region of *etrB* fused to RFP to determine if there is overlap in the

expression of these transcription factors. Previous studies have used CFP, YFP, and RFP reporters together to assess gene regulation with minimal excitation emission spectra overlap [401, 402].

Another method to assess the hierarchy of EutR, QseA, EtrB, and the Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial loci in LEE regulation is to create multiple deletion strains to determine if these regulators act in the same regulatory pathway. For example, we could create a $\Delta eutR\Delta etrB$ strain and determine LEE expression by qRT-PCR and by measuring AE lesion formation during HeLa cell infection. If the $\Delta eutR\Delta etrB$ strain has decreased LEE expression compared to $\Delta eutR$ and $\Delta etrB$, this suggests that EutR and EtrB regulate the LEE through independent pathways. By creating different deletion combinations of EutR, QseA, EtrB, and the Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial loci, we can assess how these regulators interact with each other. In addition, we can further study potential feed forward loops that control the expression of virulence traits, a mechanism used to increase the activation of a target gene in response to stimulus [403, 404]. Investigating the phenotype of $\Delta qseA \Delta etrB$ would determine if QseA and EtrB act together in a feed forward loop, as hypothesized in Chapter 3, to amplify activation of the LEE. If OseA and EtrB are acting in a feed forward loop, we expect the $\Delta qseA \Delta etrB$ strain to have decreased LEE expression compared to the $\Delta qseA$ and $\Delta etrB$ single deletion strains. If there is no additive effect of the $\Delta qseA\Delta etrB$ deletion, this would indicate that QseA and EtrB are not in a feed forward loop and may indicate that they regulate the LEE at different times during EHEC infection.

One difficulty in using multiple deletion strains is that we may observe additive effects in the double mutant that are due to differential regulation of other

158

genes. For example, QseA is a global regulator of gene expression in EHEC [46, 214]. QseA and EtrB may function in the same LEE activation pathway but the $\Delta qseA\Delta etrB$ double mutant might display decreased LEE expression in comparison to the $\Delta qseA$ or $\Delta etrB$ mutant strains because of the influence of QseA on other LEE regulators. As an alternative approach, we could mutate the binding site in the *ler* promoter region for one regulator of interested, such as QseA, in both WT EHEC and a mutant background, such as $\Delta etrB$. The WT EHEC with the mutated binding site should have decreased *LEE* expression, but no off target effects associated with the $\Delta qseA$ mutant strain. We can then assess *LEE* expression in the $\Delta etrB$ mutant strain with the mutated QseA binding sequence in the *ler* promoter, to determine if QseA and EtrB have linear or parallel effects on virulence gene expression. These experiments would define the potential hierarchy regulation of the transcription factors EutR, QseA, and EtrB.

Increasing our understanding of the complex mechanisms underlying transcriptional regulation will provide novel information regarding virulence signaling cascades. We can utilize our new understanding of transcriptional regulatory networks and the hierarchal control of virulence gene expression to create prediction models for regulators and how they may influence bacterial pathogenesis [405, 406]. This will aid in the development of novel therapeutic targets or vaccine development by narrowing the number the potential targets [389, 407].

One limitation of our work characterizing EHEC virulence regulation is the lack of data concerning the spatio-temporal activation of EutR, QseA, EtrB, and the

Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial loci. Different regulators may be activated at different times during infection or in different locations within the GI tract, such as in the ascending colon compared to the transverse colon [408-412]. EHEC colonizes the colon, predominantly in the ascending and transverse colon as suggested by the predominance of hemorrhagic colitis pathology [147, 413]. The concentration and localization of EA in the human colon has not been measured, but is found at mM levels in the bovine intestinal contents [224]. Free EA is present in the GI tract from the turnover and subsequent breakdown of host enterocytes and the microbiota, as well as from the host diet [242, 243, 317, 414]. The concentration of EA in the lumen is high enough to support pathogen growth [224, 225]. We hypothesize that utilization of EA in the lumen provides a competitive growth advantage for EHEC and EA near the intestinal epithelium acts as a signaling molecule to activate virulence gene expression.

QseA is involved in the epinephrine/quorum sensing pathway to regulate the expression of virulence genes [46, 214]. We determined that *etrB* expression is directly regulated by QseA [119], suggesting that EtrB is involved in this signaling cascade. The temporal activation of virulence gene expression in response EA and epinephrine during EHEC infection is unknown. Epinephrine is present in the human GI tract, but the exact concentrations are unknown [415]. A study indicated that epithelial cells could secrete hormones such as epinephrine [416]. Another possibility is that epinephrine is released from the bloodstream during disruption of the intestinal epithelium in the onset of EHEC-associated hemorrhagic colitis [233, 417]. We hypothesize that during infection EHEC first senses free EA produced by

the intestinal epithelium resulting in expression of the LEE. Over the course of infection as the intestinal epithelium becomes more disrupted, epinephrine is released into the gastrointestinal tract leading to increased activation of the LEE. Using fluorescent reporters genes, we could monitor the expression of multiple virulence regulators over time to determine when each regulator is expressed and if certain regulators are expressed concurrently. We could use quantitative time-lapse microscopy paired with fluorescent reporters to observe the temporal activation of regulators in EHEC. This could be performed *in vitro* under a variety of conditions including pure culture growth or with EHEC infection of epithelial cells.

These studies would further define the regulatory networks underlying virulence in EHEC by assessing the spatio-temporal activation of virulence regulators. Understanding when pathogens encounter various molecules during infection and how this affects virulence would lead to a greater understanding of bacterial pathogenesis and the host environment. Additionally, this work could have broader implications for how pathogens utilize multiple environmental cues to colonize the host and cause disease.

Function of regulators in other pathogenic E. coli species

Pathogens have evolved complex signaling pathways to regulate the expression of virulence traits [418-421]. In many cases, these regulators have evolved from their previous function in a distant ancestor [422-426]. Currently, very little is known about the evolution of regulatory circuits in bacteria [426, 427]. Further understanding the evolution of regulators could lead to a better understanding of virulence regulatory circuits. We can use this information to predict the function of homologous regulators in pathogenic and commensal species. This could also aid in the development of novel therapeutics by eliminating regulatory targets that have effects on the commensal microbiota.

EHEC has maintained the ability to utilize EA as a metabolite and has gained the ability to utilize EA as a signaling molecule to regulate virulence [109, 223, 224]. Our work demonstrates that the AE-lesion forming pathogen EPEC does not use EA as a signaling molecule to activate LEE expression, despite containing the putative EutR binding sequence in the EPEC *ler* promoter [110]. This lack of regulation is likely due to the absence of EutR activation in the presence of EA and B_{12} . The *eut* operon contains a large phage insertion between the *eutB* and *eutC* genes, which encode the ammonia lyase, making EPEC unable to utilize EA as a metabolite [110]. A BLAST comparison of the *eutR* sequence in EHEC and EPEC demonstrate that *eutR* has 99% identical with 10 mismatches in the *eutR* coding sequence (10/1053 mismatched nucleotides, no gaps), 5 of which are located in the DNA binding motif. At the protein level there are only 3 amino acids differences between EPEC and EHEC EutR and none of the changes are located in the DNA binding motif. There is a 98.6% similarity in the 1000 base pairs upstream of *eutR* between EHEC and EPEC (14/1000 mismatched base pairs, no gaps; 13 of the mutations are over 800 nucleotides immediately upstream of the EPEC *eutR* ATG start site). It is unclear if this phage insertion is the reason *eutR* expression in not induced or if it is because the *eutR* promoter region has changed in comparison to EHEC. We hypothesize that the lack of EutR regulation of the LEE in EPEC is due to an inability of EA to induce

expression of *eutR*. To test if EPEC-encoded EutR can induce virulence gene expression in response to EA, we could express EPEC EutR on an inducible plasmid and assess EPEC virulence in the presence and absence of EA and B₁₂. We expect that if the lack of EA regulated virulence gene expression is due to an absence of *eutR* induction then induced expression of EPEC *eutR* on a plasmid should confer the ability of EPEC to respond to the presence of EA.

These data suggest that the role of EutR in metabolism and virulence is different in various *E. coli* lineages. Studies in uropathogenic *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium suggest that EA metabolism and signaling may be a widespread mechanism utilized by select pathogens to respond to the host environment [225, 228, 428]. Future work could explore the function of EutR in other pathogenic *E. coli* species such as enteroaggregative *E. coli*, which utilizes different virulence traits to colonize the GI tract.

The evolution of a bacterial signaling pathway can involve modifications of regulatory proteins changing its target promoters, resulting in the ability to transcribe horizontally acquired genes, such as virulence genes, while retaining transcriptional control of ancestral genes [426, 429, 430]. It is unclear what the function of EtrB is in relation to the ETT2 pathogenicity island it is encoded in. EtrB is a homologue of the *Salmonella* SPI-2 regulator SsrB with a 32% protein similarity [206]. SsrB activates the expression of genes encoded within and outside of the SPI-2 pathogenicity island it is encoded in [52, 431], indicating that EtrB may function in a similar capacity to regulate the ETT2 as well as genes located outside the ETT2. The ETT2 in enteroaggregative *E. coli* strain 042 is predicted to encode a functional

secretion system, which provides a system to potentially study the function of ETT2 as a type III secretion system and assess the role of the transcription factor EtrB in relation to the intact ETT2 [206, 432].

To further assess the function of EtrB, we could study EtrB in other pathogenic *E. coli* species with a degenerate ETT2, such as in the Shiga toxinproducing *E. coli* strain 0103:H25 [208, 433, 434]. Analysis of the function of EtrB in the non-LEE-encoding, Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* 0103:H25 would provide more information about the function of EtrB in other *E. coli* lineages and could provide insight into potentially conserved functions of EtrB, such as the regulation of metabolism. To further determine whether the function of EtrB is different in various *E. coli* species, we could study the function of EtrB in the laboratory strain MG1655. Comparing the global targets of EtrB in EHEC [119], *E. coli* 0103:H25 (Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli*), and *E. coli* MG1655 (laboratory strain), which all contain a degenerate ETT2, and *E. coli* 042 (enteroaggregative *E. coli*), which contains a functional ETT2, could provide information as to the previous function of EtrB in relation to the ETT2 and how the function of EtrB has changed in different strains of *E. coli*. We could determine the EtrB binding sequence in EHEC, *E. coli* 0103:H25, E. coli MG1655, and E. coli 042 to assess how EtrB and its binding site has changed in different *E. coli* species.

Our work has demonstrated that EHEC fimbriae regulate virulence traits including Shiga toxin and the LEE. Erf1 and Erf2 represent novel mechanisms in *E. coli* to regulate virulence gene expression and could represent a way to ensure hierarchical expression of pathogenic traits in EHEC. Fimbriae in other pathogens

such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Neisseria meningitidis*, modulate gene expression; however, most studies have focused on how fimbriae-mediated mechanical stress associated with attachment modulates gene expression [324, 354-356]. Our work suggests that expression of certain fimbrial components can modulate gene expression. Many pathogens encode fimbriae, including other pathogenic *E. coli* strains [313, 343, 435, 436]. The regulation of bacterial gene expression by components of a fimbrial locus could be a conserved mechanism among bacterial pathogens to coordinate virulence. Future work could assess the function of fimbriae in other pathogenic *E. coli* species to determine regulation of bacterial gene expression by fimbrial components is a widespread mechanism that has been overlooked.

Mechanisms of fimbrial regulation of EHEC virulence traits

Our work begins to define the mechanism by which Erf1 and Erf2 regulate EHEC virulence traits. We have demonstrated that Erf1 and Erf2 do not play a role in fimbriae-mediated adhesion to epithelial cells in culture, but do influence colonization in a murine model of infection Furthermore, we have determined that expression of Erf1 and Erf2 as surface structures is not necessary to regulate the expression of virulence traits. Figure 5.2 and 5.3 postulate potential mechanisms regarding Erf1 and Erf2 regulation of the LEE and Shiga toxin.

Our first, non-exclusive hypothesis is that expression of Erf1 and Erf2 can still form fimbrial structures in the partial locus deletions, and these fimbrial structures regulates LEE expression. Previous studies have shown that the transport

and assembly machinery of different fimbrial loci can bind fimbrial subunits encoded in other fimbrial loci to form functional fimbriae [205, 437-440]. Therefore, in our deletion strains, Erf1 and Erf2 could potentially still be expressed on the surface and could still regulate virulence gene expression by Erf1 and Erf2 fimbriaemediated binding (Figures 5.2A and 5.3C). Our gene and protein expression experiments were performed in the absence of epithelial cells and we did not observe any clumping or EHEC settling, which might indicate bacterial attachment. However, Erf1 and Erf2 could bind to ligands on EHEC that would then modulate virulence gene expression. To test this hypothesis, we can generate an antibody to the fimbrial major subunit which can be used to determine if Erf1 and Erf2 major subunits are being expressed on the surface of EHEC in a strain that does not express the fimbrial transport and assembly machinery (Erf1: Δ chaperone Δ usher, $\Delta yehC\Delta yehB$; Erf2: $\Delta erf2$ pBAD24::*MajorsubunitChaperone*, *vadN ecpD*). This antibody can be used to identify the alternate transport machinery interacting with the Erf1 and Erf2 major subunit.

Our data suggests another potentially redundant signaling event for Erf1 regulation of the LEE, as shown in Figure 5.2B. We hypothesize that the Erf1 chaperone and usher are exporting fimbrial subunits encoded in a different fimbrial locus to regulate expression of the LEE [205, 437-439]. We can test this hypothesis by tagging the Erf1 chaperone and using the tag to pulldown all proteins associated with the Erf1 chaperone in a strain lacking the Erf1 major and minor subunits (*ΔyehDΔZ3276; ΔmajorΔminor*) [441-443]. Both hypotheses (Figure 5.2A and B) would likely involve one or more regulatory intermediates to mediate LEE expression. To identify regulatory intermediates, we could perform a pulldown with the usher and/or the chaperone, which would identify any direct binding targets. If no proteins are binding the chaperone and usher besides the fimbrial subunits, we can investigate total protein levels by tandem mass spectrometry. This will provide an unbiased approach to identify differentially expressed proteins as potential candidates for regulatory intermediates. To assess if identified proteins are regulator intermediates as opposed to downstream targets, we could delete the gene of interest in WT EHEC and in the *erf1* mutant background and assess virulence gene expression. If the gene of interest is a regulator intermediate, we expect to observe a decrease in virulence gene expression in both the single deletion strain and the deletion in the *erf1* mutant background when compared to WT. Additionally, we expect expression of virulence genes to be comparable in the single gene of interest deletion and the deletion of the gene of interest in the *erf1* mutant background.

It is unclear from our data if the various transport, assembly, and structural components of Erf1 and Erf2 need to be trafficked to the periplasm to affect LEE expression. As another possibility to explain how Erf1 and Erf2 regulate virulence gene expression is that transcription of the Erf1 major and/or minor subunits (Figure 5.2C), transcription of the chaperone and/or usher (Figure 5.2D), transcription of the Erf2 usher, or transcription of the Erf2 chaperone and/or major subunits (Figure 5.3D) could regulate LEE expression. Pathogens encode a large number of small RNAs (sRNA) [444, 445] that regulate virulence traits [446-450]. Additionally, some sRNAs can also encode proteins [451, 452] suggesting that

components of the *erf1* and *erf2* loci could encode both sRNAs and proteins. The Erf1 and Erf2 fimbrial loci could encode small RNAs that influence expression of the LEE and Shiga toxin. To test if the fimbrial mRNA is sufficient to regulate virulence, we could mutate the ribosomal binding site so that specific components of the *erf1* and *erf2* fimbrial loci are transcribed but not translated. This would eliminate potential variability caused by vector copy numbers and artificial induction. As an unbiased approach to identifying a potential RNA regulatory sequence in *erf1* and *erf2*, we could evaluate the RNA transcriptome [453]. Once a target RNA sequence is identified, we could use an aptamer tag to purify RNA-bound proteins from EHEC to identify regulatory intermediates that affect LEE expression [454-456].

It is possible that protein components of the Erf1 and Erf2 loci are mediating LEE expression (Figure 5.2C and D, Figure 5.3 B and D), as opposed to RNA. The literature is lacking in examples concerning the fimbrial usher or chaperone regulating traits; however, fimbriae-mediated signals can be transduced by proteins containing a periplasmic domain [324] suggesting that fimbrial components could function in a similar capacity. To test this, we could delete the signal sequence from the gene of interest, for example with the Erf1 chaperone (*vehC*) and assess the impact on virulence gene expression. If fimbrial components are sufficient to regulate the LEE, we could identify potential regulatory intermediates by crosslinking, co-immunoprecipitating with a tag on the fimbrial component of interest, then performing mass spectrometry. We can also create single expression strains by deleting every gene from the fimbrial locus except for our gene of interest.

168

This will identify which components of Erf1 and Erf2 are sufficient to influence virulence gene expression in EHEC.

We hypothesize that expression of the Erf2 usher (*htrE*) increases EHEC membrane stability, which leads to an increase in LEE expression (specifically LEE2/4) and a decrease in Shiga toxin production (Figure 5.3A) [457]. Alterations in the *E. coli* membrane can induce an SOS response [458]. The protein composition of the EHEC outer membrane is largely unknown [459]. The Erf2 usher could be an integral component of the EHEC membrane and could help maintain the outer membrane stability and integrity. The change in membrane composition in the *erf2* mutant strain could induce an SOS response, leading to increased Shiga toxin production. There are many bacterial outer membrane associated proteins that play an integral role in outer membrane stability [460-464]. To determine if the SOS response is being induced in the *erf2* mutant strain, we can measure *recA* gene expression, which is an accurate of the SOS response [465]. If we do see an induction of *recA* in the *erf2* mutant strain, we can perform further experiments to determine if the membrane composition is altered. To assess the protein composition of the EHEC outer membrane, we could perform mass spectrometry on the EHEC outer membrane, which would determine if the Erf2 usher is an integral outer membrane protein. The function of Erf2 in EHEC membrane stability can be tested by determining the sensitivity of WT EHEC, $\Delta erf2$, and the $\Delta erf2$ pUsher (pBAD24::htrE) complement strain to vancomycin [466]. Changes in EHEC resistance to vancomycin would indicate differences in outer membrane properties and would indicate a role for the Erf2 usher in EHEC membrane homeostasis.

In summary, we anticipate that the experiments described above will provide novel insights into the mechanisms underlying fimbrial regulation of virulence traits in EHEC. Further understanding of these mechanisms will provide insight into how pathogens utilize fimbriae to exhibit hierarchical control over the expression virulence traits.

Implications of this study to the field

We have shown EutR directly modulates the expression of virulence genes including *eutS* and *ler*. Other studies have determined that EA is a critical metabolite and a signal for *Salmonella* Typhimurium disease progression [228]. Together, this suggests that EA signaling may be a conserved strategy used by a diverse group of pathogens to coordinate pathogen host adaptation and virulence during colonization and disease progression.

We identified and characterized the function of a novel regulatory protein, EtrB, encoded in the cryptic ETT2 locus. Notably, we demonstrated that EtrB influences the expression of EHEC virulence traits. EtrB directly activates expression of the LEE, activates the expression of non-LEE encoded effectors, and represses expression of ETT2-encoded genes, genes involved in metabolism, and the fimbrial locus 11. Our findings demonstrate mechanistically how ETT2-encoded regulators influence bacterial pathogenesis. The presence of EtrB in other pathogenic *E. coli* species indicates that EtrB could be a widespread regulator responsible for the coordination of factors important for host adaptation and virulence. Our work further characterized the role of the two EA-regulated fimbriae, Erf1 and Erf2 to EHEC pathogenesis. Although we did not see a role for fimbrialmediated adherence to Caco-2 cells *in vitro*, we determined that Erf1 and Erf2 are critical for colonization of the murine GI tract. Notably, this is the first evidence describing the contribution of a single fimbrial locus to EHEC colonization in an *in vivo* model. Overall, our findings demonstrate that EHEC fimbriae are important for EHEC pathogenesis.

Additionally, we have begun studying the mechanisms underlying Erf1 and Erf2 regulation of other virulence traits, mainly regulation of the LEE and Shiga toxin expression. We have shown that expression of the entire *erf1* or *erf2* fimbrial locus is not necessary to regulate the expression of virulence traits. Our data suggest that multiple signaling pathways exist in *erf1* and *erf2* to influence EHEC pathogenesis. These results reveal a novel mechanism by which fimbriae regulate virulence gene expression, independent of the previously characterized mechanisms involving the fimbrial locus 5' UTR or expression of fimbriae on the surface [324, 331, 333].

In summary, our data provide a better understanding of the complex regulatory circuits that pathogens employ to regulate virulence traits. The critical role for these transcription factors could be exploited to develop novel therapeutics targeted to various regulatory circuit. Further characterization of the spatiotemporal regulation of different signaling pathways to further understand when they are regulated and how their expression changes over the course of infection could lead to a better understanding of mechanisms of pathogenesis and signals that pathogens encounter in the GI tract.




interactions are show with solid arrows, indirect interactions are shown with

dashed arrows.



Figure 5.2 Model for possible mechanisms of Erf1 fimbrial regulation of the

LEE. (A) A different chaperone and usher complex is exporting Erf1 major and minor subunits to the surface to form an Erf1 fimbrial structure. This structure would then signal through unknown regulatory intermediates to activate LEE expression. (B) The Erf1 chaperone and usher are exporting different fimbrial subunits, which activates LEE expression through unknown intermediates. (C) The Erf1 major and/or minor subunit protein or mRNA activates LEE expression. This pathway could involve other regulatory proteins to then activate the LEE. (D) Similar to (C), the Erf1 chaperone and/or usher protein or mRNA activates LEE expression, possibly through another regulatory protein. Dashed arrows highlight proposed signaling pathways.



Figure 5.3 Model for possible mechanisms of Erf2 fimbrial regulation of the LEE and Shiga toxin. (A) The Erf2 usher in the outer membrane increases membrane stability, which represses Shiga toxin expression and activates expression of *LEE2/4*. (B) The Erf2 usher protein in the outer membrane or the usher mRNA repress Shiga toxin expression and activate *LEE2/4* expression, potentially through an unknown regulatory intermediate. (C) The Erf2 chaperone and major subunit interact with a different usher to form a partial Erf2 surface fimbriae composed of major subunits. This Erf2 structure interacts with other proteins to activate expression of *LEE2/4*. (D) The Erf2 chaperone and/or major subunit periplasmic proteins or mRNA activates *LEE2/4* expression, possibly

through another regulatory protein. Dashed arrows highlight proposed signaling pathways.

Appendices

Strain	Genotype Description	Reference or
		Source
86-24	Wild-type EHEC (serotype 0157:H7)	[149]
MK37	86-24 <i>eutR</i> mutant	[109]
VS??	Wild-type EHEC with plasmid pVS23	[211]
E2348/69	Wild-type EPEC (serotype 0127:H6)	[467]
		Invitrogen
BL21(DE3)	F- ompT hsdSB (rB - mB -) gal dcm (DE3)	
Plasmids	Genotype description	Reference or
		Source
pMAL-c5X	Cloning Vector	NEB
рМК53	EHEC 86-24 <i>eutR</i> in pMAL-c5X	This study
pVS23	Regulatory region of EHEC 86-24 <i>LEE1</i> in	[211]
	pBluescript	

Table A2.1 Strains and plasmids used in Chapter 2

Primer Name	Sequence	Primer use
ler_emsaF	ATGCAATGAGATCTATCTTA	EMSA and primer
		extension
ler_emsaR	AATATTTTAAGCTATTAGCG	EMSA and primer
		extension
eutS_emsaF	CATGCGTCGCATATGAAAGT	EMSA and primer
		extension
eutS_emsaR	GCCTGTGAAAAACTTTCGTG	EMSA and primer
		extension
amp_emsaF	GGAATTCGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGC	EMSA
amp_emsaR	CGGGATCCGGTGAGCAAAAACAGGAAGG	EMSA
EutRexp_F1	GGAATGTCCATATTGCATATC	eutR::MBP fusion
EutRexp_R1	TTACAACTCATAGCTGATGG	eutR::MBP fusion
eutS_RTrans_F1	ACGCATCATTCAGGAATTTG	RT-PCR
eutS_RTrans_R1	CAAATTCCTGAATGATGCCT	RT-PCR
eutS_RT_F	TTGGTCATTTCACAAAGCGT	qRT-PCR
eutS_RT_R	GCGCAGTAGAAGAAGCGTT	qRT-PCR
eutR_RT_F	TTGCCCCAGATGCCAGAA	qRT-PCR
eutR_RT_F	CGCAAAGCACAACGGTAAAAG	qRT-PCR
eutB_RT_F	CACCGGATTATTGCGGATGT	qRT-PCR
eutB_RT_R	GCGTGGCGGCAAAGC	qRT-PCR

Table A2.2 Primers used in Chapter 2

rpoA_RT_F	GCGCTCATCTTCTTCCGAAT	qRT-PCR
rpoA_RT_R	CGCGGTCGTGGTTATGTG	qRT-PCR

Strain	Genotype Description	Reference or
		Source
86-24	Wild-type EHEC (serotype 0157:H7)	[149]
DL01	86-24 <i>etrB</i> mutant	Luzader, EtrB
		study
DL02	etrB empty pGEN-MCS	Luzader, EtrB
		study
DL03	DL01 with plasmid pDL01 (<i>etrB</i> complement)	Luzader, EtrB
		study
VS145	86-24 <i>qseA</i> mutant	[214]
VS151	VS145 with plasmid pVS150 (<i>qseA</i> complement)	[214]
MK37	86-24 <i>eutR</i> mutant	[109]
BL21(DE3)	F- ompT hsdSB (rB - mB -) gal dcm (DE3)	Invitrogen

Plasmids	Genotype description	Reference or
		Source
pKD3	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-	[287]
	flanked kanamycin resistance	
pKD46	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}$ red recombinase expression plasmid	[287]
pCP20	TS replication and thermal induction of FLP	[287]
	synthesis	

pGEN-MCS	Cloning Vector	[288]
pMAL-c5x	Cloning Vector	NEB
pVS150	EHEC 86-24 <i>qseA</i> in pACYC177	[214]
рМК08	EHEC 86-24 <i>qseA</i> in pET28	[46]
pDL01	EHEC 86-24 etrB in pGEN	Luzader, EtrB
		study
pDL02	EHEC 86-24 <i>etrB</i> in pMAL-C5x	Luzader, EtrB
		study
pDL03	EHEC 86-24 <i>etrB</i> promoter in pGEN-luxCDABE	Luzader, EtrB
		study

Primer Name	Sequence	Primer use
etrB_GenComp_F	AAGCTTGTATTCTTTGGATTTTGCTTA	etrB complement
etrB_GenComp_R	CCATGGACTAGGCTTAATGAACTAGA	etrB complement
etrB_MalComp_F	CCTGCAGGTATAGTGCACACACCCATAC	etrB::MBP fusion
etrB_MalComp_R	CCATGGGAATGATGGGGGGCCGAACTC	etrB::MBP fusion
etrB_LR_F	TATTTTAGGAGAATTTGCAGGTGGAATG	etrB mutant
	ATGGGGGCCGAACTCGTAAAATTGTGTA	
	GGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	
etrB_LR_R	CAAAATGAGCCTAAAGCCTCTTTTTTT	etrB mutant
	ATATAGTGCACACACCCATACGTCATAT	
	GAATATCCTCCTTAG	
etrB_RT_F1	GGGCCGAACTCGTAAAATGG	qRT-PCR
etrB_RT_R1	ATACGCATCCTTTCGCACCT	qRT-PCR
ler_RT_F1	CGACCAGGTCTGCCC	qRT-PCR
ler_RT_R1	GCGCGGAACTCATC	qRT-PCR
grlA_RT_F1	CCGGTTGTTCCAGGACTTTC	qRT-PCR
grlA_RT_R1	TAAGCGCCTTGAGATTTTCATTT	qRT-PCR
escC_RT_F1	GCGTAAACTGGTCCGGTACGT	qRT-PCR
escC_RT_R1	TGCGGGTAGAGCTTTAAAGGCAAT	qRT-PCR
escV_RT_F1	TCGCCCCGTCCATTGA	qRT-PCR
escV_RT_R1	CGCTCCCGAGTGCAAAA	qRT-PCR

espA_RT_F1	TCAGAATCGCAGCCTGAAAA	qRT-PCR
espA_RT_R1	CGAAGGATGAGGTGGTTAAGCT	qRT-PCR
eae_RT_F1	GCTGGCCCTTGGTTTGATCA	qRT-PCR
eae_RT_R1	GCGGAGATGACTTCAGCACTT	qRT-PCR
rpoA_RT_F1	GCGCTCATCTTCTTCCGAAT	qRT-PCR
rpoA_RT_R1	CGCGGTCGTGGTTATCTG	qRT-PCR
ygeI_RT_F1	TAGCGAATGCAACGGGTGAT	qRT-PCR
ygeI_RT_R1	GACGCCATCCATGTTGAAACT	qRT-PCR
yqeK_RT_F1	ATGGACATTGAGTTTTCGCAGA	qRT-PCR
yqeK_RT_R1	CCCATGATGTTGTTTGCGTGA	qRT-PCR
ryeA_RT_F1	AGATGACGACGCCAGGTTTT	qRT-PCR
ryeA_RT_R1	ACCAGAACGGGCGGTTTTTA	qRT-PCR
tnaA_RT_F1	TGTACACCGAGTGCAGAACC	qRT-PCR
tnaA_RT_R1	CCGTCATACAGACCTACGGC	qRT-PCR
eivF_RT_F1	TTGTTTGCTGATGCCTTGCC	qRT-PCR
eivF_RT_R1	CGCTGCTCAGATAAGTGGCT	qRT-PCR
etrA_RT_F1	TGCAAGTCTTTTCCAGTGATGTC	qRT-PCR
etrA_RT_R1	CCAACGCAACTAAATCGCTGT	qRT-PCR
malK_RT_F1	CGCAATCGATCAAGTGCAGG	qRT-PCR
malK_RT_R1	GTCAGCGATATCACTCGGCA	qRT-PCR
nleA_RT_F1	TGTTGAAGGCTGGAAGTTTGTTT	qRT-PCR
nleA_RT_R1	CCGCTACAGGGCGATATGTT	qRT-PCR
Z4498_RT_F1	CTTGGCAAAAGTGGGCTCTT	qRT-PCR

Z4498_RT_R1	CCGCATCGTCAATACGGATA	qRT-PCR
stx2a _RT_F1	ACCCCACCGGGCAGTT	qRT-PCR
stx2a_RT_R1	GGTCAAAACGCGCCTGATA	qRT-PCR
etrB_prom_F1	TATTATTTCATCAATGTATTCTTT	EMSA
etrB_prom_R1	CGATTTAACCCATTTTACGA	EMSA
kan_EMSA_F1	CCGGAATTGCCAGCTGGGGGCG	EMSA
kan_EMSA_R1	TCTTGTTCAATCATGCGAAACGATCC	EMSA
ler_emsaF	ATGCAATGAGATCTATCTTA	EMSA
ler_emsaR	AATATTTTAAGCTATTAGCG	EMSA
amp_emsaF	GGAATTCGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGC	EMSA
amp_emsaR	CGGGATCCGGTGAGCAAAAACAGGAAGG	EMSA
Z4175_R	GATAGCATAGGGAAGAACAG	RT-PCR
Z4177_F	TCACTGGCTCAGGTTTAATG	RT-PCR
Z4178_F	GGAATGTCCATATTGCATATC	RT-PCR
Z4176_F	TTACAACTCATAGCTGATGG	RT-PCR
Z4176_R	TTCCATACGCATCCTTTCGC	RT-PCR
etrB_PE_R	CGACTGTTTTCCTGCTTAAC	RT-PCR

Strain	Genotype Description	Reference or
		Source
86-24	Wild-type EHEC (serotype 0157:H7)	[149]
LG01	86-24 erf1 (Z3276-Z3279, yeh) mutant	This study
LG02	86-24 erf2 (Z0146-Z0152, yad) mutant	This study
BL21(DE3)	F- ompT hsdSB (rB - mB -) gal dcm (DE3)	Invitrogen
LG03	<i>erf1</i> empty pGEN-MCS	This study
LG04	<i>erf1</i> complemented pLG01	This study
LG05	<i>erf2</i> empty pGEN-MCS	This study
LG06	<i>erf2</i> complemented pLG02	This study
DL07	86-24 Z3279 mutant (major subunit)	This study
DL08	86-24 Z3278 mutant (Chaperone)	This study
DL09	86-24 Z3277 Z3276 mutant (usher and minor	This study
	subunit)	
DL10	86-24 Z3276 mutant (minor subunit)	This study
DL11	86-24 Z3278 Z3277 mutant (Chaperone and usher)	This study
DL12	86-24 <i>Z3277</i> mutant (usher)	This study
DL13	<i>erf1</i> empty pBAD24	This study
DL14	erf1 complemented pDL04	This study

Table A4.1 Strains and plasmids used in Chapter 4

DL15	erf1 complemented pDL05	This study
DL16	erf1 complemented pDL06	This study
DL17	erf1 complemented pDL07	This study
DL18	erf1 complemented pDL08	This study
DL19	erf1 complemented pDL09	This study
DL20	<i>erf1</i> empty pBAD33	This study
DL21	<i>erf1</i> complemented pDL10	This study
DL22	<i>erf1</i> complemented pDL11	This study
DL23	<i>erf1</i> complemented pDL12	This study
DL24	erf1 complemented pDL13	This study
DL25	86-24 locus 3 (<i>Z0686-Z0693, sfm</i>) mutant	This study
Plasmids	Genotype description	Reference or
		C
		Source
pKD3	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-	[287]
pKD3	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT- flanked kanamycin resistance	[287]
pKD3 pKD4	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT- flanked kanamycin resistance pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked	[287]
pKD3 pKD4	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT- flanked kanamycin resistance pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked kanamycin resistance pKD46 λ red recombinase	[287]
pKD3 pKD4	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT- flanked kanamycin resistance pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked kanamycin resistance pKD46 λ red recombinase expression	[287]
pKD3 pKD4 pKD46	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked kanamycin resistancepANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flankedkanamycin resistance pKD46 λ red recombinaseexpressionλ red recombinase expression plasmid	[287] [287]
pKD3 pKD4 pKD46 pCP20	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked kanamycin resistancepANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flankedkanamycin resistance pKD46 λ red recombinaseexpressionλ red recombinase expression plasmidTS replication and thermal induction of FLP	[287] [287] [287] [287] [287]
pKD3 pKD4 pKD46 pCP20	pANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flanked kanamycin resistancepANTSλ derivative containing FRT-flankedkanamycin resistance pKD46 λ red recombinaseexpressionλ red recombinase expression plasmidTS replication and thermal induction of FLPsynthesis	Source [287] [287] [287] [287]

pLG01	<i>erf1</i> in pGEN-MCS	This study
pLG02	<i>erf2</i> in pGEN-MCS	This study
pBADmycHis-	Cloning Vector	Invitrogen
А		
pBAD24	Cloning Vector	[318]
pBAD33	Cloning Vector	[318]
pDL04	Z3279-Z3278 in pBAD24 (Major subunit and	This study
	chaperone)	
pDL05	Z3278 in pBAD24 (Chaperone)	This study
pDL06	Z3278 without the first 138 base pairs of the	This study
	annotated gene in pBAD24 (Chaperone No Signal	
	sequence)	
pDL07	<i>Z3277</i> in pBAD24 (Usher)	This study
pDL08	Z3277 without the first 110 base pairs of the	This study
	annotated gene in pBAD24 (usher No Signal	
	sequence)	
pDL09	<i>erf1</i> in pBAD24	This study
pDL10	Z3279-Z3278 in pBAD33 (Major subunit and	This study
	chaperone)	
pDL11	Z3278 in pBAD33 (Chaperone)	This study
pDL12	<i>Z3277</i> in pBAD33 (Usher)	This study
pDL13	Z3277-mychis in pBAD33 (Usher:mychis)	This study
pDL14	Z3278 in pBADmychis (Chaperone)	This study

pDL15	Z3277 in pBADmychis (Usher)	This study
рМК52	<i>eutB</i> in pBAD33	[109]
рМК53	EHEC 86-24 <i>eutR</i> in pMAL-c5X	[110]

Primer	Sequence	Primer use
Name		
erf1_LRF	ATCATGAAACATTCAATTATTGCTGTCGCTGTCTTA	Create Erf1
	TCTTCTGTATTTATGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	locus deletion
		strain and
		<i>Z3279</i> mutant
		(major subunit)
erf1_LRR	ТТСТТАТТАТТАGCCACTTGCTCATCTTGCTTGTTA	Create Erf1
	TTAATCGTATTTCACATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	locus deletion
		strain
erf2_LRF	AGGATGCATGTAATGAAAAAAGCACTTCTCGCAGC	Create Erf2
	CGCTCTGGTTATGGCTT	locus deletion
	GTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	strain
erf2_LRR	CGTTTTACTTATTCGTAGGTAAAGGAGAAGGTCGC	Create Erf2
	GTTACCTGAAAATGTTCC	locus deletion
	AACACCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	strain
yehD delR	ТТТААСТТАСТGААААААСААGATGATTATTTTAA	86-24 <i>Z327</i> 9
	ATATTTAATCCTGGGCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	mutant (major
		subunit)
yehC_LR_F1	TCATCTTGTTTTTCAGTAAGTTAAAATGGCCGCCA	86-24 <i>Z3278</i>
	TATTCATGGCGGCCTGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	mutant

Table A4.2 Primers used in Chapter 4

		(Chaperone)
		and <i>Z3278</i>
		Z3277 mutant
		(chaperone,
		usher)
yehC_LR_R1	TCATTCTCAACATAGGCAGCTCCTGCAATTAAATTT	86-24 <i>Z3278</i>
	TGTCACTAATATAGTCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	mutant
		(Chaperone)
yehB_LR_F1	AGGAGCTGCCTATGTTGAGAATGACCCCGCTTGCAT	86-24 <i>Z3277</i>
	CAGCAATAGTCGCGTTGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	Z3276 mutant
		(usher, minor
		subunit)
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i>
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i> <i>Z3276</i> mutant
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i> <i>Z3276</i> mutant (usher, minor
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i> <i>Z3276</i> mutant (usher, minor subunit) and
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i> <i>Z3276</i> mutant (usher, minor subunit) and <i>Z3278 Z3277</i>
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 <i>Z3277</i> <i>Z3276</i> mutant (usher, minor subunit) and <i>Z3278 Z3277</i>
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 Z3277 Z3276 mutant (usher, minor subunit) and Z3278 Z3277 mutant (chaperone,
yehB_LR_R1	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 Z3277 Z3276 mutant (usher, minor subunit) and Z3278 Z3277 mutant (chaperone, usher)
yehB_LR_R1 yehB_int_LR	ATTAGTAATATTCTATTTCTGAACATCATATTTCAC CTCTCACCGACAGATCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	subunit) 86-24 Z3277 Z3276 mutant (usher, minor subunit) and Z3278 Z3277 mutant (chaperone, usher) 86-24 Z3277

GCTTC

yehB_int_LR	TCATTGGTGCGAATAAATATCTGACTGCCCTGGCCGAC	86-24 <i>Z3277</i>
_R1	AACACCAATGTTTCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	mutant (usher)
Z3276 delF	AATATGATGTTCAGAAATAGAATATTACTAATATT	86-24 <i>Z3276</i>
	TATATTGTGGGCTAAGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	mutant (minor
		subunit)
Z3276 delR	CAGACACCTTATTATTATTATTATTAGCCACTTGC	86-24 <i>Z3276</i>
	ТСАТСТТGСТТGТТАТТААТСGТATTCATATGAATA	mutant (minor
	TCCTCCTTAG	subunit) and
		Z3277 Z3276
		mutant (usher,
		minor subunit)
loc3_EHEC_L	GGTCGAAGGGGATGCGCCTATTTTGTCAGAAGCGG	locus 3 deletion
R_F	GGCGCGCTGTCAGGTGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	
loc3_EHEC_L	GCGGCCCACGACTTAGAAGGTCGTTGCTCTATCCAA	locus 3 deletion
R_R1	CTGAGCTAAGGGCGTCATATGAATATCCTCCTTAG	
Erf1_CF	CTAGGAATTCTTGCCAACACCGTTTTAAGCAT	pGEN:Erf1
		complement
Erf1_CR	CTAGCCTAGGGATCAGCGACACCGACGGTA	pGEN:Erf1
		complement
Erf2_CF	CTAGGAATTCAGCACTTCATGCAAATAGATTAGGC	pGEN:Erf2
		complement

Erf2_CR	CTAGCCTAGGAGCAGAACTCTGGTGCGATG	pGEN:Erf2
		complement
erf1_pBADc	GGTACCGAGATACAGACTCTTAACAA	pBAD24:Erf1
omp_F1		complement
erf1_pBADc	AAGCTTTTATTATTAGCCACTTGCTC	pBAD24:Erf1
omp_R1		complement
yehD comp F	CTAGTCTAGAATGAAACATTCAATTATTG	<i>Z3279-Z3278</i> in
		pBAD24 (Major
		subunit,
		chaperone)
yehC comp	CTAGAAGCTTTTAAATTTTGTCACTAATAT	<i>Z3279-Z3278</i> in
Rv		pBAD24 (Major
		subunit,
		chaperone)
erf1_ChpTag	CCATGGGTTAAAATGGCCGCCATATT	<i>Z3278</i> in
_F2		pBAD24
		(Chaperone)
erf1_ChpNoS	CCATGGTTAATCATCTCTTCTATGAT	Z3278 without
igSeq_F1		the first 138
		base pairs of
		the annotated
		gene in pBAD24
		(Chaperone No

		Signal
		sequence)
erf1_ChpNoS	AAGCTTCAGCTCCTGCAATTAAATTT	<i>Z3278</i> in
igBAD24_R1		pBAD24
		(Chaperone)
		AND Z3278
		without the first
		138 base pairs
		of the
		annotated gene
		in pBAD24
		(Chaperone No
		Signal
		sequence)
yehB comp	CTAGTCTAGAATGTTGAGAATGACCCCGCT	<i>Z3277</i> in
Fd		pBAD24
		(Usher)
yehB comp	CTAGAAGCTTTCACCGACAGATATAATTTTTAC	<i>Z3277</i> in
Rv		pBAD24
		(Usher)
erf1_UshNoS	CCATGGGCAGAAGAAACCTTTGACAC	Z3277 without
igSeq_F1		the first 110
		base pairs of

		the annotated
		gene in pBAD24
		(usher No
		Signal
		sequence)
erf1_UshBA	AAGCTTTTCACCTCTCACCGACAGAT	Z3277 without
D24_R1		the first 110
		base pairs of
		the annotated
		gene in pBAD24
		(usher No
		Signal
		sequence)
yedD_pB33_	GGTACCATGAAACATTCAATTATTGC	<i>Z3277</i> in
F1		pBAD33
		(Usher)
yehC_pB33_	AAGCTTTTAAATTTTGTCACTAATAT	<i>Z3277</i> in
R1		pBAD33
		(Usher)
yehB_pB33_	GGTACCATGTTGAGAATGACCCCGCT	<i>Z3277</i> in
F1		pBAD33
		(Usher)
yehB_pB33_	AAGCTTTCACCGACAGATATAATTTT	<i>Z3277</i> in

	1
pBAD33	
(Usher)	
Z3277-mych	is
in pBAD33	
(Usher:mych	i

R1

		(Usher)
Ush_erf1_His	GGTACCTGGATGTTGAGAATGACCCC	Z3277-mychis
tag_pB33_F1		in pBAD33
		(Usher:mychis)
pBmh_His_R	AAGCTTTGGAGACCGTTTAAACTCAATGATG	Z3277-mychis
3		in pBAD33
		(Usher:mychis)
erf1_UshTag	CCATGGATGTTGAGAATGACCCCGCT	<i>Z3277</i> in
_F1		pBADmychis
		(Usher)
erf1_UshTag	AAGCTTCCGACAGATATAATTTTTAC	<i>Z3277</i> in
_R1		pBADmychis
		(Usher)
yehD_prom_	AGTGGTAGCTGTGGGTAATA	Primer
F1		extension
		primer for erf1
yehD_cDNA_	AATGTACATGGTGATTCTGC	Primer
R1		extension
		primer for erf1
ler_emsaF	ATGCAATGAGATCTATCTTA	ler EMSA
ler_emsaR	AATATTTTAAGCTATTAGCG	ler EMSA
yadN_emsaF	CAGTACTACAACCTGCCATC	erf2 EMSA

yadN_emsaR	GATATGACCACCATCTACA	erf2 EMSA
amp_emsaF	GGAATTCGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGC	kan EMSA
amp_emsaR	CGGGATCCGGTGAGCAAAAACAGGAAGG	kan EMSA
ler_RT_F1	CGACCAGGTCTGCCC	qRT-PCR
ler_RT_R1	GCGCGGAACTCATC	qRT-PCR
grlA_RT_F1	CCGGTTGTTCCAGGACTTTC	qRT-PCR
grlA_RT_R1	TAAGCGCCTTGAGATTTTCATTT	qRT-PCR
escC_RT_F1	GCGTAAACTGGTCCGGTACGT	qRT-PCR
escC_RT_R1	TGCGGGTAGAGCTTTAAAGGCAAT	qRT-PCR
escV_RT_F1	TCGCCCGTCCATTGA	qRT-PCR
escV_RT_R1	CGCTCCCGAGTGCAAAA	qRT-PCR
espA_RT_F1	TCAGAATCGCAGCCTGAAAA	qRT-PCR
espA_RT_R1	CGAAGGATGAGGTGGTTAAGCT	qRT-PCR
eae_RT_F1	GCTGGCCCTTGGTTTGATCA	qRT-PCR
eae_RT_R1	GCGGAGATGACTTCAGCACTT	qRT-PCR
rpoA_RT_F1	GCGCTCATCTTCTTCCGAAT	qRT-PCR
rpoA_RT_R1	CGCGGTCGTGGTTATCTG	qRT-PCR
stx2a	ACCCCACCGGGCAGTT	qRT-PCR
_RT_F1		
stx2a	GGTCAAAACGCGCCTGATA	qRT-PCR
_RT_R1		
Z3279 RT F	TGGCGGTGATTCAGTCAGTATT	erf1 RT and qRT

Z3279 RT R	ACCAACCGCGCCATCATA	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3278 RT F	CCACCGAATAGCCCAGAAGA	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3278 RT R	TACCGGAGCAATACCAGCAG	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3277 RT F	ATTGCTCGGCATTGAAGCAC	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3277 RT R	CAATGTCGTACTGCCCAGGT	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3276 RT F	GCGGGGGATACATTTACGCT	erf1 RT and qRT
Z3276 RT R	TCCTTACTGTTCGCCGCAAT	erf1 RT and qRT
CR:	GGAAACTAATTCGCCCACAACA	C. rodentium
ler_RT_F1		qRT-PCR
CR:	AGCCGCTTTGCTTGCT	C. rodentium
ler_RT_R1		qRT-PCR
CR:	CCGCGACCAAAATGTTGTC	C. rodentium
escC_RT_F1		qRT-PCR
CR:	CCATTACTTGCCATTGTCTTTAGGA	C. rodentium
escC_RT_R1		qRT-PCR
CR:	GCTTGAGGCAAAAGTTCTTCGT	C. rodentium
escV_RT_F1		qRT-PCR
CR:	CGCCCGTCCATTGAG	C. rodentium
escV_RT_R1		qRT-PCR
CR:	GCGCCGGTGATTTGCA	C. rodentium
espA_RT_F1		qRT-PCR
CR:	CAAATTATTCGCTTTAGCCGAAA	C. rodentium
espA_RT_R1		qRT-PCR

CR:	AGGGCTTCCTGAACATCCATT	C. rodentium
tir_RT_F1		qRT-PCR
CR:	CAAATCCCCCATGCAAACAT	C. rodentium
tir_RT_R1		qRT-PCR
CR:rpoA_F1	CGTACCGACCTGGACAAGCT	C. rodentium
		qRT-PCR
CR: rpoA_R1	AATCGCCTCTTCAGGATCGA	C. rodentium
		qRT-PCR
pyrI_RT_F1	TGCCCGAACAGCAACTGTAT	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
pyrI_RT_R1	GCGATATCATTGGCGCGTTT	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
ecpR_RT_F1	ATTGCGGCCAGAAAGTCAGA	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
ecpR_RT_R1	GCGTATACCACGCCCCTAAT	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
yagZ_RT_F	CGTGGCTATCGAGGGTGACT	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers

yagZ_RT_R	CTGGGTTAATGTGTTGGTGATAAGA	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
chaB_RT_F1	TTCAACAGCGCATGGGATCA	Microarray
		confirmation
	CCACTTTATGCGCGGTTTCT	primers
chaB_RT_R1		Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
nadR_RT_F1	TAGCTGATGCCAGCGGTATG	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
nadR_RT_R1	TCCGGTATGCAGTGGGTAGA	Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
fliA_RT_F1	GAACGCTATGACGCCCTACA	Microarray
		confirmation
fliA_RT_R1	TCCAGTTGCCCTATTGCCTG	primers
		Microarray
		confirmation
		primers
BaeR_RT_F2	TCGTCTGCTGAAAACGCTCT	Potential
		regulatory

BaeR_RT_R2	ATGTGGCTGTCGATGGTACG	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
cpxP_RT_F1	AGCCATATGTTCGACGGCAT	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
cpxP_RT_R1	TGCATTGTCTCCAGTTCGCT	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
uhpA_RT_F1	ACTGGGCTTGTCACCGAAAA	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
uhpA_RT_R1	CAGCCATCAAACATACGGCG	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
uhpB_RT_F	CCTGTGGAGTATCAGCCTGC	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
uhpB_RT_R	AGCAGCACCGGCCAGTATC	Potential
		regulatory
		intermediates
casA_EHEC_	ATTAAGCGTGGCGTGACTGA	Potential

intermediates

RT_F		regulatory
		intermediates
casA_EHEC_	CAAGGGGGCTTGTTGATTGC	Potential
RT_R		regulatory
		intermediates
sfmA Fd	CGCTACGGGTAGTTATGCTG	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmC_EHEC_	TCAGCTTTCCCTGCACTCCT	<i>loc3</i> RT
R		
sfmC Fd	TTCGGCCAGCGTCCATGCTG	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmD_R2	ACCTGGTTAAAACAGGGCAT	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmD_EHEC_	CCTGGTGTCTGGCCGGAATT	<i>loc3</i> RT
F1		
sfmH_R1	CGGTAATACTGATAGGCCAG	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmH Fd	AAACATATCC TGGGCTACTG	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmF Rv	CGCCACACCTGGCCGAACAC	<i>loc3</i> RT
sfmF_F1	TAGCTGTTTCTGCGGGTTAC	<i>loc3</i> RT
fimZ_EHEC_	GCACAGTGACCGTTGAACTA	<i>loc3</i> RT
F		
fimZ Rv	CCGCTCCTATGAGACTGGTA	<i>loc3</i> RT

Citations

- 1. Bentley, R. and R. Meganathan, *Biosynthesis of vitamin K (menaquinone) in bacteria.* Microbiol Rev, 1982. **46**(3): p. 241-80.
- 2. Clark, D.P., *The fermentation pathways of Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 1989. **5**(3): p. 223-34.
- 3. Reid, G., J. Howard, and B.S. Gan, *Can bacterial interference prevent infection?* Trends Microbiol, 2001. **9**(9): p. 424-8.
- 4. Kaper, J.B., J.P. Nataro, and H.L.T. Mobley, *Pathogenic Escherichia coli*. Nature Rev. Microbiol., 2004. **2**: p. 123-140.
- 5. Orskov, F. and I. Orskov, *Escherichia coli serotyping and disease in man and animals.* Can J Microbiol, 1992. **38**(7): p. 699-704.
- 6. Slutsker, L., et al., *A nationwide case-control study of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infection in the United States.* J Infect Dis, 1998. **177**(4): p. 962-6.
- 7. Ferens, W.A. and C.J. Hovde, *Escherichia coli 0157:H7: animal reservoir and sources of human infection.* Foodborne Pathog Dis, 2011. **8**(4): p. 465-87.
- 8. Cray, W.C., Jr. and H.W. Moon, *Experimental infection of calves and adult cattle with Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 1995. **61**(4): p. 1586-90.
- 9. Dean-Nystrom, E.A., et al., *Pathogenicity of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 in the intestines of neonatal calves.* Infect. Immun., 1997. **65**: p. 1842-1848.
- 10. Chase-Topping, M., et al., *Super-shedding and the link between human infection and livestock carriage of Escherichia coli 0157.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2008. **6**(12): p. 904-12.
- 11. Fukushima, H., K. Hoshina, and M. Gomyoda, *Long-term survival of shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli 026, 0111, and 0157 in bovine feces.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 1999. **65**(11): p. 5177-81.
- 12. Riley, L.W., et al., *Hemorrhagic colitis assocciated with a rare Escherichia coli serotype.* N. Eng. J. Med., 1983. **308**: p. 681-685.
- 13. Tarr, P.I., C.A. Gordon, and W.L. Chandler, *Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli and haemolytic uraemic syndrome.* Lancet, 2005. **365**(9464): p. 1073-86.
- 14. Noris, M. and G. Remuzzi, *Hemolytic uremic syndrome*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2005. **16**(4): p. 1035-50.
- 15. Ruggenenti, P., A. Schieppati, and G. Remuzzi, *Progression, remission, regression of chronic renal diseases.* Lancet, 2001. **357**(9268): p. 1601-8.
- 16. Unkmeir, A. and H. Schmidt, *Structural analysis of phage-borne stx genes and their flanking sequences in shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli and Shigella dysenteriae type 1 strains.* Infect Immun, 2000. **68**(9): p. 4856-64.
- 17. Waldor, M.K. and D.I. Friedman, *Phage regulatory circuits and virulence gene expression.* Curr. Opin. Microbiol., 2005. **8**(4): p. 459-465
- Thang, X., et al., Quinolone antibiotics induce Shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophages, toxin production, and death in mice. J Infect Dis, 2000. 181(2): p. 664-70.

- 19. Kimmitt, P.T., C.R. Harwood, and M.R. Barer, *Toxin gene expression by shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli: the role of antibiotics and the bacterial SOS response.* Emerg Infect Dis, 2000. **6**(5): p. 458-65.
- 20. Nelson, J.M., et al., *Antimicrobial and antimotility agent use in persons with shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli 0157 infection in FoodNet Sites.* Clin Infect Dis, 2011. **52**(9): p. 1130-2.
- 21. Kaper, J.B. and A.D. O'Brien, *Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and other Shiga toxinproducing E. coli strains*. 1st ed. 1998, Washington D. C.: ASM Press.
- 22. Goldwater, P.N. and K.A. Bettelheim, *Treatment of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC) infection and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS).* BMC Med, 2012. **10**: p. 12.
- 23. Karch, H., P.I. Tarr, and M. Bielaszewska, *Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli in human medicine.* Int J Med Microbiol, 2005. **295**(6-7): p. 405-18.
- 24. Tilden, J.J., et al., *A new route of transmission for Escherichia coli: infection from dry fermented salami.* Am. J. Public Health, 1996. **86**(8): p. 1142-1145.
- 25. Harrison, S.C., *A structural taxonomy of DNA-binding domains.* Nature, 1991. **353**(6346): p. 715-9.
- 26. Harrison, S.C. and A.K. Aggarwal, *DNA recognition by proteins with the helixturn-helix motif.* Annu Rev Biochem, 1990. **59**: p. 933-69.
- 27. Pabo, C.O. and R.T. Sauer, *Transcription factors: structural families and principles of DNA recognition.* Annu Rev Biochem, 1992. **61**: p. 1053-95.
- 28. Wintjens, R. and M. Rooman, *Structural classification of HTH DNA-binding domains and protein-DNA interaction modes.* J Mol Biol, 1996. **262**(2): p. 294-313.
- 29. Gallegos, M.T., et al., *AraC/XylS family of transcriptional regulators.* Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 1997. **61**: p. 393-410.
- 30. Schell, M.A., *Molecular biology of the LysR family of transcriptional regulators.* Ann. Rev. of Microbiol., 1993. **47**(1): p. 597-626.
- 31. Parker, L.L. and B.G. Hall, *Characterization and nucleotide sequence of the cryptic cel operon of Escherichia coli K12.* Genetics, 1990. **124**(3): p. 455-71.
- Fetherston, J.D., S.W. Bearden, and R.D. Perry, *YbtA, an AraC-type regulator of the Yersinia pestis pesticin/yersiniabactin receptor.* Mol Microbiol, 1996.
 22(2): p. 315-25.
- 33. Thomas, V.J. and C.M. Collins, *Identification of UreR binding sites in the Enterobacteriaceae plasmid-encoded and Proteus mirabilis urease gene operons.* Mol. Microbiol., 1999. **31**: p. 1417-1428.
- 34. Yang, J., et al., *Bicarbonate-mediated transcriptional activation of divergent operons by the virulence regulatory protein, RegA, from Citrobacter rodentium.* Mol. Microbiol., 2008. **68**: p. 314-327.
- 35. Yu, R.R. and V.J. DiRita, *Regulation of gene expression in Vibrio cholerae by ToxT involves both antirepression and RNA polymerase stimulation.* Mol. Microbiol., 2002. **43**(1): p. 119-134.
- 36. Jordi, B.J., et al., *The positive regulator CfaD overcomes the repression mediated by histone-like protein H-NS (H1) in the CFA/I fimbrial operon of Escherichia coli*. EMBO J, 1992. **11**(7): p. 2627-32.

- 37. Porter, M.E. and C.J. Dorman, *A role for H-NS in the thermo-osmotic regulation of virulence gene expression in Shigella flexneri*. J Bacteriol, 1994. **176**(13): p. 4187-91.
- 38. Tobe, T., et al., *Transcriptional control of the invasion regulatory gene virB of Shigella flexneri: activation by virF and repression by H-NS.* J Bacteriol, 1993.
 175(19): p. 6142-9.
- 39. Perez-Rueda, E. and J. Collado-Vides, *Common history at the origin of the position-function correlation in transcriptional regulators in archaea and bacteria.* J Mol Evol, 2001. **53**(3): p. 172-9.
- 40. Sun, J. and A. Klein, *A lysR-type regulator is involved in the negative regulation of genes encoding selenium-free hydrogenases in the archaeon Methanococcus voltae.* Mol Microbiol, 2004. **52**(2): p. 563-71.
- 41. Stec, E., et al., *Structural basis of the sulphate starvation response in E. coli: crystal structure and mutational analysis of the cofactor-binding domain of the Cbl transcriptional regulator.* J Mol Biol, 2006. **364**(3): p. 309-22.
- 42. Maddocks, S.E. and P.C. Oyston, *Structure and function of the LysR-type transcriptional regulator (LTTR) family proteins.* Microbiology, 2008. **154**(Pt 12): p. 3609-23.
- 43. Deghmane, A.E., et al., *Intimate adhesion of Neisseria meningitidis to human epithelial cells is under the control of the crgA gene, a novel LysR-type transcriptional regulator.* EMBO J, 2000. **19**: p. 1068-1078.
- 44. Heroven, A.K. and P. Dersch, *RovM*, a novel LysR-type regulator of the virulence activator gene rovA, controls cell invasion, virulence and motility of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis. Mol. Microbiol., 2006. **62**: p. 1469-1483.
- 45. Hernández-Lucas, I., et al., *The LysR-type transcriptional regulator LeuO controls expression of several genes in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi.* J. Bacteriol., 2008. **190**(5): p. 1658-1670.
- 46. Kendall, M.M., D. Rasko, A., and V. Sperandio, *The LysR-type regulator QseA regulates both characterized and putative virulence genes in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Mol. Microbiol., 2010. **76**: p. 1306-1321.
- 47. Baikalov, I., et al., *Structure of the Escherichia coli response regulator NarL.* Biochemistry, 1996. **35**(34): p. 11053-61.
- 48. Galperin, M.Y., *Structural classification of bacterial response regulators: diversity of output domains and domain combinations.* J Bacteriol, 2006. **188**(12): p. 4169-82.
- 49. Ishihama, A., *Prokaryotic genome regulation: a revolutionary paradigm.* Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci, 2012. **88**(9): p. 485-508.
- 50. Brennan, R.G. and B.W. Matthews, *The helix-turn-helix DNA binding motif.* J Biol Chem, 1989. **264**(4): p. 1903-6.
- 51. Chugani, S.A., M.R. Parsek, and A.M. Chakrabarty, *Transcriptional repression mediated by LysR-type regulator CatR bound at multiple binding sites.* J Bacteriol, 1998. **180**(9): p. 2367-72.
- 52. Walthers, D., et al., *The response regulator SsrB activates expression of diverse Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 promoters and counters silencing by the nucleoid-associated protein H-NS.* Mol Microbiol, 2007. **65**(2): p. 477-93.

- 53. Zhang, X., T. Reeder, and R. Schleif, *Transcription activation parameters at ara pBAD.* J Mol Biol, 1996. **258**(1): p. 14-24.
- 54. Fawcett, W.P. and R.E. Wolf, Jr., *Purification of a MalE-SoxS fusion protein and identification of the control sites of Escherichia coli superoxide-inducible genes.* Mol Microbiol, 1994. **14**(4): p. 669-79.
- 55. Martin, R.G., et al., *Structural requirements for marbox function in transcriptional activation of mar/sox/rob regulon promoters in Escherichia coli: sequence, orientation and spatial relationship to the core promoter.* Mol Microbiol, 1999. **34**(3): p. 431-41.
- 56. Partridge, J.D., et al., *Characterization of the Escherichia coli K-12 ydhYVWXUT operon: regulation by FNR, NarL and NarP.* Microbiology, 2008. **154**(Pt 2): p. 608-18.
- 57. McDaniel, T.K., et al., *A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 1995. **92**(5): p. 1664-1668.
- 58. Schmidt, H. and M. Hensel, *Pathogenicity islands in bacterial pathogenesis.* Clin Microbiol Rev, 2004. **17**(1): p. 14-56.
- 59. Mellies, J.L., et al., *The Per regulon of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli: identification of a regulatory cascade and a novel transcriptional activator, the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator (Ler)* Mol. Microbiol., 1999. **33**(2): p. 296-306.
- 60. Sperandio, V., et al., *Activation of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) LEE2 and LEE3 operons by Ler.* Molecular Microbiology, 2000. **38**(4): p. 781-793.
- 61. Elliott, S.J., et al., *The complete sequence of the locus of enterocyte effacement* (*LEE*) from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli E2348/69. Mol. Microbiol., 1998. **28**: p. 1-4.
- 62. Kenny, B., et al., *Enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) transfers its receptor for intimate adherence into mammalian cells.* Cell, 1997. **14**: p. 511-20.
- 63. McNamara, B.P., et al., *Translocated EspF protein from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli disrupts host intestinal barrier function.* J Clin Invest, 2001. **107**(5): p. 621-9.
- 64. Muza-Moons, M.M., E.E. Schneeberger, and G.A. Hecht, *Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection leads to appearance of aberrant tight junctions strands in the lateral membrane of intestinal epithelial cells.* Cell Microbiol, 2004. **6**(8): p. 783-93.
- 65. Viswanathan, V.K., et al., *Comparative analysis of EspF from enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli in alteration of epithelial barrier function.* Infect Immun, 2004. **72**(6): p. 3218-27.
- 66. Kenny, B., et al., *Co-ordinate regulation of distinct host cell signalling pathways by multifunctional enteropathogenic Escherichia coli effector molecules.* Mol Microbiol, 2002. **44**(4): p. 1095-1107.
- 67. Kenny, B. and M. Jepson, *Targeting of an enteropathogenic Escherichia coli* (*EPEC*) effector protein to host mitochondria. Cell. Microbiol., 2000. **2**: p. 579-590.

- 68. Dahan, S., et al., *EspJ is a prophage-carried type III effector protein of attaching and effacing pathogens that modulates infection dynamics.* Infect. Immun., 2005. **73**: p. 679-686.
- 69. Kelly, M., et al., *Essential role of the type III secretion system effector NleB in colonization of mice by Citrobacter rodentium.* Infect Immun, 2006. **74**(4): p. 2328-37.
- 70. Gruenheid, S., et al., *Identification and characterization of NleA, a non-LEEencoded type III translocated virulence factor of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Mol. Microbiol., 2004. **51**(5): p. 1233-1249.
- 71. Moon, H.W., et al., *Attaching and effacing activities of rabbit and human enteropathogenic Escherichia coli in pig and rabbit intestines.* Infect. Immun., 1983. **41**: p. 1340-1351.
- 72. Knutton, S., D.R. Lloyd, and A.S. McNeish, *Adhesion of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli to human intestinal enterocytes and cultured human intestinal mucosa.* Infect Immun, 1987. **55**(1): p. 69-77.
- 73. Aizawa, S.I., *Bacterial flagella and type III secretion systems*. FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2001. **202**(2): p. 157-64.
- Gauthier, A., J.L. Puente, and B.B. Finlay, Secretin of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III secretion system requires components of the type III apparatus for assembly and localization. Infect Immun, 2003. 71(6): p. 3310-9.
- 75. Akeda, Y. and J.E. Galan, *Genetic analysis of the Salmonella enterica type III* secretion-associated ATPase InvC defines discrete functional domains. J Bacteriol, 2004. **186**(8): p. 2402-12.
- 76. Daniell, S.J., et al., *The filamentous type III secretion translocon of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli.* Cell Microbiol, 2001. **3**(12): p. 865-71.
- 77. Ebel, F., et al., Initial binding of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli to host cells and subsequent induction of actin rearrangements depend on filamentous EspA-containing surface appendages. Mol Microbiol, 1998. **30**(1): p. 147-61.
- 78. Knutton, S., et al., A novel EspA-associated surface organelle of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli involved in protein translocation into epithelial cells. EMBO J, 1998. **17**(8): p. 2166-76.
- 79. Sekiya, K., et al., *Supermolecular structure of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III secretion system and its direct interaction with the EspA-sheath-like structure.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(20): p. 11638-43.
- 80. Cleary, J., et al., Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells: role of bundle-forming pili (BFP), EspA filaments and intimin. Microbiology, 2004. **150**(Pt 3): p. 527-38.
- 81. Frankel, G., et al., *The cell-binding domain of intimin from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli binds to beta1 integrins.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(34): p. 20359-64.
- 82. Sinclair, J.F. and A.D. O'Brien, *Intimin types alpha, beta, and gamma bind to nucleolin with equivalent affinity but lower avidity than to the translocated intimin receptor.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(32): p. 33751-8.
- 83. Sinclair, J.F. and A.D. O'Brien, *Cell surface-localized nucleolin is a eukaryotic receptor for the adhesin intimin-gamma of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(4): p. 2876-85.
- 84. Campellone, K.G., *Cytoskeleton-modulating effectors of enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli: Tir, EspFU and actin pedestal assembly.* FEBS J, 2010. **277**(11): p. 2390-402.
- 85. Frankel, G., et al., *Intimin and the host cell--is it bound to end in Tir(s)?* Trends Microbiol, 2001. **9**(5): p. 214-8.
- 86. Liu, H., et al., *The Tir-binding region of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli intimin is sufficient to trigger actin condensation after bacterial-induced host cell signalling.* Mol Microbiol, 1999. **34**(1): p. 67-81.
- 87. Campellone, K.G., D. Robbins, and J.M. Leong, *EspFu Is a translocated EHEC effector that interacts with Tir and N-WASP and promotes Nck-independent actin assembly.* Dev. Cell, 2004. **7**: p. 217-228.
- 88. Echtenkamp, F., et al., *Characterization of the NleF effector protein from attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2008.
 281(1): p. 98-107.
- 89. Hemrajani, C., et al., *Role of NleH, a type III secreted effector from attaching and effacing pathogens, in colonization of the bovine, ovine, and murine gut.* Infect. Immun., 2008. **76**: p. 4804-4813.
- 90. Roe, A.J., et al., *Analysis of the expression, regulation and export of NleA-E in Escherichia coli 0157 : H7.* Microbiology, 2007. **153**(Pt 5): p. 1350-60.
- 91. Mundy, R., et al., *Distribution of espI among clinical enterohaemorrhagic and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli isolates.* J Med Microbiol, 2004. **53**(Pt 11): p. 1145-9.
- 92. Garcia-Angulo, V.A., et al., *A distinct regulatory sequence is essential for the expression of a subset of nle genes in attaching and effacing Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol, 2012. **194**(20): p. 5589-603.
- 93. Schwidder, M., M. Hensel, and H. Schmidt, *Regulation of nleA in Shiga toxinproducing Escherichia coli 084:H4 strain 4795/97.* J Bacteriol, 2011. **193**(4): p. 832-41.
- 94. Njoroge, J. and V. Sperandio, *Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli virulence regulation by two bacterial adrenergic kinases, QseC and QseE.* Infect. Immun., 2012. **80**: p. 688-703.
- 95. Mellies, J.L., K.R. Haack, and D.C. Galligan, SOS Regulation of the type III secretion system of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol., 2007. **189**(7): p. 2863-2872.
- 96. Elliott, S.J., et al., *The locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator controls expression of both LEE- and non-LEE-encoded virulence factors in enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* Infect. Immun., 2000. **68**(11): p. 6115-6126.
- 97. Torres, A.G., et al., *Ler and H-NS, regulators controlling expression of the long polar fimbriae of Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J Bacteriol, 2007. **189**(16): p. 5916-28.
- 98. Haack, K.R., et al., *Interaction of Ler at the LEE5 (tir) operon of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli*. Infect. Immun., 2003. **71**: p. 384-392.

- 99. Bustamante, V.H., et al., *Transcriptional regulation of type III secretion genes in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli: Ler antagonizes H-NS-dependent repression.* Mol. Microbiol., 2001. **39**(3): p. 664-678.
- 100. Deng, W., et al., *Dissecting virulence: systematic and functional analyses of a pathogenicity island.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2004. **101**: p. 3597-3602.
- Barba, J., et al., A positive regulatory loop controls expression of the locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded regulators Ler and GrlA. J. Bacteriol., 2005. 187(23): p. 7918-7930.
- 102. Lio, J.C. and W.J. Syu, *Identification of a negative regulator for the pathogenicity island of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J Biomed Sci, 2004. **11**(6): p. 855-63.
- 103. Padavannil, A., et al., *Structure of GrlR-GrlA complex that prevents GrlA activation of virulence genes.* Nat Commun, 2013. **4**: p. 2546.
- 104. Iyoda, S. and H. Watanabe, *ClpXP protease controls expression of the type III protein secretion system through regulation of RpoS and GrlR levels in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2005. **187**(12): p. 4086-4094.
- 105. Friedberg, D., et al., *Hierarchy in the expression of the locus of enterocyte effacement genes of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol., 1999.
 34: p. 941-952.
- 106. Sharp, F.C. and V. Sperandio, *QseA directly activates transcription of LEE1 in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* Infect. Immun., 2007. **75**: p. 2432-2440.
- 107. Sperandio, V., A.G. Torres, and J.B. Kaper, *Quorum sensing Escherichia coli regulators B and C (QseBC): a novel two-component regulatory system involved in the regulation of flagella and motility by quorum sensing in E. coli.* Mol. Microbiol., 2002. **43**(3): p. 809-821.
- 108. Reading, N.C., et al., *A novel two-component signaling system that activates transcription of an enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) effector involved in remodeling of host actin J. Bacteriol., 2007.* **189**(6): p. 2468-2476.
- 109. Kendall, M.M., et al., *Ethanolamine controls expression of genes encoding components involved in interkingdom signaling and virulence in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* mBio, 2012. **3**: p. e00050-12.
- 110. Luzader, D.H., et al., *EutR is a direct regulator of genes that contribute to metabolism and virulence in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J. Bacteriol., 2013. **195**: p. 4947-4953.
- 111. Porter, M.E., et al., *The LEE1 promoters from both enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli can be activated by PerC-like proteins from either organism.* J Bacteriol, 2005. **187**(2): p. 458-72.
- 112. Branchu, P., et al., *NsrR, GadE, and GadX interplay in repressing expression of the Escherichia coli 0157:H7 LEE pathogenicity island in response to nitric oxide.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(1): p. e1003874.
- 113. Hughes, D.T., et al., *The QseC adrenergic signaling cascade in Enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC).* PLoS Pathog, 2009. **5**(8): p. e1000553.
- 114. Njoroge, J.W., et al., *Virulence meets metabolism: Cra and KdpE gene regulation in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* MBio, 2012. **3**(5): p. e00280-12.

- 115. Kendall, M.M., et al., *Hfq virulence regulation in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 strain 86-24.* J. Bacteriol., 2011.
- 116. Laaberki, M.H., et al., *Concert of regulators to switch on LEE expression in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7: interplay between Ler, GrlA, HNS and RpoS.* Int J Med Microbiol, 2006. **296**(4-5): p. 197-210.
- 117. Nakanishi, N., et al., ppGpp with DksA controls gene expression in the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) pathogenicity island of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli through activation of two virulence regulatory genes. Mol. Microbiol., 2006. **61**(1): p. 194-205.
- 118. Flockhart, A.F., et al., Identification of a novel prophage regulator in Escherichia coli controlling the expression of type III secretion. Mol. Microbiol., 2012. 83: p. 208-223.
- 119. Luzader, D.H., et al., *The ETT2-encoded regulator EtrB modulates enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli virulence gene expression.* Infect Immun, 2016.
- 120. Tobe, T., et al., *Dual regulatory pathways integrating the RcsC-RcsD-RcsB signalling system control enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli pathogenicity.* Mol Microbiol, 2005. **58**(1): p. 320-33.
- 121. Pacheco, A.R., et al., *Fucose sensing regulates bacterial intestinal colonization*. Nature, 2012. **492**: p. 113-117.
- 122. Kanamaru, K., et al., *SdiA, an Escherichia coli homologue of quorum sensingregulators, controls the expression of virulence factors in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Mol. Microbiol., 2000. **38**: p. 805-816.
- 123. Hughes, D.T., et al., *Chemical sensing in mammalian host–bacterial commensal associations* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2010. **107**: p. 9831-9836.
- 124. Zhang, L., et al., *Regulators encoded in the Escherichia coli type III secretion* system 2 gene cluster influence expression of genes within the locus for enterocyte effacement in enterohemorrhagic E. coli 0157:H7. Infect. Immun., 2004. **72**(12): p. 7282-7293.
- 125. Sharma, V.K. and R.L. Zuerner, *Role of hha and ler in transcriptional regulation of the esp operon of Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J. Bacteriol., 2004. **186**: p. 7290-7301.
- 126. Tatsuno, I., et al., *Increased adherence to Caco-2 cells caused by disruption of the yhiE and yhiF genes in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Infect Immun, 2003. **71**(5): p. 2598-606.
- 127. Karmali, M.A., et al., *The association between idiopathic hemolytic uremic syndrome and infection by verotoxin-producing Escherichia coli*. J Infect Dis, 1985. **151**(5): p. 775-82.
- 128. Shiga, K., Zentrabl. Bakteriol. Orig, 1898. 24.
- 129. O'Brien, A.D., et al., *Purification of Shigella dysenteriae 1 (Shiga)-like toxin from Escherichia coli 0157:H7 strain associated with haemorrhagic colitis.* Lancet, 1983. **2**(8349): p. 573.
- 130. Karmali, M.A., et al., *Sporadic cases of haemolytic-uraemic syndrome associated with faecal cytotoxin and cytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli in stools.* Lancet, 1983. **1**(8325): p. 619-20.

- 131. Stein, P.E., et al., *Crystal structure of the cell-binding B oligomer of verotoxin-1 from E. coli.* Nature, 1992. **355**(6362): p. 748-50.
- 132. O'Brien, A.D., et al., *Shiga toxin: biochemistry, genetics, mode of action, and role in pathogenesis.* Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 1992. **180**: p. 65-94.
- 133. Fraser, M.E., et al., *Crystal structure of the holotoxin from Shigella dysenteriae at 2.5 A resolution.* Nat Struct Biol, 1994. **1**(1): p. 59-64.
- 134. Jacewicz, M., et al., *Pathogenesis of shigella diarrhea. XI. Isolation of a shigella toxin-binding glycolipid from rabbit jejunum and HeLa cells and its identification as globotriaosylceramide.* J Exp Med, 1986. **163**(6): p. 1391-404.
- 135. Lindberg, A.A., et al., *Identification of the carbohydrate receptor for Shiga toxin produced by Shigella dysenteriae type 1.* J Biol Chem, 1987. **262**(4): p. 1779-85.
- 136. Hagel, C., et al., Upregulation of Shiga toxin receptor CD77/Gb3 and interleukin-1beta expression in the brain of EHEC patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome and neurologic symptoms. Brain Pathol, 2015. **25**(2): p. 146-56.
- Magnus, T., et al., *The neurological syndrome in adults during the 2011* northern German E. coli serotype 0104:H4 outbreak. Brain, 2012. 135(Pt 6): p. 1850-9.
- 138. Acheson, D.W., et al., *Translocation of Shiga toxin across polarized intestinal cells in tissue culture.* Infect Immun, 1996. **64**(8): p. 3294-300.
- 139. Mukherjee, J., et al., *Human Stx2-specific monoclonal antibodies prevent systemic complications of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infection.* Infect Immun, 2002. **70**(2): p. 612-9.
- 140. Endo, Y., et al., *Site of action of a Vero toxin (VT2) from Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and of Shiga toxin on eukaryotic ribosomes. RNA N-glycosidase activity of the toxins. Eur J Biochem, 1988. **171**(1-2): p. 45-50.
- 141. Romer, W., et al., *Shiga toxin induces tubular membrane invaginations for its uptake into cells.* Nature, 2007. **450**(7170): p. 670-5.
- 142. Nishikawa, Y., et al., *Relationship of genetic type of Shiga toxin to* manifestation of bloody diarrhea due to enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli serogroup 0157 isolates in Osaka City, Japan. J Clin Microbiol, 2000. **38**(6): p. 2440-2.
- 143. Fraser, M.E., et al., *Structure of shiga toxin type 2 (Stx2) from Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(26): p. 27511-7.
- 144. Boerlin, P., et al., *Associations between virulence factors of Shiga toxinproducing Escherichia coli and disease in humans.* J. Clin. Microbiol., 1999. **37**: p. 497-503.
- 145. Ritchie, J.M., et al., *Critical roles for stx2, eae, and tir in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli-induced diarrhea and intestinal inflammation in infant rabbits.* Infect. Immun., 2003. **71**(12): p. 7129-7139.
- 146. Wadolkowski, E.A., et al., *Acute renal tubular necrosis and death of mice orally infected with Escherichia coli strains that produce Shiga-like toxin type II.* Infect Immun, 1990. **58**(12): p. 3959-65.
- 147. Nataro, J.P. and J.B. Kaper, *Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli*. Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 1998. **11**(1): p. 142-201.

- 148. Tzipori, S., et al., *The role of the eaeA gene in diarrhea and neurological complications in a gnotobiotic piglet model of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli infection.* Infect. Immun., 1995. **63**: p. 3621-3627.
- 149. Griffin, P.M., et al., *Illnesses associated with Escherichia coli 0157:H7*. Ann. Intern. Med., 1988. **109**: p. 705-712.
- 150. Ethelberg, S., et al., *Virulence factors for hemolytic uremic syndrome, Denmark.* Emerg. Infect. Dis., 2004. **10**: p. 842-847.
- 151. Griffin, P.M., *Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and other enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli* Infections of the gastrointestinal tract, ed. M.J. Blaser, et al. 1995, New York: Raven Press.
- 152. Griffin, P.M. and R.V. Tauxe, *The epidemiology of infections caused by Escherichia coli 0157:H7, other enterohemorrhagic E. coli, and the associated hemolytic uremic syndrome.* Epidemiol. Rev., 1991. **13**: p. 60-98.
- 153. Johansen, B.K., et al., *Mosaic structure of Shiga-toxin-2-encoding phages isolated from Escherichia coli 0157:H7 indicates frequent gene exchange between lambdoid phage genomes.* Microbiology, 2001. **147**(Pt 7): p. 1929-36.
- 154. O'Brien, A.D., et al., Shiga-like toxin-converting phages from Escherichia coli strains that cause hemorrhagic colitis or infantile diarrhea. Science, 1984.
 226(4675): p. 694-696.
- Neely, M.N. and D.I. Friedman, Functional and genetic analysis of regulatory regions of coliphage H-19B: location of shiga-like toxin and lysis genes suggest a role for phage functions in toxin release. Molecular Microbiology, 1998.
 28(6): p. 1255-1267.
- 156. Muhldorfer, I., et al., *Regulation of the Shiga-like toxin II operon in Escherichia coli.* Infect. Immun., 1996. **64**(2): p. 495-502.
- 157. Zimmerhackl, L.B., *E. coli, antibiotics, and the hemolytic-uremic syndrome.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(26): p. 1990-1.
- 158. Safdar, N., et al., *Risk of hemolytic uremic syndrome after antibiotic treatment of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 enteritis: a meta-analysis.* JAMA, 2002. **288**(8): p. 996-1001.
- 159. McGannon, C.M., C.A. Fuller, and A.A. Weiss, *Different classes of antibiotics differentially influence shiga toxin production.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2010. **54**(9): p. 3790-8.
- 160. Wong, C.S., et al., *The risk of the hemolytic-uremic syndrome after antibiotic treatment of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infections.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(26): p. 1930-6.
- 161. Edwards, R.A. and J.L. Puente, *Fimbrial expression in enteric bacteria: a critical step in intestinal pathogenesis.* Trends Microbiol., 1998. **6**: p. 282-287.
- 162. Torres, A.G., X. Zhou, and J.B. Kaper, *Adherence of diarrhaegenic Escherichia coli strains to epithelial cells.* Infect. Immun., 2005. **73**: p. 18-29.
- 163. Perna, N.T., et al., *Genome sequence of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. Nature, 2001. **409**: p. 529-33.
- 164. Low, A.S., et al., Analysis of fimbrial gene clusters and their expression in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7. Environ. Microbiol., 2006.
 8(6): p. 1033-1047.

- 165. Korea, C.G., et al., *Escherichia coli K-12 possesses multiple cryptic but functional chaperone-usher fimbriae with distinct surface specificities.* Environ Microbiol, 2010. **12**(7): p. 1957-77.
- 166. Gonyar, L.A. and M.M. Kendall, *Ethanolamine and choline promote expression* of putative and characterized fimbriae in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7. Infect. Immun., 2014. **82**: p. 193-201.
- 167. Bäumler, A.J., R.M. Tsolis, and F. Heffron, *Identification and sequence analysis of lpfABCDE, a putative fimbrial operon of Salmonella typhimurium.* J. Bacteriol., 1995. **177**: p. 2087-2097.
- 168. Torres, A.G., et al., *Identification and characterization of lpfABCC'DE, a fimbrial operon of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Infect. Immun., 2002. **70**(10): p. 5416-5427.
- 169. Shen, S., et al., *Identification of four fimbria-encoding genomic islands that are highly specific for verocytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli serotype 0157 strains.* J Clin Microbiol, 2005. **43**(8): p. 3840-50.
- 170. Torres, A.G., et al., *Environmental regulation and colonization attributes of the long polar fimbriae (LPF) of Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Int. J. Med. Microbiol., 2007. **297**: p. 177-185.
- 171. Torres, A.G., et al., *Contribution of the Ler- and H-NS-regulated long polar fimbriae of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 during binding to tissue-cultured cells.* Infect. Immun., 2008. **76**(11): p. 5062-5071.
- 172. Rojas-Lopez, M., et al., *Regulatory control of the Escherichia coli 0157:H7 lpf1 operon by H-NS and Ler.* J. Bacteriol., 2011. **193**: p. 1622-1632.
- 173. Torres, A.G. and J.B. Kaper, *Multiple elements controlling adherence of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 to HeLa cells.* Infect Immun, 2003. **71**(9): p. 4985-95.
- 174. Torres, A.G., et al., *Characterization of the second long polar (LP) fimbriae of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and distribution of LP fimbriae in other pathogenic E. coli strains.* FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 2004. **238**: p. 333-344.
- 175. Farfan, M.J., et al., *Long polar fimbriae of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 bind to extracellular matrix proteins. Infect. Immun., 2011. **79**: p. 3744-3750.
- 176. Arenas-Hernandez, M.M., et al., *Environmental regulation of the long polar fimbriae 2 of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2014. **357**(2): p. 105-14.
- 177. Tatsuno, I., et al., *The lpf gene cluster for long polar fimbriae is not involved in adherence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli or virulence of Citrobacter rodentium.* Infect. Immun., 2006. **74**: p. 265-272.
- 178. Lloyd, S.J., et al., *A double, long polar fimbria mutant of Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 expresses curli and exhibits reduced in vivo colonization. Infect. Immun., 2012. doi:10.1128/IAI.05945-11.
- 179. Jordan, D.M., et al., *Long polar fimbriae contribute to colonization by Escherichia coli 0157:H7 in vivo.* Infect. Immun., 2004. **72**: p. 6168-6171.
- 180. Rendón, M.A., et al., *Commensal and pathogenic Escherichia coli use a common pilus adherence factor for epithelial cell colonization.* PNAS, 2007. **104**(25): p. 10637-10642.

- 181. Martinez-Santos, V.I., et al., *Transcriptional regulation of the ecp operon by EcpR, IHF, and H-NS in attaching and effacing Escherichia coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2012. **194**: p. 5020-5033.
- 182. Saldana, Z., et al., *The Escherichia coli common pilus and the bundle-forming pilus act in concert during the formation of localized adherence by enteropathogenic E. coli.* J Bacteriol, 2009. **191**(11): p. 3451-61.
- 183. Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., et al., *Intestinal adherence associated with type IV pili of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* J. Clin. Invest., 2007. **117**(11): p. 3519-3529.
- 184. Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., et al., *The type 4 pili of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 are multipurpose structures with pathogenic attributes.* J Bacteriol, 2009. **191**(1): p. 411-21.
- 185. Olsen, A., A. Jonsson, and S. Normark, *Fibronectin binding mediated by a novel class of surface organelles on Escherichia coli.* Nature, 1989. **338**(6217): p. 652-5.
- 186. Olsen, A., et al., *Environmental regulation of curli production in Escherichia coli*. Infect Agents Dis, 1993. **2**(4): p. 272-4.
- 187. Fink, R.C., et al., *Transcriptional responses of Escherichia coli K-12 and* 0157:H7 associated with lettuce leaves. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2012. 78(6): p. 1752-64.
- 188. Pawar, D.M., M.L. Rossman, and J. Chen, *Role of curli fimbriae in mediating the cells of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli to attach to abiotic surfaces.* J Appl Microbiol, 2005. **99**(2): p. 418-25.
- 189. Ryu, J.H. and L.R. Beuchat, *Biofilm formation by Escherichia coli 0157:H7 on stainless steel: effect of exopolysaccharide and Curli production on its resistance to chlorine.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 2005. **71**(1): p. 247-54.
- 190. Dong, T. and H.E. Schellhorn, *Global effect of RpoS on gene expression in pathogenic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 strain EDL933.* BMC Genomics, 2009. **10**: p. 349.
- 191. Olsen, A., et al., *The RpoS sigma factor relieves H-NS-mediated transcriptional repression of csgA, the subunit gene of fibronectin-binding curli in Escherichia coli.* Mol Microbiol, 1993. **7**(4): p. 523-36.
- 192. Lee, J.H., M.H. Cho, and J. Lee, *3-indolylacetonitrile decreases Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 biofilm formation and Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence. Environ Microbiol, 2011. **13**(1): p. 62-73.
- 193. Collinson, S.K., et al., Characterization of the agfBA fimbrial operon encoding thin aggregative fimbriae of Salmonella enteritidis. Adv Exp Med Biol, 1997.
 412: p. 247-8.
- 194. Olsen, A., et al., *Curli, fibrous surface proteins of Escherichia coli, interact with major histocompatibility complex class I molecules.* Infect Immun, 1998. **66**(3): p. 944-9.
- 195. Uhlich, G.A., J.E. Keen, and R.O. Elder, *Variations in the csgD promoter of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 associated with increased virulence in mice and increased invasion of HEp-2 cells.* Infect Immun, 2002. **70**(1): p. 395-9.
- 196. Austin, J.W., et al., *Thin aggregative fimbriae enhance Salmonella enteritidis biofilm formation.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 1998. **162**(2): p. 295-301.

- 197. Gophna, U., et al., *Curli fibers mediate internalization of Escherichia coli by eukaryotic cells.* Infect Immun, 2001. **69**(4): p. 2659-65.
- 198. Dziva, F., et al., *Identification of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 genes influencing colonization of the bovine gastrointestinal tract using signature-tagged mutagenesis.* Microbiology, 2004. **150**: p. 3631-3645.
- Low, A.S., et al., Cloning, expression, and characterization of fimbrial operon F9 from enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7. Infect. Immun., 2006.
 74(4): p. 2233-2244.
- 200. Samadder, P., et al., *The Escherichia coli ycbQRST operon encodes fimbriae* with laminin-binding and epithelial cell adherence properties in Shigatoxigenic E. coli 0157:H7. Environ. Microbiol., 2009. **11**: p. 1815-1826.
- 201. Roe, A.J., et al., *Analysis of type 1 fimbriae expression in verotoxigenic Escherichia coli: a comparison between serotypes 0157 and 026.* Microbiology, 2001. **147**: p. 145-152.
- 202. Hung, C.S., et al., *Structural basis of tropism of Escherichia coli to the bladder during urinary tract infection.* Mol Microbiol, 2002. **44**(4): p. 903-15.
- 203. Chingcuanco, F., et al., Identification of a novel adhesin involved in acidinduced adhesion of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7. Microbiology, 2012. 158: p. 2399-2407.
- 204. Mol, O. and B. Oudega, *Molecular and structural aspects of fimbriae biosynthesis and assembly in Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 1996.
 19(1): p. 25-52.
- 205. Klemm, P., et al., *The export systems of type 1 and F1C fimbriae are interchangeable but work in parental pairs.* J. Bacteriol., 1995. **177**: p. 621-627.
- 206. Ren, C.P., et al., *The ETT2 gene cluster, encoding a second type III secretion system from Escherichia coli, is present in the majority of strains but has undergone widespread mutational attrition.* J Bacteriol, 2004. **186**(11): p. 3547-60.
- 207. Lostroh, C.P. and C.A. Lee, *The Salmonella pathogenicity island-1 type III secretion system.* Microbes Infect, 2001. **3**(14-15): p. 1281-91.
- 208. Makino, S., et al., *Distribution of the secondary type III secretion system locus* found in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 isolates among Shiga toxin-producing E. coli strains. J Clin Microbiol, 2003. **41**(6): p. 2341-7.
- 209. Zhang, L., et al., *Regulators encoded in the Escherichia coli type III secretion* system 2 gene cluster influence expression of genes within the locus for enterocyte effacement in enterohemorrhagic E. coli 0157:H7. Infect Immun, 2004. **72**(12): p. 7282-93.
- 210. Surette, M.G. and B.L. Bassler, *Quorum sensing in Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium.* PNAS, 1998. **95**: p. 7046-7050.
- 211. Sperandio, V., et al., *Quorum sensing controls expression of the type III secretion gene transcription and protein secretion in enterohemorrhagic and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 1999. **96**(26): p. 15196-15201.
- 212. Walters, M., M.P. Sircili, and V. Sperandio, *AI-3 synthesis is not dependent on luxS in Escherichia coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2006. **188**(16): p. 5668-5681.

- 213. Sperandio, V., et al., *Bacteria-host communication: the language of hormones.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(15): p. 8951-6.
- 214. Sperandio, V., C.C. Li, and J.B. Kaper, *Quorum-sensing Escherichia coli* regulator A: a regulator of the LysR family involved in the regulation of the locus of enterocyte effacement pathogenicity island in enterohemorrhagic E. coli. Infect. Immun., 2002. **70**(6): p. 3085-3093.
- 215. Russell, R., et al., *QseA and GrlR/GrlA regulation of the locus of enterocyte effacement genes in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2007. **189**(14): p. 5387-5392.
- 216. Sircili, M.P., et al., *Modulation of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli virulence by quorum sensing.* Infect. Immun., 2004. **72**(4): p. 2329-2337.
- 217. Cotton, P.B., *Non-dietary lipid in the intestinal lumen.* Gut, 1972. **13**: p. 675-681.
- 218. Gibellini, F. and T.K. Smith, *The Kennedy pathway- de novo synthesis of phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylcholine.* Life, 2010. **62**(6): p. 414-428.
- 219. Bakovic, M., M.D. Fullerton, and V. Michel, *Metabolic and moleclar aspects of ethanolamine phospholipid biosynthesis: the role of CTP:phosphoethanolamine cytidylyl-transferase (Pcyt2).* Biochem. Cell Biol., 2007. **85**: p. 283-300.
- 220. Meijerink, J., et al., *The ethanolamide metabolite of DHA,* docosahexaenoylethanolamine, shows immunomodulating effects in mouse peritoneal and RAW264.7 macrophages: evidence for a new link between fish oil and inflammation. Br J Nutr, 2011. **105**(12): p. 1798-807.
- 221. Sugiura, T., et al., *Biosynthesis and degradation of anandamide and 2arachidonoylglycerol and their possible physiological significance.* Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids, 2002. **66**(2-3): p. 173-92.
- 222. Roof, D.M. and J.R. Roth, *Ethanolamine utilization in Salmonella typhimurium*. J. Bacteriol., 1988. **170**(9): p. 3855-3863.
- 223. Tsoy, O., D. Ravcheev, and A. Mushegian, *Comparative genomics of ethanolamine utilization*. J. Bacteriol., 2009. **191**(23): p. 7157-7164.
- 224. Bertin, Y., et al., *Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli gains a competitive advantage by using ethanolamine as a nitrogen source in the bovine intestinal content.* Environ. Microbiol., 2011. **13**: p. 365-377.
- 225. Thiennimitr, P., et al., *Intestinal inflammation allows Salmonella to use ethanolamine to compete with the microbiota.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2011.
 108: p. 17480-17485.
- 226. Maadani, A., et al., *Enterococcus faecalis mutations affecting virulence in Caenorhabditis elegans model host.* Infect. Immun., 2007. **75**: p. 2634-2637.
- Mellin, J.R., et al., *Riboswitches. Sequestration of a two-component response regulator by a riboswitch-regulated noncoding RNA.* Science, 2014.
 345(6199): p. 940-3.
- 228. Anderson, C.J., et al., *Ethanolamine Signaling Promotes Salmonella Niche Recognition and Adaptation during Infection.* PLoS Pathog, 2015. **11**(11): p. e1005278.

- 229. Hayashi, T., et al., *Complete genome sequence of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and genomic comparison with a laboratory strain K-12* DNA Res., 2001. **8**: p. 11-22.
- 230. Farfan, M.J. and A.G. Torres, *Molecular mechanisms that mediate colonization of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli strains.* Infect. Immun., 2012: p. 903-913.
- 231. Nguyen, Y.N., et al., *The acyl-homoserine lactone synthase YenI from Yersinia* enterocolitica modulates virulence gene expression in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7. Infect Immun, 2013. **81**(11): p. 4192-9.
- 232. Shin, S., et al., An activator of glutamate decarboxylase genes regulates the expression of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli virulence genes through control of the plasmid-encoded regulator, Per. Mol Microbiol, 2001. **41**(5): p. 1133-50.
- 233. Walters, M. and V. Sperandio, *Autoinducer 3 and epinephrine signaling in the kinetics of locus of enterocyte effacement gene expression in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* Infect. Immun., 2006. **74**: p. 544-5455.
- 234. Sperandio, V., et al., *Bacteria-host communication: the language of hormones.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2003. **100**(15): p. 8951-8956.
- 235. Tan, J., et al., *The role of short-chain fatty acids in health and disease.* Adv Immunol, 2014. **121**: p. 91-119.
- 236. Nakanishi, N., et al., *Regulation of virulence by butyrate sensing in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* Microbiology, 2009. **155**: p. 521-530.
- 237. Abe, A., et al., *Global regulation by horizontally transferred regulators establishes the pathogenicity of Escherichia coli.* DNA Res., 2008. **15**: p. 25-38.
- 238. Iyoda, S. and H. Watanabe, *Positive effects of multiple pch genes on expression of the locus of enterocyte effacement genes and adherence of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 to HEp-2 cells.* Microbiology, 2004. **150**(7): p. 2357-2571.
- 239. Takao, M., H. Yen, and T. Tobe, *LeuO enhances butyrate-induced virulence expression through a positive regulatory loop in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli.* Mol Microbiol, 2014. **93**(6): p. 1302-13.
- 240. Chingcuanco, F., et al., *Identification of a novel adhesin involved in acidinduced adhesion of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157 : H7.* Microbiology, 2012. **158**(Pt 9): p. 2399-407.
- 241. Groisman, E.A. and C. Mouslim, *Sensing by bacterial regulatory systems in host and non-host environments.* Nature Rev. Microbiol., 2006. **4**: p. 705-709.
- 242. Garsin, D.A., *Ethanolamine utilization in bacterial pathogens: roles and regulation.* Nature Rev. Microbiol., 2010. **8**: p. 290-295.
- 243. Snoeck, V., B. Goddeeris, and E. Cox, *The role of enterocytes in the intestinal barrier function and antigen uptake.* Microbes Infect., 2005. **7**: p. 997-1004.
- 244. Korbel, J.O., et al., *Systematic association of genes to phenotypes by genome and literature mining.* PLoS Biol., 2005. **10.1371/journal.pbio.0031034**.
- 245. Brinsmade, S.R., T. Paldon, and J.C. Escalante-Semerena, *Minimal functions and physiological conditions required for growth of Salmonella enterica on ethanolamine in the absence of the metabolosome.* J. Bacteriol., 2005. **187**: p. 8039-8046.

- 246. Kofoid, E., et al., *The 17-gene ethanolamine (eut) operon of Salmonella typhimurium encodes five homologues of carboxysome shell proteins.* J. Bacteriol., 1999. **181**: p. 5317-5239.
- 247. Penrod, J.T., C.C. Mace, and J.R. Roth, *A pH-sensitive function and phenotype:* evidence that EutH facilitates diffusion of uncharged ethanolamine in Salmonella enterica. J. Bacteriol., 2004. **186**: p. 6885-6890.
- 248. Penrod, J.T. and J.R. Roth, *Conserving a volatile metabolite: a role for carboxysome-like organelles in Salmonella enterica.* J. Bacteriol., 2006. **188**: p. 2865-2874.
- 249. Sheppard, D.E., et al., *Evidence that a B12-adenosyl transferase is encoded within the ethanolamine operon of Salmonella enterica.* J. Bacteriol., 2004. **186**: p. 7635-7644.
- 250. Starai, V.J., J. Garrity, and J.C. Escalante-Semerena, *Acetate excretion during* growth of Salmonella enterica on ethanolamine requires phophotransacetylase (*EutD*) activity, and acetate recapture requires acetyl-CoA synthetase (Acs) and phophotransacetylase (*Pta*) activities. Microbiology, 2005. **151**: p. 3793-3801.
- 251. Stojiljkovic, I., A.J. Baümler, and F. Heffron, *Ethanolamine utilization in Salmonella typhimurium: nucleotide sequence, protein expression, and mutational analysis of the cchA cchB eutE eutJ eutG eutH gene cluster.* J. Bacteriol., 1995. **177**(5): p. 1357-1366.
- 252. Roof, D.M. and J.R. Roth, *Autogenous regulation of ethanolamine utilization by a transcriptional activator of the eut operon in Salmonella typhimurium.* J. Bacteriol., 1992. **174**: p. 6634-6643.
- 253. Karmali, M.A., et al., *Escherichia coli cytotoxin, haemolytic-uraemic syndrome, and haemorrhagic colitis.* Lancet, 1983. **2**: p. 1299-1300.
- 254. Jarvis, K.G., et al., *Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli contains a putative type III secretion system necessary for the export of proteins involved in attaching and effacing lesion formation.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 1995. **92**(17): p. 7996-8000.
- 255. Jerse, A.E., et al., *A genetic locus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli necessary* for the production of attaching and effacing lesions on tissue culture cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 1990. **87**: p. 7839-43.
- 256. Elliott, S.J., et al., *EspG, a novel type III system-secreted protein from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli with similarities to VirA of Shigella flexneri.* Infect. Immun., 2001. **69**: p. 4027-4033.
- 257. Kanack, K.J., et al., *SepZ/EspZ is secreted and translocated into HeLa cells by the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III secretion system.* Infect. Immun., 2005. **73**: p. 4327-4337.
- 258. McNamara, B.P. and M.S. Donnenberg, *A novel proline-rich protein, EspF, is secreted from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli via the type III export pathway.* FEMS Microbiol Lett., 1998. **166**: p. 71-78.
- 259. Tu, X., et al., *EspH, a new cytoskeleton-modulating effector of enterohaemorrhagic and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli.* Mol. Microbiol., 2003. **47**: p. 595-606.
- 260. Sánchez-SanMartín, C., et al., *Transcriptional regulation of the orf19 gene and the tir-cesT-eae operon of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2001. **183**: p. 2823-2833.

- 261. Anonymous, *Applied Biosystems Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System: user bulletin #2.* 1997, Norwalk, Conn.: Perkin-Elmer Corp.
- 262. Sambrook, J., E.F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis, *Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual*. 2 ed. 1989, Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 263. Randle, C.L., P.W. Albro, and J.C. Dittmer, *The phosphoglyceride composition of gram-negative bacteria and the changes in composition during growth.* Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1969. **187**: p. 214-220.
- 264. Vance, J.E., *Phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine in mammalian cells: two metabolically related aminophospholipids*. J. Lipid Res., 2008. **49**: p. 1377-1387.
- 265. Barnett-Foster, D.E., et al., *Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli induces apoptosis which augments bacterial binding and phophatidylethanolamine exposure on the plasma membrane outer leaflet.* Infect. Immun., 2000. **68**(6): p. 3108-3115.
- 266. Barnett-Foster, D.E., et al., *Phosphatidylethanolamine recognition promotes enteropathogenic E. coli and enterohemorrhagic E. coli host cell attachment.* Microb. Path., 1999. **27**: p. 289-301.
- 267. Kelly, A., et al., *A global role for Fis in the transcriptional control of metabolism and type III secretion in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium.* Microbiology, 2004. **150**: p. 2037-2053.
- 268. Lawhon, S.D., et al., *Global regulation by CsrA in Salmonella typhimrium*. Mol. Microbiol., 2003. **48**: p. 1633-1645.
- 269. Toledo-Arana, A., et al., *The Listeria transcriptional landscape from saprophytism to virulence.* Nature, 2009. **459**: p. 950-956.
- 270. Iguchi, A., et al., *Complete genome sequence and comparative genome analysis of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli 0127:H6 strain E2348/69.* J. Bacteriol., 2009. **191**: p. 347-354.
- 271. Ptashne, M. and A. Gann, *Transcriptional activation by recruitment*. Nature, 1997. **386**: p. 569-577.
- 272. Madan Babu, M. and S.A. Teichmann, *Functional determinants of transcription factors in Escherichia coli: protein families and binding sites.* Trends Genet, 2003. **19**(2): p. 75-9.
- 273. Will, W.R., et al., *Evolutionary expansion of a regulatory network by countersilencing.* Nat Commun, 2014. **5**: p. 5270.
- 274. Joung, J.K., E.I. Ramm, and C.O. Pabo, *A bacterial two-hybrid selection system for studying protein-DNA and protein-protein interactions.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. **97**(13): p. 7382-7.
- 275. Freeman, Z.N., S. Dorus, and N.R. Waterfield, *The KdpD/KdpE two-component system: integrating K+ homeostasis and virulence.* PLoS Pathog., 2013. **9**(3): p. e1003201.
- 276. Wadolkowski, E.A., J.A. Burris, and A.D. O'Brien, *Mouse model for colonization and disease caused by enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7.* Infect. Immun., 1990. **58**: p. 2438-2445.

- 277. Elliott, S.J., et al., *Identification of CesT, a chaperone for the type III secretion of Tir in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol., 1999. 33: p. 1176-1189.
- 278. Garcia-Angulo, V.A., et al., *Regulation of expression and secretion of NleH, a new non-locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded effector in Citrobacter rodentium.* J. Bacteriol., 2008. **190**: p. 2388-2399.
- 279. Garmendia, J., et al., *TccP is an enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 type III effector protein that couples Tir to the actin-cytoskeleton.* Cell. Microbiol., 2004. **6**: p. 1167-1183.
- 280. Mundy, R., et al., *Identification of a novel Citrobacter rodentium type III* secreted protein, *EspI*, and roles of this and other secreted proteins in infection. Infect. Immun., 2004. **72**: p. 2288-2302.
- 281. Shaw, R.K., et al., *Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III effectors EspG and EspG2 disrupt the microtubule network of intestinal epithelial cells.* Infect. Immun., 2005. **73**: p. 4385-4390.
- 282. Abe, H., et al., *Bicarbonate ion stimulates the expression of locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded genes in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Infect Immun, 2002. **70**(7): p. 3500-9.
- 283. Connolly, J.P., et al., *The host metabolite D-serine contributes to bacterial niche specificity through gene selection.* ISME J, 2015. **9**(4): p. 1052.
- 284. Curtis, M.M., et al., *The gut commensal Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* exacerbates enteric infection through modification of the metabolic landscape. Cell Host Microbe, 2014. **16**(6): p. 759-69.
- 285. Hart, E., et al., *RegA, an AraC-like protein, is a global transcriptional regulator that controls virulence gene expression in Citrobacter rodentium.* Infect Immun, 2008. **76**(11): p. 5247-56.
- 286. Yang, B., et al., *Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli senses low biotin status in the large intestine for colonization and infection.* Nat Commun, 2015. **6**: p. 6592.
- Datsenko, K.A. and B.L. Wanner, *One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli K-12 using PCR products.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2000.
 97(12): p. 6640-6645.
- 288. Lane, M.C., et al., Expression of flagella is coincident with uropathogenic Escherichia coli ascension to the upper urinary tract. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. 104(42): p. 16669-74.
- 289. Knutton, S., et al., *Actin accumulation at sites of bacterial adhesion to tissue culture cells: basis of a new diagnostic test for enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Eshcherichia coli.* Infect. Immun., 1989. **57**: p. 1290-1298.
- 290. Willsey, G.G. and M.J. Wargo, *Sarcosine Catabolism in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Is Transcriptionally Regulated by SouR.* J Bacteriol, 2016. **198**(2): p. 301-10.
- 291. Dean-Nystrom, E.A., et al., *Escherichia coli 0157:H7 requires intimin for enteropathogenicity in calves.* Infect. Immun., 1998. **66**: p. 4560-4563.
- 292. Donnenberg, M.S., et al., *Role of the eaeA gene in experimental enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection.* J. Clin. Invest., 1993. **92**: p. 1412-1417.

- 293. McKee, M.L., et al., *Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 requires intimin to colonize the gnotobiotic pig intestine and to adhere to HEp-2 cells.* Infect. Immun., 1995. **63**: p. 3739-3744.
- 294. Mohawk, K.L., et al., *Neutralizing antibodies to Shiga toxin type 2 (Stx2) reduce colonization of mice by Stx2-expressing Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Vaccine, 2010. **28**: p. 4777-4785.
- 295. Mohawk, K.L., et al., *Pathogenesis of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 strain 86-24 following oral infection of BALB/c mice with an intact commensal flora.* Microbial Path., 2010. **48**: p. 131-142.
- 296. Rasko, D.A., et al., *Targeting QseC signaling and virulence for antibiotic development.* Science, 2008. **321**(5892): p. 1078-80.
- 297. Vazquez-Juarez, R.C., et al., *CadA negatively regulates Escherichia coli 0157:H7 adherence and intestinal colonization.* Infect Immun, 2008. **76**(11): p. 5072-81.
- 298. Woods, J.B., et al., *Ferrets as a model system for renal disease secondary to intestinal infection with Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing E. coli.* J. Infect. Dis., 2002. **185**: p. 550-4.
- 299. Lane, M.C., A.N. Simms, and H.L.T. Mobley, *Complex interplay between type 1 fimbrial expression and flagellum-mediated motility of uropathogenic Eschericha coli.* J. Bacteriol., 2007. **189**: p. 5523-5533.
- 300. Iwai, H., et al., *A bacterial effector targets Mad2L2, an APC inhibitor, to modulate host cell cycling.* Cell, 2007. **130**: p. 611-623.
- 301. Yen, H., N. Sugimoto, and T. Tobe, *Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Uses NleA* to *Inhibit NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation*. PLoS Pathog, 2015. **11**(9): p. e1005121.
- 302. Argaman, L., et al., *Novel small RNA-encoding genes in the intergenic regions of Escherichia coli.* Curr. Biol., 2001. **11**(12): p. 941-950.
- 303. Vogel, J., et al., RNomics in Escherichia coli detects new sRNA species and indicates parallel transcriptional output in bacteria. Nucleic Acids Res, 2003.
 31(22): p. 6435-43.
- 304. Wassarman, K.M., et al., *Identification of novel small RNAs using comparative genomics and microarrays.* Genes Dev., 2001. **15**(13): p. 1637-1651.
- Nuccio, S.-P. and A.J. Bäumler, *Evolution of the chaperone/usher assembly pathway: fimbrial classification goes Greek.* Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 2007. 71: p. 551-575.
- 306. Ideses, D., et al., *A degenerate type III secretion system from septicemic Escherichia coli contributes to pathogenesis.* J Bacteriol, 2005. **187**(23): p. 8164-71.
- 307. Yao, Y., et al., *The type III secretion system is involved in the invasion and intracellular survival of Escherichia coli K1 in human brain microvascular endothelial cells.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2009. **300**(1): p. 18-24.
- 308. Jung, K., et al., *Histidine kinases and response regulators in networks.* Curr. Opin. Microbiol., 2012. **15**: p. 118-124.
- 309. Yamamoto, K., et al., *Functional characterization in vitro of all two-component signal transduction systems from Escherichia coli.* J. Biol. Chem., 2005. **280**: p. 1448-1456.

- 310. Alon, U., *Network motifs: theory and experimental approaches.* Nat Rev Genet, 2007. **8**(6): p. 450-61.
- 311. Kline, K.A., et al., *Bacterial adhesins in host-microbe interactions.* Cell Host Microbe, 2009. **5**(6): p. 580-92.
- 312. Pizarro-Cerda, J. and P. Cossart, *Bacterial adhesion and entry into host cells*. Cell, 2006. **124**(4): p. 715-27.
- 313. Proft, T. and E.N. Baker, *Pili in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria structure, assembly and their role in disease.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2009. **66**(4): p. 613-35.
- 314. Krachler, A.M. and K. Orth, *Targeting the bacteria-host interface: strategies in anti-adhesion therapy.* Virulence, 2013. **4**(4): p. 284-94.
- 315. Tuttle, J., et al., *Lessons from a large outbreak of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infections: insights into the infectious dose and method of widespread contamination of hamburger patties.* Epidemiol Infect, 1999. **122**(2): p. 185-92.
- 316. Melton-Celsa, A.R., et al., *Virulence of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) in orally-infected mice correlates with the type of toxin produced by the infecting strain.* Jpn J Med Sci Biol, 1998. **51 Suppl**: p. S108-14.
- 317. Dowhan, W., *Molecular basis for membrane phospholipid diversity: why are there so many lipids?* Annu. Rev. Biochem., 1997. **66**: p. 199-232.
- 318. Guzman, L.M., et al., *Tight regulation, modulation, and high-level expression by vectors containing the arabinose PBAD promoter.* J Bacteriol, 1995. **177**(14): p. 4121-30.
- 319. Wadolkowski, E.A., D.C. Laux, and P.S. Cohen, *Colonization of the streptomycin-treated mouse large intestine by a human fecal Escherichia coli strain: role of growth in mucus.* Infect. Immun., 1988. **56**: p. 1030-1035.
- 320. Sinclair, J.F., E.A. Dean-Nystrom, and A.D. O'Brien, *The established intimin* receptor Tir and the putative eucaryotic intimin receptors nucleolin and beta1 integrin localize at or near the site of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 adherence to enterocytes in vivo. Infect Immun, 2006. **74**(2): p. 1255-65.
- 321. Harrington, S.M., et al., *The Pic protease of enteroaggregative Escherichia coli* promotes intestinal colonization and growth in the presence of mucin. Infect. Immun., 2009. **77**: p. 2465-2473.
- 322. Jumarie, C. and C. Malo, *Caco-2 cells cultured in serum-free medium as a model for the study of enterocytic differentiation in vitro.* J Cell Physiol, 1991. **149**(1): p. 24-33.
- 323. Petty, N.K., et al., *The Citrobacter rodentium genome sequence reveals* convergent evolution with human pathogenic Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol, 2010. **192**(2): p. 525-38.
- 324. Persat, A., et al., *Type IV pili mechanochemically regulate virulence factors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2015. **112**(24): p. 7563-8.
- Otto, K. and T.J. Silhavy, Surface sensing and adhesion of Escherichia coli controlled by the Cpx-signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002.
 99(4): p. 2287-92.

- 326. Stock, A.M., V.L. Robinson, and P.N. Goudreau, *Two-component signal transduction.* Annu Rev Biochem, 2000. **69**: p. 183-215.
- 327. Goulian, M., *Two-component signaling circuit structure and properties.* Curr Opin Microbiol, 2010. **13**(2): p. 184-9.
- 328. Bury-Mone, S., et al., *Global analysis of extracytoplasmic stress signaling in Escherichia coli.* PLoS Genet, 2009. **5**(9): p. e1000651.
- 329. Weston, L.A. and R.J. Kadner, *Role of uhp genes in expression of the Escherichia coli sugar-phosphate transport system.* J Bacteriol, 1988. **170**(8): p. 3375-83.
- 330. Perez-Rodriguez, R., et al., *Envelope stress is a trigger of CRISPR RNA-mediated DNA silencing in Escherichia coli.* Mol Microbiol, 2011. **79**(3): p. 584-99.
- 331. Siryaporn, A., et al., *Surface attachment induces Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. **111**(47): p. 16860-5.
- 332. Cairns, L.S., et al., *A mechanical signal transmitted by the flagellum controls signalling in Bacillus subtilis.* Mol Microbiol, 2013. **90**(1): p. 6-21.
- Sterzenbach, T., et al., A novel CsrA titration mechanism regulates fimbrial gene expression in Salmonella typhimurium. EMBO J, 2013. 32(21): p. 2872-83.
- 334. Manting, E.H. and A.J. Driessen, *Escherichia coli translocase: the unravelling of a molecular machine.* Mol Microbiol, 2000. **37**(2): p. 226-38.
- 335. Pugsley, A.P., *The complete general secretory pathway in gram-negative bacteria*. Microbiol Rev, 1993. **57**(1): p. 50-108.
- 336. Randall, L.L. and S.J. Hardy, Unity in function in the absence of consensus in sequence: role of leader peptides in export. Science, 1989. 243(4895): p. 1156-9.
- 337. von Heijne, G., *The signal peptide*. J Membr Biol, 1990. **115**(3): p. 195-201.
- 338. von Heijne, G., Signal sequences. The limits of variation. J Mol Biol, 1985.184(1): p. 99-105.
- 339. Inouye, M. and S. Halegoua, *Secretion and membrane localization of proteins in Escherichia coli.* CRC Crit Rev Biochem, 1980. **7**(4): p. 339-71.
- 340. Izard, J.W. and D.A. Kendall, *Signal peptides: exquisitely designed transport promoters.* Mol Microbiol, 1994. **13**(5): p. 765-73.
- 341. Storz, G., J. Vogel, and K.M. Wassarman, *Regulation by small RNAs in bacteria: expanding frontiers.* Mol Cell, 2011. **43**(6): p. 880-91.
- 342. Mohawk, K.L. and A.D. O'Brien, *Mouse models of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infection and shiga toxin injection.* J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011. **2011**: p. 258185.
- 343. Sauer, F.G., et al., *Bacterial pili: molecular mechanisms of pathogenesis.* Curr Opin Microbiol, 2000. **3**(1): p. 65-72.
- 344. Costa de Beauregard, M.A., et al., *Suppression of villin expression by antisense RNA impairs brush border assembly in polarized epithelial intestinal cells.* EMBO J, 1995. **14**(3): p. 409-21.
- 345. Beaulieu, J.F. and A. Quaroni, *Clonal analysis of sucrase-isomaltase expression in the human colon adenocarcinoma Caco-2 cells.* Biochem J, 1991. 280 (Pt 3): p. 599-608.

- 346. Peterson, M.D. and M.S. Mooseker, *Characterization of the enterocyte-like brush border cytoskeleton of the C2BBe clones of the human intestinal cell line, Caco-2.* J Cell Sci, 1992. **102 (Pt 3)**: p. 581-600.
- 347. Sambuy, Y., et al., *The Caco-2 cell line as a model of the intestinal barrier: influence of cell and culture-related factors on Caco-2 cell functional characteristics.* Cell Biol Toxicol, 2005. **21**(1): p. 1-26.
- 348. Giannasca, K.T., P.J. Giannasca, and M.R. Neutra, *Adherence of Salmonella typhimurium to Caco-2 cells: identification of a glycoconjugate receptor.* Infect Immun, 1996. **64**(1): p. 135-45.
- 349. Murakami, H. and H. Masui, *Hormonal control of human colon carcinoma cell growth in serum-free medium.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1980. **77**(6): p. 3464-8.
- 350. Chopra, D.P., et al., *Intestinal epithelial cells in vitro.* Stem Cells Dev, 2010. **19**(1): p. 131-42.
- 351. Sato, T., et al., *Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche.* Nature, 2009. **459**(7244): p. 262-5.
- 352. Li, X., et al., *Repression of bacterial motility by a novel fimbrial gene product.* EMBO J, 2001. **20**(17): p. 4854-62.
- 353. Simms, A.N. and H.L. Mobley, *PapX, a P fimbrial operon-encoded inhibitor of motility in uropathogenic Escherichia coli.* Infect Immun, 2008. **76**(11): p. 4833-41.
- 354. Alsharif, G., et al., *Host attachment and fluid shear are integrated into a mechanical signal regulating virulence in Escherichia coli 0157:H7.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2015. **112**(17): p. 5503-8.
- 355. Taha, M.K., et al., *Pilus-mediated adhesion of Neisseria meningitidis: the essential role of cell contact-dependent transcriptional upregulation of the PilC1 protein.* Mol Microbiol, 1998. **28**(6): p. 1153-63.
- 356. Deghmane, A.E., et al., *Down-regulation of pili and capsule of Neisseria meningitidis upon contact with epithelial cells is mediated by CrgA regulatory protein.* Mol. Microbiol., 2002. **43**: p. 1555-1564.
- 357. Tucker, S.C. and J.E. Galan, Complex function for SicA, a Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium type III secretion-associated chaperone. J Bacteriol, 2000.
 182(8): p. 2262-8.
- 358. Darwin, K.H. and V.L. Miller, *The putative invasion protein chaperone SicA acts together with InvF to activate the expression of Salmonella typhimurium virulence genes.* Mol. Microbiol., 2000. **35**: p. 949-960.
- 359. Mavris, M., et al., *Regulation of transcription by the activity of the Shigella flexneri type III secretion apparatus.* Mol Microbiol, 2002. **43**(6): p. 1543-53.
- 360. Garmendia, J., G. Frankel, and V.F. Crepin, *Enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli infections: translocation, translocation, translocation.* Infect. Immun., 2005. **73**(5): p. 2573-2585.
- 361. Danese, P.N. and T.J. Silhavy, *CpxP*, a stress-combative member of the *Cpx* regulon. J Bacteriol, 1998. **180**(4): p. 831-9.
- 362. Raivio, T.L., D.L. Popkin, and T.J. Silhavy, *The Cpx envelope stress response is controlled by amplification and feedback inhibition.* J Bacteriol, 1999.
 181(17): p. 5263-72.

- 363. Hernday, A.D., et al., *Regulation of the pap epigenetic switch by CpxAR: phosphorylated CpxR inhibits transition to the phase ON state by competition with Lrp.* Mol Cell, 2004. **16**(4): p. 537-47.
- 364. Nevesinjac, A.Z. and T.L. Raivio, *The Cpx envelope stress response affects expression of the type IV bundle-forming pili of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol, 2005. **187**(2): p. 672-86.
- 365. Lee, Y.M., et al., *P pilus assembly motif necessary for activation of the CpxRA pathway by PapE in Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol, 2004. **186**(13): p. 4326-37.
- 366. Hung, D.L., et al., *Cpx signaling pathway monitors biogenesis and affects assembly and expression of P pili.* EMBO J, 2001. **20**(7): p. 1508-18.
- 367. Nakayama, S. and H. Watanabe, *Identification of cpxR as a positive regulator essential for expression of the Shigella sonnei virF gene.* J Bacteriol, 1998. **180**(14): p. 3522-8.
- 368. De la Cruz, M.A., et al., *The Two-Component System CpxRA Negatively Regulates the Locus of Enterocyte Effacement of Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli Involving sigma(32) and Lon protease.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2016. **6**: p. 11.
- 369. Shimizu, T., K. Ichimura, and M. Noda, The Surface Sensor NlpE of Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli Contributes to Regulation of the Type III Secretion System and Flagella by the Cpx Response to Adhesion. Infect Immun, 2016. 84(2): p. 537-49.
- 370. Hughes, D.T. and V. Sperandio, *Inter-kingdom signalling: communication between bacteria and their hosts.* Nature, 2008. **6**: p. 111-120.
- 371. Connolly, J.P., et al., *A Highly Conserved Bacterial D-Serine Uptake System Links Host Metabolism and Virulence.* PLoS Pathog, 2016. **12**(1): p. e1005359.
- 372. Chang, D.E., et al., *Carbon nutrition of Escherichia coli in the mouse intestine*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(19): p. 7427-32.
- 373. Miranda, R.L., et al., *Glycolytic and gluconeogenic growth of Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 (EDL933) and E. coli K-12 (MG1655) in the mouse intestine. Infect Immun, 2004. **72**(3): p. 1666-76.
- 374. Ritchie, J.M. and M.K. Waldor, *The locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded effector proteins all promote enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli pathogenicity in infant rabbits.* Infect Immun, 2005. **73**(3): p. 1466-74.
- 375. Lozada-Chavez, I., et al., *The role of DNA-binding specificity in the evolution of bacterial regulatory networks.* J Mol Biol, 2008. **379**(3): p. 627-43.
- Martinez-Antonio, A., S.C. Janga, and D. Thieffry, *Functional organisation of Escherichia coli transcriptional regulatory network*. J Mol Biol, 2008. **381**(1): p. 238-47.
- 377. Weinstein-Fischer, D. and S. Altuvia, *Differential regulation of Escherichia coli topoisomerase I by Fis.* Mol Microbiol, 2007. **63**(4): p. 1131-44.
- 378. Dale, C., et al., *Type III secretion systems and the evolution of mutualistic endosymbiosis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. **99**(19): p. 12397-402.
- 379. Cosson, P., et al., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence analyzed in a* Dictyostelium discoideum host system. J Bacteriol, 2002. 184(11): p. 3027-33.
- 380. Labrousse, A., et al., *Caenorhabditis elegans is a model host for Salmonella typhimurium.* Curr Biol, 2000. **10**(23): p. 1543-5.

- 381. Cosloy, S.D. and E. McFall, *Metabolism of D-serine in Escherichia coli K-12: mechanism of growth inhibition.* J Bacteriol, 1973. **114**(2): p. 685-94.
- 382. Li, G. and K.D. Young, *Indole production by the tryptophanase TnaA in Escherichia coli is determined by the amount of exogenous tryptophan.* Microbiology, 2013. **159**(Pt 2): p. 402-10.
- 383. Watanabe, T. and E.E. Snell, *The interaction of Escherichia coli tryptophanase* with various amino and their analogs. Active site mapping. J Biochem, 1977. **82**(3): p. 733-45.
- 384. Newton, W.A., Y. Morino, and E.E. Snell, *Properties of Crystalline Tryptophanase.* J Biol Chem, 1965. **240**: p. 1211-8.
- 385. Shuman, H.A. and T.J. Silhavy, *Identification of the malK gene product. A peripheral membrane component of the Escherichia coli maltose transport system.* J Biol Chem, 1981. **256**(2): p. 560-2.
- 386. Cusa, E., et al., *Genetic analysis of a chromosomal region containing genes* required for assimilation of allantoin nitrogen and linked glyoxylate metabolism in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol, 1999. **181**(24): p. 7479-84.
- 387. Madan Babu, M. and S.A. Teichmann, *Evolution of transcription factors and the gene regulatory network in Escherichia coli.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2003. **31**(4): p. 1234-44.
- 388. Lozada-Chavez, I., S.C. Janga, and J. Collado-Vides, *Bacterial regulatory networks are extremely flexible in evolution*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2006. **34**(12): p. 3434-45.
- 389. Madan Babu, M., S.A. Teichmann, and L. Aravind, *Evolutionary dynamics of prokaryotic transcriptional regulatory networks.* J Mol Biol, 2006. **358**(2): p. 614-33.
- 390. Price, M.N., P.S. Dehal, and A.P. Arkin, *Horizontal gene transfer and the evolution of transcriptional regulation in Escherichia coli*. Genome Biol, 2008.
 9(1): p. R4.
- 391. Rasko, D., A., et al., *Targeting QseC signaling and virulence for antibiotic development.* Science, 2008. **321**(5892): p. 1078-1080.
- 392. Petri, W.A., Jr., et al., *Enteric infections, diarrhea, and their impact on function and development.* J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(4): p. 1277-90.
- 393. Olive, A.J. and C.M. Sassetti, *Metabolic crosstalk between host and pathogen: sensing, adapting and competing.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2016. **14**(4): p. 221-34.
- Martinez-Antonio, A. and J. Collado-Vides, *Identifying global regulators in transcriptional regulatory networks in bacteria*. Curr Opin Microbiol, 2003.
 6(5): p. 482-9.
- 395. Resendis-Antonio, O., et al., *Modular analysis of the transcriptional regulatory network of E. coli.* Trends Genet, 2005. **21**(1): p. 16-20.
- 396. Gutierrez-Rios, R.M., et al., Regulatory network of Escherichia coli: consistency between literature knowledge and microarray profiles. Genome Res, 2003. 13(11): p. 2435-43.
- 397. Lee, T.I., et al., *Transcriptional regulatory networks in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.* Science, 2002. **298**(5594): p. 799-804.

- 398. Faith, J.J., et al., *Large-scale mapping and validation of Escherichia coli transcriptional regulation from a compendium of expression profiles.* PLoS Biol, 2007. **5**(1): p. e8.
- 399. Rhee, K.J., et al., *Determination of spatial and temporal colonization of enteropathogenic E. coli and enterohemorrhagic E. coli in mice using bioluminescent in vivo imaging.* Gut Microbes, 2011. **2**(1): p. 34-41.
- 400. Fu, G., et al., *In vivo structure of the E. coli FtsZ-ring revealed by photoactivated localization microscopy (PALM).* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(9): p. e12682.
- 401. Cox, R.S., 3rd, M.J. Dunlop, and M.B. Elowitz, *A synthetic three-color scaffold for monitoring genetic regulation and noise.* J Biol Eng, 2010. **4**: p. 10.
- 402. Lim, H.N., Y. Lee, and R. Hussein, *Fundamental relationship between operon organization and gene expression.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. **108**(26): p. 10626-31.
- 403. Mangan, S. and U. Alon, *Structure and function of the feed-forward loop network motif.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(21): p. 11980-5.
- 404. Balleza, E., et al., *Regulation by transcription factors in bacteria: beyond description.* FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2009. **33**(1): p. 133-51.
- 405. Faria, J.P., et al., *Genome-scale bacterial transcriptional regulatory networks: reconstruction and integrated analysis with metabolic models.* Brief Bioinform, 2014. **15**(4): p. 592-611.
- 406. Herrgard, M.J., M.W. Covert, and B.O. Palsson, *Reconstruction of microbial transcriptional regulatory networks.* Curr Opin Biotechnol, 2004. **15**(1): p. 70-7.
- 407. O'Connell, D., *Bacterial evolution: Unravelling regulatory networks.* Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2006. **4**: p. 492-293.
- 408. Keeney, K.M. and B.B. Finlay, *Enteric pathogen exploitation of the microbiotagenerated nutrient environment of the gut.* Curr Opin Microbiol, 2011. **14**(1): p. 92-8.
- 409. Lewis, S.B., et al., *Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli colonization of human colonic epithelium in vitro and ex vivo.* Infect Immun, 2015. **83**(3): p. 942-9.
- 410. Chong, Y., et al., *Human intestinal tissue tropism in Escherichia coli 0157:H7initial colonization of terminal ileum and Peyer's patches and minimal colonic adhesion ex vivo.* Microbiology, 2007. **153**: p. 794-802.
- 411. Fitzhenry, R.J., et al., *Human intestinal tissue tropism of intimin epsilon 0103 Escherichia coli.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 2003. **218**(2): p. 311-6.
- 412. Wiles, S., et al., Organ specificity, colonization and clearance dynamics in vivo following oral challenges with the murine pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. Cell Microbiol, 2004. **6**(10): p. 963-72.
- 413. Shigeno, T., et al., *The clinical significance of colonoscopy in hemorrhagic colitis due to enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 infection.* Endoscopy, 2002. **34**(4): p. 311-4.
- 414. Bakovic, M., M.D. Fullerton, and V. Michel, *Metabolic and molecular aspects of ethanolamine phospholipid biosynthesis: the role of CTP:phosphoethanolamine cytidylyltransferase (Pcyt2).* Biochem Cell Biol, 2007. **85**(3): p. 283-300.
- 415. Eisenhofer, G., et al., *Substantial production of dopamine in the human gastrointestinal tract.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1997. **82**(11): p. 3864-71.

- 416. Elwan, M.A. and N. Sakuragawa, *Evidence for synthesis and release of catecholamines by human amniotic epithelial cells.* Neuroreport, 1997. **8**(16): p. 3435-8.
- 417. Furness, J.B., *Types of neurons in the enteric nervous sytem.* J. Auton. Nerv. Syst., 2000. **81**: p. 87-96.
- 418. Mellies, J.L., A.M. Barron, and A.M. Carmona, *Enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli virulence gene regulation*. Infect. Immun., 2007. **75**: p. 4199-4210.
- 419. Clements, M., et al., *Virulence gene regulation in Salmonella enterica*. Ann Med, 2001. **33**(3): p. 178-85.
- 420. Balasubramanian, D., et al., *A dynamic and intricate regulatory network determines Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2013. **41**(1): p. 1-20.
- 421. Cotter, P.A. and V.J. DiRita, *Bacterial virulence gene regulation: an evolutionary perspective.* Annu Rev Microbiol, 2000. **54**: p. 519-65.
- 422. Declerck, N., et al., *Structure of PlcR: Insights into virulence regulation and evolution of quorum sensing in Gram-positive bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(47): p. 18490-5.
- 423. Queck, S.Y., et al., *RNAIII-independent target gene control by the agr quorum*sensing system: insight into the evolution of virulence regulation in *Staphylococcus aureus.* Mol Cell, 2008. **32**(1): p. 150-8.
- 424. Tan, A., et al., *Evolutionary adaptation of an AraC-like regulatory protein in Citrobacter rodentium and Escherichia species.* Infect Immun, 2015. **83**(4): p. 1384-95.
- 425. Dunny, G.M., The peptide pheromone-inducible conjugation system of Enterococcus faecalis plasmid pCF10: cell-cell signalling, gene transfer, complexity and evolution. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2007.
 362(1483): p. 1185-93.
- 426. Perez, J.C. and E.A. Groisman, *Transcription factor function and promoter architecture govern the evolution of bacterial regulons.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2009. **106**: p. 4319-4324.
- 427. Rhodius, V.A., et al., *Conserved and variable functions of the sigmaE stress response in related genomes.* PLoS Biol, 2006. **4**(1): p. e2.
- 428. Subashchandrabose, S., et al., *Host-specific induction of Escherichia coli fitness genes during human urinary tract infection.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. **111**(51): p. 18327-32.
- 429. Shimada, T., et al., *The Escherichia coli RutR transcription factor binds at targets within genes as well as intergenic regions.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2008.
 36(12): p. 3950-5.
- 430. Prost, L.R., et al., *The PhoQ histidine kinases of Salmonella and Pseudomonas spp. are structurally and functionally different: evidence that pH and antimicrobial peptide sensing contribute to mammalian pathogenesis.* Mol Microbiol, 2008. **69**(2): p. 503-19.
- 431. Fass, E. and E.A. Groisman, *Control of Salmonella pathogenicity island-2 gene expression.* Curr Opin Microbiol, 2009. **12**(2): p. 199-204.

- 432. Sheikh, J., et al., *EilA, a HilA-like regulator in enteroaggregative Escherichia coli.* Mol Microbiol, 2006. **61**(2): p. 338-50.
- 433. Hartleib, S., et al., *Prevalence of the new, SPI1-like, pathogenicity island ETT2 among Escherichia coli.* Int J Med Microbiol, 2003. **292**(7-8): p. 487-93.
- 434. Schimmer, B., et al., *Outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Norway caused by stx2-positive Escherichia coli 0103:H25 traced to cured mutton sausages.* BMC Infect Dis, 2008. **8**: p. 41.
- 435. Wurpel, D.J., et al., *Chaperone-usher fimbriae of Escherichia coli*. PLoS One, 2013. **8**(1): p. e52835.
- 436. Telford, J.L., et al., *Pili in gram-positive pathogens*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2006.
 4(7): p. 509-19.
- 437. Mol, O. and B. Oudega, *Molecular and structural aspects of fimbriae biosynthesis and assembly in Escherichia coli.* FEMS Microbiol. Rev., 1996. **19**: p. 25-52.
- 438. Klemm, P., et al., *Reciprocal exchange of minor components of type 1 and F1C fimbriae results in hybrid organelles with changed receptor specificities.* J. Bacteriol., 1994. **176**: p. 2227-2234.
- 439. Korth, M.J., J.M. Apostol, Jr., and S.L. Moseley, *Functional expression of heterologous fimbrial subunits mediated by the F41, K88, and CS31A determinants of Escherichia coli.* Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(6): p. 2500-5.
- 440. Jones, C.H., et al., *FimC is a periplasmic PapD-like chaperone that directs assembly of type 1 pili in bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. **90**(18): p. 8397-401.
- 441. Henderson, N.S. and D.G. Thanassi, *Purification of the outer membrane usher protein and periplasmic chaperone-subunit complexes from the P and type 1 pilus systems.* Methods Mol Biol, 2013. **966**: p. 37-52.
- 442. Palomino, C., E. Marin, and L.A. Fernandez, *The fimbrial usher FimD follows the SurA-BamB pathway for its assembly in the outer membrane of Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol, 2011. **193**(19): p. 5222-30.
- 443. Thanassi, D.G. and S.J. Hultgren, Assembly of complex organelles: pilus biogenesis in gram-negative bacteria as a model system. Methods, 2000.
 20(1): p. 111-26.
- 444. Toledo-Arana, A., et al., *The Listeria transcriptional landscape from saprophytism to virulence.* Nature, 2009. **459**(7249): p. 950-6.
- 445. Felden, B., et al., *The Staphylococcus aureus RNome and its commitment to virulence.* PLoS Pathog, 2011. **7**(3): p. e1002006.
- 446. Padalon-Brauch, G., et al., *Small RNAs encoded within genetic islands of Salmonella typhimurium show host-induced expression and role in virulence.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2008. **36**(6): p. 1913-27.
- 447. Ansong, C., et al., *Global systems-level analysis of Hfq and SmpB deletion mutants in Salmonella: implications for virulence and global protein translation.* PLoS One, 2009. **4**(3): p. e4809.
- 448. Roberts, C., et al., *Characterizing the effect of the Staphylococcus aureus virulence factor regulator, SarA, on log-phase mRNA half-lives.* J Bacteriol, 2006. **188**(7): p. 2593-603.

- 449. Papenfort, K., et al., *The ancestral SgrS RNA discriminates horizontally acquired Salmonella mRNAs through a single G-U wobble pair.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. **109**(13): p. E757-64.
- 450. Sonnleitner, E., et al., *The small RNA PhrS stimulates synthesis of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa quinolone signal.* Mol Microbiol, 2011. **80**(4): p. 868-85.
- 451. Wadler, C.S. and C.K. Vanderpool, *A dual function for a bacterial small RNA: SgrS performs base pairing-dependent regulation and encodes a functional polypeptide.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(51): p. 20454-9.
- 452. Boisset, S., et al., *Staphylococcus aureus RNAIII coordinately represses the synthesis of virulence factors and the transcription regulator Rot by an antisense mechanism.* Genes Dev, 2007. **21**(11): p. 1353-66.
- 453. Tree, J.J., et al., *Identification of bacteriophage-encoded anti-sRNAs in pathogenic Escherichia coli.* Mol Cell, 2014. **55**(2): p. 199-213.
- 454. Lalaouna, D., et al., *A 3' external transcribed spacer in a tRNA transcript acts as a sponge for small RNAs to prevent transcriptional noise.* Mol Cell, 2015. **58**(3): p. 393-405.
- 455. Corcoran, C.P., et al., *Use of aptamer tagging to identify in vivo protein binding partners of small regulatory RNAs.* Methods Mol Biol, 2012. **905**: p. 177-200.
- 456. Said, N., et al., *In vivo expression and purification of aptamer-tagged small RNA regulators.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2009. **37**(20): p. e133.
- 457. Nikaido, H., *Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited.* Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 2003. **67**(4): p. 593-656.
- 458. Banack, T., et al., *Overexpression of the Hda DnaA-related protein in Escherichia coli inhibits multiplication, affects membrane permeability, and induces the SOS response.* J Bacteriol, 2005. **187**(24): p. 8507-10.
- 459. Molloy, M.P., et al., *Proteomic analysis of the Escherichia coli outer membrane.* Eur J Biochem, 2000. **267**(10): p. 2871-81.
- 460. Hirota, Y., et al., On the process of cellular division in Escherichia coli: a mutant of *E. coli lacking a murein-lipoprotein.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1977. **74**(4): p. 1417-20.
- 461. Cascales, E., et al., *Pal lipoprotein of Escherichia coli plays a major role in outer membrane integrity.* J Bacteriol, 2002. **184**(3): p. 754-9.
- 462. Lloubes, R., et al., *The Tol-Pal proteins of the Escherichia coli cell envelope: an energized system required for outer membrane integrity?* Res Microbiol, 2001. **152**(6): p. 523-9.
- 463. Cascales, E., R. Lloubes, and J.N. Sturgis, *The TolQ-TolR proteins energize TolA and share homologies with the flagellar motor proteins MotA-MotB.* Mol Microbiol, 2001. **42**(3): p. 795-807.
- 464. Prince, S.M., M. Achtman, and J.P. Derrick, *Crystal structure of the OpcA integral membrane adhesin from Neisseria meningitidis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. **99**(6): p. 3417-21.
- 465. Koudelka, A.P., L.A. Hufnagel, and G.B. Koudelka, *Purification and characterization of the repressor of the shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophage 933W: DNA binding, gene regulation, and autocleavage.* J Bacteriol, 2004. 186(22): p. 7659-69.

- 466. Sutterlin, H.A., S. Zhang, and T.J. Silhavy, *Accumulation of phosphatidic acid increases vancomycin resistance in Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol, 2014. **196**(18): p. 3214-20.
- 467. Levine, M.M., et al., *Escherichia coli strains that cause diarrhoea but do not produce heat-labile or teat-stable enterotoxins and are non-invasive.* Lancet, 1978. i: p. 1119-1122.